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ProQuest Company  2004 Financial Highlights(1)(2)

(1) References to certain ProQuest Company fi nancial results in the above Financial Highlights table and in this report are different than those reported in the 
company’s SEC fi lings, which were prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Reconciliations of these amounts to the company’s 
GAAP fi nancial results are on page 75 of this report. 
(2) Amounts have been adjusted to exclude results from discontinued operations and a gain on sale of discontinued operations. See “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP 
Measures”. 
(3) EBIT is defi ned as earnings from continuing operations before interest and income taxes. See “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures”.  
(4) EBITDA is defi ned as EBIT plus depreciation and amortization. See “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures”.    

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
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ProQuest Company is an 

exciting, dynamic organization. 

This year, our annual report is 
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and delivered via the web. 
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Dear Shareholders, Associates and Customers: 

2004 was a very productive year for 

ProQuest Company. During the year our net 

earnings increased 13 percent to $52.7 million 

on revenue growth of 3 percent, and we 

converted 80 percent of our net earnings into 

$41.9 million of free cash fl ow. 

ProQuest Company has entered 2005 

with accelerating momentum. We’re enjoying 

revenue growth, exciting new product 

introductions, and a robust new K–12 platform. 

We expect to deliver consistent increases in 

revenue, earnings and cash fl ow through our 

growth platforms. These are:  

• Innovative K–12 classroom solutions, 

•  Digital published products for the 
higher education market, 

• Digital archival news products, and 

•  Information solutions for the 
automotive market. 

Going into 2005, we’re operating from a 

position of fi nancial strength and fl exibility. 

This is evident in maximized profi t and 

cash from our mature product lines, and 

conversion of a greater percentage of our 

earnings into free cash fl ow. 

We’ve made demonstrable progress on 

our growth platforms and these fi nancial 

initiatives. 

PROQUEST COMPANY GROWTH PLATFORMS 

Innovative K–12 Classroom Solutions

The market for K–12 classroom solutions is 

large and growing as educators look 

for unique solutions with proven results. 

Financing this movement is the new 

funding available from federal, state, local, 

and international sources. Most states are 

reporting greater-than-projected revenue 

improvement, and funding for K–12 education 

is a high priority, representing more than 

one-third of average state general funds 

spending. Let’s look at how ProQuest has 

targeted this burgeoning market. 

The transformational acquisition of Voyager 

Expanded Learning, completed early in 

2005, was an important milestone in our K–12 

strategy. It represents for us a K–12 platform 

with signifi cant scale. Voyager’s programs in 

core reading instruction, reading intervention, 

and teacher professional development have 

produced proven results for major school 

districts throughout the United States. 

Reading curriculum and intervention are two 

of the quickly growing segments in the K–12 

market. Voyager’s solutions have substantial 

growth potential, and provide ProQuest with 

access to signifi cant new revenue streams. 

We plan to further develop our offerings by:

•  Expanding the reading intervention 
program through the eighth grade,

• Introducing math intervention,

•  Expanding VoyagerU teacher 
professional development, and

•  Integrating ProQuest’s proprietary 
content into Voyager programs.

Another of ProQuest’s new and innovative 

products for the K–12 market is ProQuest 

Historical Newspapers Graphical Edition, 

which delivers key national newspapers 

starting with their fi rst editions, through an 

interface designed specifi cally for students. 

It includes editorial content aligned to 

common K–12 classroom and homework 

activities. This product grew quickly after it 

was introduced in 2004 and has built an 

enthusiastic base of subscribers. We’ve 

incorporated features which help students 

to learn through exploration and discovery. 
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One of these is an interactive timeline that 

enlivens the classroom experience by taking 

students directly to our historical content and 

teaching them when historical events 

occurred in relation to one another. 

Also targeted at the K–12 market are products 

from Reading A–Z and ExploreLearning which 

offer web-delivered learning solutions. 

Reading A–Z offers proprietary downloadable, 

interactive books indexed to students’ 

reading levels. The books are combined 

with lesson plans, supplemental classroom 

activities and online support to provide 

a comprehensive solution for teachers 

and tutors. ExploreLearning offers a 

comprehensive catalog of online, interactive 

mathematics and science simulations. 

These dynamic visual models are a proven 

and powerful enhancement to the ways 

teachers teach and students learn. The 

simulations follow state and national 

curriculum standards and are fl exible 

enough to support many different teaching 

styles and contexts. 

Digital Published Products 

for the Higher Education Market 

Digital published products, which include 

ProQuest Historical Newspapers and our 

Chadwyck-Healey humanities products, 

represented 26 percent of Information and 

Learning’s revenue in 2001. By 2004 digital 

published products made up 41 percent of 

Information and Learning’s revenue on a 

larger base, representing a compound annual 

growth rate of about 20 percent! Revenue 

from published products grew more than 25 

percent in 2004 alone. These products are 

proprietary and have the value-added features 

and functionality that customers demand. 

They are also growing rapidly, helping to 

offset declines in revenue from traditional 

microfi lm products. 

We use the rich historical content in our vast 

microfi lm vault for a pipeline of digital 

products. The Gerritsen Collection — Women’s 

History Online is just one of the Digital Vault 

products that performed well in 2004. This 

database is the defi nitive cross-cultural 

resource for information on women’s history. 

It spans more than four centuries, 15 

languages and two million pages. 

Scholars and researchers value The Gerritsen 

Collection as it provides immediate access to 

material previously available only in a limited 

number of rare book rooms around the world.

Content is critical, and we continued to build 

our holdings in 2004 with the addition of the 

Nineteenth Century Short Title Catalog. This 

index of nearly all printed materials published 

in the United States and the British Empire 

during the nineteenth century will become the 

base for derivative digital products. As an 

example, we’re planning to release the 

complete nineteenth century British House of 

Commons Parliamentary Papers later in 2005. 

Digital Archival News Products 

ProQuest Historical Newspapers set the 

precedent for digital archival news products. 

It began with six top-tier U.S. newspapers — 

The New York Times, Wall Street Journal, The 

Washington Post, The Christian Science 

Monitor, Los Angeles Times, and Chicago 

Tribune — digitized cover-to-cover, beginning 

with their fi rst issues. We’re now adding 

regional newspapers, including the Atlanta 

Journal-Constitution and Boston Globe archives. 

This product, with its combination of unique 

content and features not available anywhere 

else, is the basis of a rapidly growing family of 

subscription products. It also represents an 

archive of primary source content that we are 

repurposing into a collection of revolutionary 

educational products, such as ProQuest 

Historical Newspapers Graphical Edition. 

Information Solutions 

for the Automotive Market 

The solutions we publish for the automotive 

market continue to generate solid growth. 

Our automotive performance management 

products, which enable automotive original 

equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and dealers 

to monitor and evaluate fi nancial and 

standards compliance metrics, are growing at 
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double-digit rates. We expect continued 

expansion as more customers experience the 

value of these must-have analytics. As for our 

parts and service products, renewal rates 

remain high. We increased our client base 

further when Toyota Motor Corporation 

Australia signed as a new customer early in 

2005. To concentrate our resources on 

publishing these electronic solutions, we sold 

our powersports dealer management system 

software business during 2004.

We broadened our portfolio of automotive 

market solutions with the acquisition of 

Syncata Corporation in early 2005. Syncata’s 

solutions help automotive OEMs and dealers 

with sales, service and parts, demand 

analytics, and fi nancing. 

FINANCIAL STRENGTH AND FLEXIBILITY

We’re investing in our product growth 

platforms from a position of fi nancial strength 

and fl exibility. 

We’ve improved our fi nancial strength by 

maximizing the profi t and cash fl ow from our 

mature product lines, such as our traditional 

microfi lm products. This includes creating 

new digital products from our fi lm archive and 

sunsetting products that are not sustainable. 

We’ve also made excellent progress in 

converting more of our earnings into cash. 

When we became ProQuest Company in 2001, 

we had $26.0 million of negative free cash 

fl ow. In 2004, we generated $41.9 million in 

free cash fl ow, converting 80 percent of our 

net earnings into cash. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

ProQuest Company is fi rmly committed to 

sound principles of corporate governance. We 

implemented a state-of-the-art whistleblower 

system in 2004. In addition, we were pleased 

that while the Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 

certifi cation process identifi ed areas for 

improvement in our internal control 

processes, no material weaknesses were 

identifi ed. We’re committed to continuous 

improvement and maintaining the highest 

level of integrity in our fi nancial reporting. 

The composition of the ProQuest Company 

Board of Directors underwent some changes 

over the past year. On behalf of the entire 

company, I would like to extend heartfelt 

thanks to Bill White and David Bonderman, 

who retired from our board after 14 and 17 

respective years of service to ProQuest 

Company and its predecessor, Bell & Howell 

Company.  Two new directors joined us in 2004: 

Michael S. Geltzeiler, senior vice president and 

chief fi nancial offi cer of The Reader’s Digest 

Association, Inc. and Frederick J. Schwab, 

former president and chief executive offi cer 

of Porsche Cars North America. Early in 2005 

we authorized an increase in the number of 

directors from nine to ten and Randy Best, 

the co-founder of Voyager Learning, joined 

the board.  

If at any time you have questions 

about ProQuest Company’s corporate 

governance, you can fi nd comprehensive 

information under the Investor Relations 

link at www.proquestcompany.com. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2005 

We’re moving through 2005 with great energy 

and drive. For the year, we expect: 

•    Revenue in a range of $590 million to 
$610 million, 

•    Earnings of $2.20 to $2.40 per share, and 

•    Conversion of 85 to 100 percent of net 
earnings into free cash fl ow. 

I encourage you to refer to our 2004 Annual 

Report on the web at www.proquestcompany.

com. This new, multimedia online report offers 

great depth and detail. It will also bring you 

updates on our progress throughout the year. 

Our company has an exciting, bright 

future ahead. 

Sincerely, 

Alan Aldworth 

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Offi cer 

April 14, 2005 

We are a 
publisher that 
does more 
than simply 
deliver 
content. Our 
products are 
solutions for 
our customers. 
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GLOSSARY

ABI/Inform Abstracted Business Information —
      PQIL’s premier business 

information database
AMT Alternative Minimum Tax
APB Accounting Principles Board  — 
    The predecessor to the FASB.
APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to
     Employees”
APSP Automotive Parts and Service
     Products
ASPP Associate Stock Purchase Plan
Bigchalk Bigchalk, Inc.
CCP2 Courier Custom Publishing
Credit Agreement Revolving Credit Agreement
DMS Dealer Management System
eDn Electronic Distribution Networks
EEBO Early English Books Online
EITF Emerging Issues Task Force —  
      A task force developed to assist 

the FASB in improving fi nancial 
reporting.

EITF 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with 
     Multiple Deliverables”
EPC Electronic Parts Catalog
FASB Financial Accounting Standards
      Board — The designated 

organization in the private sec-
tor for establishing standards of 
fi nancial accounting and reporting.

FIFO First-in, fi rst-out
FIN 46  FASB Interpretation No. 46 —
      “Consolidation of Variable Interest   

Entities”
FIN 46-R  FASB Interpretation No. 46 —
     Revised
K-12 Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade
LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rates
Locks Treasury Rate Locks
MCW MotorcycleWorld.com, Inc.
Micromedia Micromedia Ltd.
MMT Mail and Messaging Technologies
MSN Microsoft Network
NRP Norman Ross Publishing
OEC OEConnection
OEM Original Equipment Manufacturer
Option Plan 2003 ProQuest Strategic 
     Performance Plan
PQBS ProQuest Business Solutions
PQIL ProQuest Information and Learning
PSP Parts and Service Products
SAB Staff Accounting Bulletin — Staff 
      Accounting Bulletins refl ect 

the Securities and Exchange 
Commission staff’s views regard-
ing accounting-related disclosure 
practices.

SAB No. 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial 
     Statements”
SAB No. 104 “Revenue Recognition”
SEC Securities and Exchange 
     Commission
SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting
      Standards — A statement 

promulgated by the FASB that 
sets forth the actual standards, 
the effective date, method of 
transition and the information 
regarding technical fi nancial 
accounting and reporting issues.

SFAS No. 86 “Accounting for Costs of Computer
      Software to be Sold, Leased or

Otherwise Marketed”
SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock Based
     Compensation”
SFAS No. 123R “Share-Based Payment”— a revision
     to SFAS No. 123 
SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about Segments of an
      Enterprise and Related 

Information”
SFAS No. 132 “Employers’ Disclosures about 
      Pensions and Other 

Postretirement Benefi ts”— an 
amendment to FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, and 106

SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative 
     Instruments and Hedging 
     Activities”
SFAS No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative
      Instruments and Certain Hedging 

Activities”— an amendment to 
SFAS No. 133

SFAS No. 141 “Business Combinations”
SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
     Assets”
SFAS No. 151 “Inventory Costs” — an amendment
     to ARB No. 43, Chapter 4
SIRS SIRS Publishing, Inc.
SOP Statement of Position  — issued by 
      the American Institute of Certifi ed 

Public Accountants
SOP 97-2 “Software Revenue Recognition”
SOP 98-1 “Accounting for the Costs of 
      Computer Software Developed or 

Obtained for Internal Use”
U.S. United States
U.K. United Kingdom
URL Uniform Resource Locator (internet
     address)



PART I. PROQUEST COMPANY

Item 1. Business

ProQuest Company is a leading publisher of solutions for 
the education, automotive and power equipment markets. 
We have more than 50 years of experience in information, 
content development, and aggregation. Our predecessor 
company, Bell & Howell Company, was known for cre-
ative, technology-based solutions. It was incorporated in 
Delaware in 1907. In 2001, we sold our legacy Imaging, 
Mail and Messaging Technologies and fi nance-related busi-
nesses and changed our name to ProQuest Company.

We provide products and services to our customers through 
two business segments: ProQuest Information and Learning 
and ProQuest Business Solutions. Financial information 
for each of our business segments and operations by geo-
graphic area is contained in Note 2 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements which is incorporated herein by refer-
ence. An overview of our two business segments follows. 

PROQUEST INFORMATION AND LEARNING

Overview — PQIL

We are a leading provider of content to schools, academic 
institutions, and public libraries worldwide. Our products are 
found in over 8,000 university and college libraries world-
wide and in many cases the content cannot be obtained 
from any other source besides the original publisher. 
Our business is based upon long-term relationships with 
our content suppliers, some of which span more than 50 
years. These relationships enable us to develop our unique 
information capabilities and have resulted in high market 
penetration of our products in the markets that we serve. 
PQIL has licensing arrangements with over 9,000 publishers 
such as The New York Times, The Washington Post, U.S. 
News & World Report, Wall Street Journal, Chicago Tribune, 
Los Angeles Times, The Economist, Time Inc., University of 
California Press, Fairfax Publishing, and McGraw Hill. We 
have written agreements with substantially all of our content 
suppliers. More recently, we have been able to successfully 
extend many of our relationships to include various forms 
of electronic media, despite strong competition from other 
providers. We have leveraged many relationships to enter 
into unique or preferred content arrangements. For exam-
ple, our agreement with The New York Times Company 
provides that we are the exclusive distributor in the educa-
tion market for Digital Vault page images of The New York 
Times in electronic form. Our relationship with John Wiley 
& Sons has given us content that is not available in other 
aggregated databases.

Through our own distinct methods, we convert information 
to microfi lm and electronic form and add value to this infor-

mation through our professionally prepared proprietary 
abstracts and indices. The result is an expansive informa-
tion vault that includes content from over 18,000 periodical 
titles and 7,000 newspaper titles, as well as a unique content 
collection consisting of approximately two million disserta-
tions, 150,000 out-of-print books, 550 research collections, 
and over 15 million proprietary abstracts. 

Along with this expansive information vault, we provide pro-
prietary tools that assist the user in fi nding the right content. 
Our ProQuest interface assists users in the navigation of our 
databases and obtaining productive results by incorporat-
ing features such as contextual help, simple search-building 
tips, intuitive icons, and dropdown menus.

Our information vault covers all major areas of study includ-
ing business, humanities, social science, math and science, 
medical/health, ethnic and diversity studies, genealogy, 
psychology, biology, and current events. Our content is 
primarily in English, but we also have content in 40 other 
languages including German, Latin, Portuguese, Italian, 
French, and Spanish.

PQIL primarily serves the education market. Our products 
are present in most academic research libraries around 
the world. Our library customers generally sign a one-year 
subscription contract to access our proprietary database or 
receive microform updates. In 2004, PQIL generated 41.4% 
of sales from published products, 22.4% of sales from gen-
eral reference products, 31.5% of sales from traditional 
products, and 4.7% of sales from classroom products. Over 
the last three years, we have experienced renewal rates 
of approximately 85% to 90%. In 2004, PQIL represented 
approximately 63% of our total sales.

Product Review — PQIL

PUBLISHED PRODUCTS 

Topic specifi c products. We provide users with compre-
hensive databases in our fl agship areas of business and 
economics and the arts and humanities.

Our premier business product is ABI/Inform. This was our 
fi rst published product and it continues to be a leading 
resource for universities around the world with full text cov-
erage of more than 1,800 of the world’s business journals. 
The rich indexing and proprietary article abstracts created 
by PQIL have led to this product’s installation in 45 of the 
top 50 business schools in the U.S. as well as 30 of the top 
46 business schools in Asia and 23 of the top 42 business 
schools in Europe.

In the arts and humanities, our Chadwyck-Healey products 
have particular strengths in language and literature, history, 
music, performing arts and fi lm, and news and reference, 
pertaining to the U.S., the U.K., the European Union, and 
Asia.
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Publications range from databases of medieval texts in Latin 
and Greek to up-to-the-minute reference resources such as 
KnowUK, an online reference service on the people, places, 
and institutions that make up life in the U.K.

Other humanities titles include services such as Literature 
Online and History Online, both of which deliver a combina-
tion of primary works and extensive contextual support.

Digital Vault Initiative. In an initiative started in 1998, we 
selected portions of our microfi lm collection to digitize and 
created products such as EEBO, Historical Newspapers, and 
Digital Sanborn Maps. 

EEBO is a digital compilation of the majority of the content 
existing in the English language developed from 1475-1700, 
which comprises more than 125,000 works.

Historical Newspapers, one of the largest product devel-
opment efforts in our history, is an initiative which began 
in 2000 to digitize several of the nation’s leading newspa-
pers including The New York Times, The Christian Science 
Monitor, The Washington Post, Wall Street Journal, Chicago 
Tribune, and Los Angeles Times from their fi rst issues to the 
late 20th Century. To date, we have digitized and released 
The New York Times, Wall Street Journal, The Washington 
Post, and The Christian Science Monitor as well as a part of 
the Los Angeles Times. We have already sold approximately 
2,000 subscriptions for these products.

Digital Sanborn Maps provide electronic maps that contain 
detailed property and land-use records that depict such 
information as building outline, size and shape, construction 
materials, height, windows and doors, and house numbers 
in more than 12,000 U.S. towns and cities from 1867-1970.

Digital Vault Initiative products also include digital compila-
tions of the Gerritsen Collection of Women’s History and the 
American Periodicals Series, which features content from 
over 1,000 magazine and other periodical titles from 1741-
1900.

SIRS Products. SIRS Products include SIRS Discoverer®, 
SIRS Interactive Citizenship®, and SIRS Researcher®. SIRS 
Discoverer includes full-text articles and images from over 
1,600 domestic and international newspapers, magazines, 
and government documents for students in grades 1 to 
9. SIRS Interactive Citizenship is an online program that 
helps users learn about every facet of government and the 
philosophies and concepts underlying world affairs and 
economics. SIRS Researcher is a highly-acclaimed age appro-
priate general reference database containing full-text articles 
exploring social, scientifi c, health, historic, business, eco-
nomic, political, and global issues.

Digital Dissertations. PQIL is the recognized publisher and 
repository for dissertations and master’s theses. ProQuest 

Digital Dissertations provides electronic access to over 
455,000 titles from our vast collection.

Serials Solutions. Our products provide e-journal manage-
ment and access solutions for academic, public, government, 
and corporate libraries around the world. These tools 
provide customers with accurate, complete, and current 
information about their e-journal holdings, along with the 
means to easily link to full-text content. Our products are in 
1,300 libraries worldwide.

GENERAL REFERENCE PRODUCTS 

Higher Education. Introduced in 1995, ProQuest online 
products allow users to search and fi nd useful information 
from more than 6,000 periodicals, newspapers and other 
resources originating after 1985. Our products help librar-
ians build information bridges that enable users to quickly 
locate resources appropriate to their needs. These products 
combine easy-to-use search menus, current information 
content in a variety of formats, convenient delivery options, 
and support. We provide the tools to effi ciently create pre-
defi ned searches, electronic reserve rooms for multiple 
simultaneous users, digital magazine racks, reading rooms, 
and table-of-content services. The quality indexing we create 
ensures unparalleled accuracy and specifi city, which allows 
the users’ searches to be more successful. All online text 
is customizable and allows easy integration with our cus-
tomers’ other information holdings. Our proprietary engine 
helps librarians by providing easy-to-use templates, copy-
and-paste technology and step-by-step help. Librarians can 
link selected ProQuest online content to their online cata-
logs, library websites and other web-based resources. 

K–12. K–12 products include eLibrary®, Bigchalk LibraryTM 

and Bigchalk MultimediaTM, which are general reference 
products for the K–12 market segment and include full-
text articles, maps, pictures, web links and audio and video 
clips.

Reseller. PQIL provides electronic content to premier infor-
mation companies such as Factiva and LexisNexis, which 
resell the content to corporate desktop customers. Under 
written agreements with these companies, we generally 
receive revenue based on the amount of ProQuest content 
accessed by their customers.

TRADITIONAL PRODUCTS

Microfi lm Products. We sell microform newspaper and peri-
odical subscriptions, microform newspaper and periodical 
backfi les, out-of-print books, phonefi che, and scholarly 
research collections. Today, our microform vault is one of 
the largest commercial archives in the world. Newspapers, 
magazines and journals are marketed as complete micro-
fi lm sets of both publishers and authors. In addition, we 
create abstracts and indices of business, general interest 
and science and humanities articles. There has been less 
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demand for these products as electronic products become 
more popular. Despite the growth of electronic products, we 
believe that there is still demand for our microfi lm prod-
ucts because microfi lm products may be the only source 
of out-of-print information, are a less expensive alternative 
for storing content and are considered a more permanent 
archival medium than online access.

Paper Products. Copies of our dissertations and many of 
the newspaper and dissertation indices sold through our 
microfi lm products are available in paper format. We also 
offer over 150,000 out-of-print books in paper format on a 
print-on-demand basis. Copies of the more than two million 
doctoral dissertations in our archive are the most common 
product delivered in paper format. PQIL is the recognized 
repository for dissertations and master’s theses and the 
designated digital archive for the Library of Congress, hav-
ing begun publishing titles in 1938. We provide worldwide 
access to two million citations, of which more than 1.7 mil-
lion are available in full text. ProQuest publishes over 55,000 
new titles each year from over 700 institutions.

CLASSROOM PRODUCTS

Our classroom products include custom online and print 
course materials and textbook supplements as well as more 
comprehensive study aids. These products are in more than 
1,100 universities throughout the U.S. 

XanEdu®. XanEdu products further leverage our content 
through the development of supplemental curriculum mate-
rials for the college classroom. XanEdu products provide 
premium online content targeted directly at students and 
faculty of higher education institutions. XanEdu products 
have been adopted in over 1,100 of the 4,000 educational 
institutions in the U.S. Nearly 14,000 coursepack titles were 
produced during 2004.

Our XanEdu coursepack products include customizable 
products and textbook supplements from our vast archive 
of copyright-cleared content. Our copyright clearance ser-
vices offer a streamlined solution for clearing content not 
currently found in our vast archive of XanEdu products. 
We offer instructors a turnkey solution to building XanEdu 
coursepacks, with the ultimate choice of distribution either 
online, in print, or a combination of the two. We have rela-
tionships with major textbook publishers, Pearson and John 
Wiley & Sons, to create online supplemental materials that 
expand and enrich the publisher’s textbook. 

PROQUEST BUSINESS SOLUTIONS  

Overview — PQBS 

PQBS is the global leader in the development and deploy-
ment of parts and service information products and dealer 
performance applications for the automotive market. We 
pioneered the EPC in 1985. In the years since then, we 

have added features and functions to the EPC such that our 
product is no longer merely just an EPC. Our APSP offer 
information on more automobile brands than similar prod-
ucts from any other provider, and provide a powerful and 
fl exible technical reference system using CD-ROM and web-
based technology. Over 31,000 automobile dealerships now 
use our APSP worldwide. We currently publish APSP for 
approximately 32 automobile brands manufactured by 
General Motors, Ford Motor Company, DaimlerChrysler, 
Honda/Acura, Toyota/Lexus, Hyundai, Kia, Isuzu, Lotus, 
Mazda, Mercedes-Benz, Nissan, Saturn, Subaru, Suzuki, 
and Volvo, among others. Our continued ability to access 
data from these OEMs is required for us to continue to pub-
lish these products. Our customers typically sign two- to 
fi ve-year contracts.

We also provide automobile OEMs and their dealerships 
with management information systems that monitor and 
evaluate dealer performance in areas such as product inven-
tory, pricing, territory, margins and OEM support. 

In addition to the Automotive market we provide PSP to 
the Power Equipment and Powersports markets, including 
brands manufactured by John Deere, Stihl, Alamo, Ingersoll 
Rand, Tecumseh, Yamaha, Kawasaki, and Honda, among 
others.

We have various fl exible business arrangements to suit 
the requirements of our customers. For example, we have 
exclusive provider arrangements with certain OEMs and for 
other OEMs we provide individual contracts to their fran-
chised dealerships.

PQBS sells primarily to the automotive and power equip-
ment markets. In 2004, PQBS generated 94.5% of sales from 
automotive products, 4.8% of sales from power equipment 
— electronic products, and 0.7% of sales from other prod-
ucts. In 2004, PQBS represented approximately 37% of our 
total sales.

Product Review — PQBS

AUTOMOTIVE PRODUCTS

Automotive Parts and Service Products. For over 20 years, 
we have been developing customized market-leading APSP 
solutions for the automotive dealer. We create and market 
turnkey solutions in 17 languages that allow automotive 
dealerships to electronically access manufacturers’ pro-
prietary technical documentation (such as parts catalogs, 
parts and service bulletins and other reference materials) 
and to interface with other important information systems 
(such as inventory management and billing) within the 
dealership. These applications help dealers improve busi-
ness processes by transforming complex technical data into 
answers. Everyday, manufacturers of 32 automobile brands 
and over 31,000 automotive dealerships worldwide utilize 
our products.
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Performance Management Products. We offer management 
information systems to both OEMs and their dealerships in 
the automotive industry. We collect, manage, and publish 
statistics on dealer performance such as product inven-
tory, pricing, territory, margins, and OEM support and use 
this content to produce our performance management 
products. These products monitor and evaluate a dealer’s 
performance against the dealer’s historical operations as 
well as the dealer market in general and run diagnostics of 
essential dealer metrics to identify underperforming areas 
of a dealer’s business. Other products help develop hypo-
thetical and actual business plans and projections for a 
dealer based on current conditions in the dealer market. We 
provide performance management products for more than 
33 brands for approximately 28,000 dealers worldwide.

POWER EQUIPMENT PRODUCTS

Power Equipment Products. Our power equipment unit pro-
vides PSP to motorcycle, marine, recreational vehicle, lawn 
& garden and heavy equipment OEMs and their dealers. 
These systems include parts and service information includ-
ing ordering and warranty applications. We also design, 
develop, and distribute software systems that automate 
product, e-commerce, and corporate support functions 
between manufacturers, distributors, dealers, and their cus-
tomers in the power equipment market. 

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE

OEConnection. OEC is a joint venture among PQBS, General 
Motors, Ford Motor Company, and DaimlerChrysler. OEC 
extends the established EPC business by providing dealers 
and their wholesale customers a comprehensive, secure e-
commerce portal. OEC has established and maintains this 
portal with the primary objective of facilitating the sale of 
original equipment automotive parts delivered through the 
franchised automotive dealership channel. OEC’s current 
product offerings include “D2DLink” which is an advanced 
parts locator system and “CollisionLink”, which allows the 
dealer to extend sales to their wholesale customers, primar-
ily collision shops. Eventually, OEC expects to expand its 
customer base to include dealers, collision shops, installers, 
and fl eet facilities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Research and Development. We continually seek to take 
advantage of new product and technology opportunities and 
view product development to be essential to maintaining 
and growing our market position. We have approximately 
175 people at PQIL and approximately 100 people at PQBS 
on our research and development and software engineering 
staffs. Our research and development expenditures include 
expenses primarily for database development and informa-
tion delivery systems and is primarily company sponsored.

Sales & Marketing. PQIL and PQBS employ separate sales 
forces both domestically and internationally. Our pub-
lished products, general reference products and traditional 

products are generally sold directly to libraries. Classroom 
products are marketed to higher education institutions and 
professors to encourage the use of XanEdu coursepacks in 
the classroom curricula but are sold to students via book-
stores and online. 

Within our PQIL North American sales force, we have dedi-
cated sales representatives for each major product type: 
traditional (14 salespeople), published and general refer-
ence (39 salespeople), classroom (18 salespeople) and K-12 
(30 salespeople) for a total of 101 salespeople. Outside of 
the U.S. and Canada, we use a direct international sales 
force comprised of 55 sales representatives who sell the 
full portfolio of products to markets across the globe. We 
augment this direct sales force with third party international 
distributors. We use a variety of approaches to market our 
products, including trade shows, direct mailings, product 
brochures, and online product trials.

Within our PQBS sales force, we sell automotive and power 
equipment products both domestically and internationally 
through an internal sales force of 76 salespeople. We mar-
ket our products and services to two targeted groups: OEMs 
and individual dealership locations. To effectively reach 
the large OEMs, such as General Motors, DaimlerChrysler, 
Ford Motor Company, and Toyota, we have strategically 
deployed a team of business development professionals in 
the world’s principal automotive centers in the U.S., U.K., 
Germany, and Japan. In the U.S. and Canada, automo-
tive and power equipment products and services are sold 
directly to individual dealerships using an experienced 
sales force (40 salespeople). We also utilize Reynolds and 
Reynolds as a distributor to supplement the efforts of our 
direct sales force. 

Proprietary Rights

We regard certain of our technologies and content as pro-
prietary and rely primarily on a combination of patent, 
copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, and employee 
non-disclosure agreements to protect our rights. There can 
be no assurance that the steps we have taken will be ade-
quate to protect our rights. Although we do not believe that 
we have infringed on the proprietary rights of third parties, 
there is no assurance that a third party will not make a con-
trary claim. The cost of responding to such an assertion may 
be material, whether or not the assertion is valid.

We also license from third parties certain technology upon 
which we rely to deliver our products and services to our 
customers. This technology may not continue to be avail-
able to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. 
Moreover, we may face claims from persons who claim that 
their licensed technologies infringe upon or violate those 
persons’ proprietary rights. These types of claims, regard-
less of the outcome, may be costly to defend and may divert 
our management’s efforts and resources.
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We obtain most of the information and content used in our 
products from license agreements with third parties. These 
licenses are generally limited in scope and are nonexclusive. 
If these licenses are not renewed or are renewed on terms 
adverse to us, our business could be materially adversely 
affected. Licenses for content used in our PQIL segment 
generally have automatic renewal terms unless terminated 
by us or the third party publishers. At PQIL, we have written 
agreements with substantially all of our content suppliers. 
In addition, we have been able to successfully extend many 
of our relationships to include various forms of electronic 
media, despite strong competition from other providers 
of electronic media. For example, our agreement with The 
New York Times Company provides that we are the exclu-
sive distributor in the education market for Digital Vault 
page images of The New York Times in electronic form. Our 
licenses with automotive and power equipment manufac-
turers that are used in our PQBS segment generally have 
a term of up to fi ve years with automatic renewal terms 
ranging from one to three years. Generally, the licensors 
also have agreed to provide content so that we can satisfy 
customer agreements that extend beyond the term of the 
license agreement. These licenses allow us to use the con-
tent in many media formats including electronic, microform 
or paper.

ProQuest®, XanEdu®, SIRS Discoverer®, SIRS Interactive 
Citizenship®, SIRS Researcher®, eLibrary®, Bigchalk 
LibraryTM, Bigchalk MultimediaTM, and ProQuest EConnectTM 
are our trademarks. Each trademark, trade name, or service 
mark of any other company appearing in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K belongs to its holder.

Seasonality

Our quarterly operating results fl uctuate due to a number 
of factors including the sales cycle, the amount and timing 
of new products, and our spending patterns. In addition, 
our customers experience cyclical funding issues that can 
impact our revenue patterns. Historically, we have experi-
enced our lowest net sales, earnings and cash fl ow in the 
fi rst fi scal quarter with our highest net sales and earnings in 
the fourth fi scal quarter. Due to this seasonality, we maintain 
a Credit Agreement to fund interim cash requirements. See 
Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements which is 
incorporated herein by reference. 

Competition

The market for our products and services is highly competi-
tive. In our PQIL segment, our main competitors are Gale 
Group, a division of Thomson Corporation, and EBSCO 
Publishing, a division of EBSCO Industries. For distribution 
of dissertations, we compete with universities. PQIL compet-
itors also include free Internet sites such as Google, Yahoo!, 
and MSN, newspaper and book publishers, educational 
software publishers, and electronic commerce providers. 

Furthermore, our print classroom products compete with 
small print shops. Barriers to entering the education market, 
especially the online component, are relatively low, and we 
expect competition in this market to intensify. 

In our PQBS segment, we compete with Universal Computer 
Systems Inc., Lexcom GmbH, Infomedia Ltd., Enigma, and 
the proprietary electronic parts systems of certain OEMs 
such as DaimlerChrysler and Honda Motor Company.

Many of our current and potential future competitors may 
have substantially greater fi nancial resources, name rec-
ognition, experience, and larger customer bases than we 
do. Accordingly, our competitors may be able to respond 
more quickly to new technologies and changes in customer 
requirements, have more favorable access to suppliers and 
devote greater resources to the development and sale of 
their products. Any of the above results could adversely 
affect our ability to attract and retain customers and harm 
our business. 

Government Regulations

We are subject to various federal, state, local, and foreign 
environmental laws and regulations limiting the discharge, 
storage, handling, and disposal of a variety of substances. 
Our operations are also governed by laws and regulations 
relating to equal employment opportunity, workplace safety, 
and worker health, including the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act and regulations hereunder. We believe that we 
are in compliance in all material respects with applicable 
laws and regulations and that future compliance will not 
have a material adverse effect upon our consolidated opera-
tions or fi nancial condition.

Due to the increasing usage of the Internet, federal and 
state governments may adopt laws or regulations regard-
ing commercial online services, the Internet, user privacy, 
intellectual property rights, content regulation, and taxa-
tion. Laws and regulations directly applicable to online 
commerce or Internet communications are becoming more 
prevalent and could expose us to substantial liability. For 
example, certain U.S. laws, such as the federal Digital 
Millennium Copyright Act and various federal laws aimed at 
protecting children and limiting the content made available 
to them could expose us to substantial liability. Furthermore, 
various proposals at the federal, state, and local level could 
impose additional taxes on Internet sales. These laws, regu-
lations, and proposals could decrease Internet commerce 
and other Internet uses and adversely affect the success of 
our online products.

Concentration Risk

We are not dependent upon any one customer or a few cus-
tomers, the loss of which would have a material adverse 
effect on our business. In fi scal 2004, no single customer 
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represented more than 5% of our consolidated net sales. 
Our top fi ve customers accounted for approximately 12% of 
consolidated net sales in fi scal 2004. 

Employees 

Our future success is substantially dependent on the perfor-
mance of our management team and our ability to attract 
and retain qualifi ed technical and managerial personnel.  

As of January 1, 2005, we had the following number of 
employees, broken out by segment:  

 Employees

PQIL  1,616 
PQBS  755 
Corporate  43 

Total  2,414  

None of our employees are represented by collective bar-
gaining agreements.  

Website Access to Company Reports

We make available free of charge through our website, 
www.proquestcompany.com, our Annual Report on Form 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on 
Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon 
as reasonably practical after such material is electronically 
fi led with the SEC. 

We are providing the address to our website solely for the 
information of our investors. Our website and the infor-
mation contained therein or incorporated therein are not 
intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for all of our employees in 
fi nance, including our Chief Financial Offi cer as well as our 
Chief Executive Offi cer. We adopted this code to promote 
such standards as (1) honest and ethical conduct; (2) full, 
fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in our 
periodic reports; and (3) compliance with applicable gov-
ernmental rules and regulations.  

Also, in January 2004, we implemented a whistleblower 
reporting tool, as required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, by engaging a third-party service that provides anon-
ymous reporting for serious workplace ethical issues via 
phone and/or the Internet. Further information will be set 
forth in the Company’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy 
Statement (under the caption “Corporate Governance”).

Item 2.  Properties

Our principal executive and administrative offi ce is located 
in Ann Arbor, Michigan. The following table provides cer-
tain summary information in square feet with respect to the 
facilities that we own or lease in connection with our busi-
nesses:

 PQIL PQBS Corporate Total

Owned  159,000   90,944   12,000   261,944 
Leased  376,430   168,242  –   544,672 

Total  535,430   259,186   12,000   806,616 

All of the facilities that we own are in the U.S. We lease 
facilities primarily in the U.S., Canada, and the U.K. We 
believe that the termination of any one of the leases, some 
of which are long-term, would not signifi cantly affect our 
operations. 

We believe the buildings, machinery and equipment used in 
our operations (whether owned or leased) generally to be in 
good condition and adequate for our current needs and that 
additional space will be available as needed.

Late in 2004, we entered into a lease agreement for new 
facilities for Corporate and ProQuest Information and 
Learning in Ann Arbor, Michigan. We expect to occupy 
approximately 28,000 square feet starting in 2005 and an 
additional 110,000 square feet starting in 2006. We antici-
pate that we will vacate an equivalent amount of square 
footage of currently occupied space as part of our move to 
these new facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings incidental to 
our business. Management believes that the outcome of 
such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect 
upon our consolidated operations or fi nancial condition.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a 
Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of Shareholders dur-
ing the fourth quarter of our fi scal year ended January 1, 
2005.
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The business experience and certain other information 
relating to each of our directors and executive offi cers are 
set forth below:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Alan W. Aldworth was appointed Chairman of the Board of 
Directors in May 2004. Mr. Aldworth has been President and 
Chief Executive Offi cer since January 2003. In January 2002, 
Mr. Aldworth was elected as President and Chief Operating 
Offi cer and has been a Director since May 2001. Mr. Aldworth 
joined ProQuest as Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer 
in October 2000. Prior to joining ProQuest, he spent 18 
years at Tribune Company where he held a variety of senior 
fi nancial management and general management positions, 
the most recent of which was as the General Manager of 
Tribune Education Company. Mr. Aldworth is also a director 
of Arbitron.

Randy Best was appointed to the Board of Directors of 
ProQuest Company in March 2005. Mr. Best also serves as 
a consultant to ProQuest Company. He is the co-founder, 
former Chairman, and Chief Executive Offi cer of Voyager 
Expanded Learning. Voyager developed the nation’s fi rst 
patented comprehensive reading system and was acquired 
by ProQuest Company in January 2005. Mr. Best is the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer of GlobalEd Holdings, 
Ltd. Mr. Best is an advisory board member for the Education 
Commission of the States, and a member of the National 
Education Association Foundation Board, the College of 
Education Foundation Advisory Council for the University 
of Texas at Austin, and the National Urban Alliance Board 

for Columbia University. Previously, he served on the 
White House Millennium Committee and The Foundation 
Leadership Network. 

David G. Brown was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in January 1994 and is Chairman of the Nominating and 
Governance Committee. He has been the Managing Partner 
of Oak Hill Venture Partners since August 1999 and a 
Principal in Arbor Investors LLC since August 1995, Chief 
Financial Offi cer of Keystone, Inc. from September 1998 to 
February 2000, and a Vice President of Keystone, Inc. since 
August 1993. Prior to joining Keystone, Mr. Brown was a Vice 
President in the Corporate Finance Department of Salomon 
Brothers Inc. from August 1985 to July 1993. He is a Director 
of eGain Communications, Perfect Commerce, Lattice 
Communications, MarketTools, and WOW Networks.

Michael S. Geltzeiler was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in September 2004 and serves on the Audit Committee. 
He is Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer of 
The Reader’s Digest Association, Inc., a position he has 
held since 2001. Prior to joining The Reader’s Digest, Mr. 
Geltzeiler, a certifi ed public accountant, was with ACNielsen 
and Dun & Bradstreet (now known as D&B). Mr. Geltzeiler 
is also a member of the Board of Directors for the Madison 
Square Boys and Girls Club and the Westchester County 
Association.

Todd S. Nelson was appointed to the Board of Directors in 
January 2004. He has been Chief Executive Offi cer of Apollo 
Group, Inc. since August 2001 and President since February 
1998. Mr. Nelson joined Apollo Group in 1987 as Director 

Directors and Executive Offi cers

The following table provides information about our directors and executive offi cers as of March 11, 2005:

Name Age Position at the Company

Board of Directors

Alan W. Aldworth 50 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Offi cer
Randy Best 62 Director
David G. Brown 48 Director
Michael S. Geltzeiler 46 Director
Todd S. Nelson 45 Director
William E. Oberndorf 51 Director
Linda G. Roberts 63 Director
James P. Roemer 57 Director
Gary L. Roubos 68 Director
Frederick J. Schwab 65 Director

Executive Committee (led by Alan Aldworth)

Kevin G. Gregory 41 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offi cer
Todd W. Buchardt 45 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Linda Longo-Kazanova 52 Senior Vice President, Human Resources
Bruce E. Rhoades 56 Senior Vice President, Strategy and Technology
Andrew H. Wyszkowski 51 President, ProQuest Business Solutions
Ronald Klausner 51 President, ProQuest Information and Learning
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of University of Phoenix’s Utah campus, became Executive 
Vice President of the University of Phoenix in 1989, and 
became Vice President of Apollo Group, Inc. in 1994. Mr. 
Nelson is also a Director of Apollo Group, Inc. Prior to join-
ing Apollo Group, he was General Manager at Amembal 
and Isom, a management training company.

William E. Oberndorf was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in July 1988. He is Chairman of the Compensation Committee 
in addition to serving on the Nominating and Governance 
Committee. Mr. Oberndorf has served as Managing Director 
of SPO Partners & Co. since March 1991. He is a Director 
for Rosewood Hotels and Resorts and Director Emeritus 
of Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc. 

Linda G. Roberts was appointed to the Board of Directors in 
January 2004. Since leaving government in 2001, Dr. Roberts 
has served as advisor, consultant, and board director in 
various organizations, including state and local govern-
ments, foundations, non-profi t organizations, corporations, 
and start-up companies. Prior to that, Dr. Roberts directed 
the U.S. Department of Education’s Offi ce of Educational 
Technology from its inception in 1993 to 2001, and served as 
the Secretary of Education’s Special Advisor on Technology. 
From 1984 to 1993, she led the research on educational 
technology at the Congressional Offi ce of Technology 
Assessment. Dr. Roberts also served as an advisor to the 
Children’s Television Workshop during the development of 
“Sesame Street” and “The Electric Company.” Dr. Roberts 
is a Senior Advisor to Carnegie Learning, Inc., Classroom 
Connect, Apple Computer, and several leading technol-
ogy companies. Dr. Roberts is also a Director of Wireless 
Generation and Carnegie Learning, Inc. 

James P. Roemer was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in February 1995. He served as Chairman of the Board from 
January 1998 until May 2004, as President of the Company 
(formerly Bell & Howell Company) from 1995 to 2001 and 
as Chief Executive Offi cer from 1997 until 2003. From 1995 
to 1997, he also served as Chief Operating Offi cer of the 
Company. Prior to that, he served as President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of ProQuest Information and Learning 
Company from 1994 to 1995. Mr. Roemer joined Bell & 
Howell Company (now ProQuest Company) as President and 
Chief Operating Offi cer of Bell & Howell Publishing Services 
business (now ProQuest Business Solutions) in 1991. He 
was promoted to President and Chief Executive Offi cer of 
that business in 1993. Prior to joining ProQuest, Mr. Roemer 
was President of the Michie Group, Mead Data Central from 
1989 to 1991. From 1982 to 1989 he was Vice President and 
General Manager of Lexis. From 1981 to 1982, he served as 
acting President of Mead Data Central. Mr. Roemer is also a 
director of Advent Software. 

Gary L. Roubos was appointed to the Board of Directors in 
February 1994. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee in 

addition to serving on the Compensation Committee and 
the Nominating and Governance Committee. Mr. Roubos 
was Chairman of the Board of Dover Corporation from 1989 
to 1998 and was President from 1977 to 1993. He is also a 
Director of Dover Corporation and Omnicom Group, Inc. 

Frederick J. Schwab was appointed to the Board of Directors 
in September 2004. He was President and CEO of Porsche 
Cars North America (PCNA) from 1992 to 2003. He joined 
PCNA in 1985 as Executive Vice President of Finance & 
Administration and was appointed Senior Vice President in 
1988. Prior to joining PCNA, Mr. Schwab, a certifi ed pub-
lic accountant, was with Fruehauf Corp. and Touche Ross 
& Company. Currently, Mr. Schwab serves on the Board of 
Michigan State University’s Eli Broad College of Business, 
the National Board of Directors of the Hope Foundation, the 
Board of Trustees at the Atlanta International School, and 
the Board of Governors at the Ravinia Club. He also serves 
as a Director to Indus, International Inc. and Boyd Gaming 
Corporation. 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

(LED BY ALAN ALDWORTH)

Kevin G. Gregory has been Senior Vice President since 
November 2002 and has been Vice President and Chief 
Financial Offi cer since April 2002. From February 2001 to 
April 2002, he served as Vice President, Controller, and 
Treasurer, and from August 1996 to February 2001, he served 
as Tax Counsel and Vice President —Tax. Prior to joining us, 
he was Senior Manager at Ernst & Young LLP, and prior to 
that spent seven years at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Todd W. Buchardt has been Senior Vice President since 
November 2002, Vice President in March 2000, and General 
Counsel in April 1998 and in September 1998 was elected to 
the additional offi ce of Secretary. Prior to joining us, he held 
various legal positions with First Data Corporation from 
1986 to 1998.

Linda Longo-Kazanova has been Senior Vice President, 
Human Resources & Business Optimization since November 
2002 and has been Vice President, Human Resources since 
May 2000. Prior to joining us, she was Senior Vice President, 
Human Resources-North America, for Information 
Resources, Inc. from 1995 to 2000. From 1985 to 1995, she 
held various human resource positions with Kraft Foods, 
Inc. 

Bruce E. Rhoades has been Senior Vice President, Strategy 
& Technology since April 2003. He was President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of ProQuest Business Solutions from 
January 2001 to April 2003. He joined us in 1999 and has 
managed several of our business units. Prior to joining 
us, he was Chief Executive Offi cer of a consulting practice 
specializing in business and product strategy formulation, 



16    PROQUEST COMPANY 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

software and information product development, and stra-
tegic alliances and acquisitions from 1995 to 1999. Prior to 
that, he held a number of executive positions at LexisNexis 
Group from 1979 to 1995, and held various positions at ADP 
Network Services from 1975 to 1979.

Andrew H. Wyszkowski has been President of ProQuest 
Business Solutions since April 2003 and prior to that was 
the Vice President and Chief Operating Offi cer of ProQuest 
Business Solutions since October 2002. He joined Business 
Solutions as Chief Technology Offi cer in January 2001. 
From May 2002 to February 2003 he also served as Senior 
Vice President and General Manager of ProQuest Media 
Solutions. From 1999 to 2000 he held various positions at 

the West Group, a legal publisher. Prior to that, he held vari-
ous positions at Brief Reporter LLC, The Michie Company, 
Incon Associates, Inc. and BRS. 

Ronald Klausner has been President of ProQuest Information 
and Learning since April 2003. He came to ProQuest from 
D&B (formerly known as Dun & Bradstreet), a global busi-
ness information and technology solutions provider, where 
he worked for 27 years. He most recently served as the com-
pany’s Senior Vice President, U.S. Sales, leading a segment 
with more than $900 million in revenue. Previously, he led 
global data and operations, and customer service, provid-
ing business-to-business, credit, marketing and purchasing 
information in over 200 countries.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder 
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Plan Category

Number of securities to be 
issued upon exercise of out-
standing options and rights.

Weighted average exercise 
price of outstanding options 

and rights

Numbers of securities remaining 
available for future insurance under 

equity compensation plans (a)

Equity compensation 
plans approved by 
security holders

4,129  $ 28.63 449

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
security holders

 —  —  —

Total 4,129  $ 28.63 449

(a) Excludes securities refl ected in the fi rst column, “Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options and rights”.

October 3, 2004 - November 6, 2004 (1)  36,000     $  26.03   36,000  — 
October 3, 2004 - November 6, 2004 (2)  14,300     $  26.27   14,300   $ 39.6 million 
November 7, 2004 - December 4, 2004 (2)  20,000     $  26.56   20,000   $ 39.1 million 
December 5, 2004 - January 1, 2005 (2)  —     $  —  —   $ 39.1 million 

   70,300     $ 26.23   70,300  

Period

(a) Total 
number 
of shares 
purchased

(b) Average 
price paid 
per share

(c) Total number 
of shares 
purchased as part 
of publicly 
announced plans 
or programs

(d) Maximum number 
(or approximate dollar 
value) of shares (or 
units) that may yet be 
purchased under the 
plans or programs

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “PQE”. 

As of March 1, 2005, there were 195 holders of record of our common stock.

The high and low closing prices of our common stock were as follows:

The following table presents a summary of share repurchases made during the quarter ended January 1, 2005:

(1) In July 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan, in conjunction with our acquisition of Serials Solutions, to buy back up to 105,000 shares of ProQuest 
stock. During the fourth quarter of fi scal 2004, we repurchased the remaining 36,000 shares for $937 thousand under this announced plan.

(2) In September 2004, the Board of Directors approved an additional authorization to acquire up to $40 million of ProQuest stock. We expect the repurchases 
will be made using our cash resources. This authorization is valid through September 2007. During the fourth quarter of fi scal 2004, we repurchased 34,300 
shares for $907 thousand.

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends to our shareholders. We have no plans to declare or pay cash dividends in 
the near future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans at January 1, 2005 are as follows:

 2004 2003

Fiscal Quarter    High    Low High Low

First  $ 32.39   $ 28.48   $ 21.30   $ 14.82
Second  31.73   25.12   28.00   19.86
Third  27.00   24.17   30.58   23.69
Fourth  32.11   24.74   31.40   26.30 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated fi nancial and operating data have been derived from our audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of the end of and for each of the fi scal years in the fi ve-year period ended January 1, 2005. You should read 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere herein. Our historical fi nancial data may not be indicative of 
our future performance.
 FISCAL

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Continuing Operations Data(1)(2):         
Net sales $  462,814  $   451,015  $   412,826  $ 386,049  $ 360,776 
Cost of sales   (230,315)   (221,960)   (196,584)   (180,943)   (184,097)

Gross profi t   232,499   229,055    216,242    205,106    176,679 

Research and development expense   (16,603)   (18,367)   (20,945)   (19,504)   (17,456)
Selling and administrative expense   (120,592)   (122,251)   (110,011)   (119,501)   (119,095)
Other income   —   775    —    —    — 
Gain/(loss) on sales of assets   900    —    —    (2,312)   2,726 
Restructuring charge  —    —    —    —    (5,196)

Earnings from continuing operations before
interest, income taxes, equity in loss of 
affi liate and cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle   96,204    89,212    85,286    63,789    37,658 

Net interest expense   (16,435)   (17,139)   (28,922)   (24,674)   (27,567)
Income tax expense   (27,039)   (25,363)   (16,449)   (14,864)   (4,036)
Equity in loss of affi liate   —    —    —    (13,374)   (20,848)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle (2) $ 52,730  $ 46,710  $ 39,915  $ 10,877  $ (14,793)

Diluted earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle,
per common share (2) $ 1.83  $ 1.64  $ 1.50  $ 0.45  $ (0.63)

Other Continuing Operations Data:
Gross profi t as a percent of net sales 50.2% 50.8% 52.4% 53.1% 49.0%
Expenditures for property, plant, equipment, 

product masters and software $ 66,774  $ 70,819  $ 80,795  $ 70,866  $ 60,791 

Cash fl ow provided by (used in):         
Operating activities   107,816    121,078    71,026    47,193    57,466 
Investing activities   (62,355)   (126,601)   (106,735)   187,336    (67,885)
Financing activities   (45,510)   7,575    39,024    (252,155)   (14,236) 

 AT THE END OF FISCAL

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $  4,313   $ 4,023   $  1,782   $ 495   $ 5,626 
Total assets   752,929    724,036    631,517    606,367    801,602 
Long-term debt, less current maturities   150,000    191,000    187,000    252,782   501,821 

Total shareholders’ equity (defi cit)   269,721    187,400    129,756    (45,072)  (69,659) 

Footnotes to the Selected Financial Data:
(1) In June 2004, we sold our DMS business, which was a component of PQBS. In fi scal 2001, we completed the divestiture of our Imaging, Mail and Messaging 
Technologies, and fi nance-related businesses. Accordingly, the operating results of these businesses have been segregated from our continuing operations, and 
are separately reported as discontinued operations in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Excludes cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of a net charge of $65.3 million taken in fi scal 2000 related to a change in the method of revenue 
recognition pursuant to SAB 101.  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operation

This section should be read in conjunction with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of ProQuest Company 
and Subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”), and the 
notes thereto included in this Annual Report for the year 
ended January 1, 2005.

Safe Harbor for Forward-looking Statements. Except for the 
historical information and discussions contained herein, 
statements contained in this document may constitute “for-
ward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements 
involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other fac-
tors, which could cause actual results to differ materially. 
In some cases, you can identify forward-looking state-
ments by terminology such as “may”, “should”, “expects”, 
“plans”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “predicts”, 
“potential”, “continue”, “projects”, “intends”, “prospects”, 
“priorities”, or the negative of such terms or similar termi-
nology. These factors may cause our actual results to differ 
from any forward-looking statements. We undertake no 
obligation to update any of our forward-looking statements. 
In addition to risk factors otherwise set forth in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the Company’s forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

Our sales and profi tability depend on our ability to continue 

to develop new products that appeal to customers and end 

users. 

We compete in markets characterized by continual techno-
logical change, product introductions and enhancements, 
changes in customer demands and evolving industry stan-
dards. The technological life cycles of our products are 
diffi cult to estimate. The demand for some of our more 
mature products and services has begun to migrate to 
other products and services. For example, demand for our 
microform-based products has decreased due to the devel-
opment of electronic-based products. We may be unable to 
develop products that offset the declining revenues of our 
mature products. To remain competitive, we must continue 
to develop new products and invest in technologies that 
help customers use our products and services, enhance the 
quality of images being transmitted, increase delivery of our 
products over the Internet and other electronic media, and 
reduce the time in which such products are transmitted. 

Our products and services currently depend on data access 

agreements with third parties, and the failure to maintain 

these agreements on commercially reasonable terms could 

harm our business. 

Our products are in part based on content supplied pursuant 
to data access agreements with third parties. We may not 
be able to maintain our current agreements at cost-effective 
prices. In addition, data used in our products might become 
unavailable or not be updated as required. If a signifi cant 
number of our content providers decide to terminate their 
relationships with us, we may: 

•  be at a competitive disadvantage with respect to our 
competitors; 

•  lose customers that rely on us as a single source of 
resources;

•  lose revenue generated from particular clients; and

•  incur charges related to early contract terminations.

Moreover, the content supplied by many of our licensors, 
such as The New York Times Company and automotive 
manufacturers, is unique, and cannot be replaced. The fail-
ure to acquire alternative data access sources could harm 
our business. Even if we are able to substitute content pro-
viders, we may not be able to enter into alternative data 
access agreements on commercially reasonable terms or 
on a timely basis. Any of these results could harm our busi-
ness. 
 
Changes in funding for public schools and libraries could 

cause the demand for our products to decrease. 
 
We derive a signifi cant portion of our revenues from pub-
lic schools and libraries, which are heavily dependent on 
federal, state, and local government funding. In addition, 
the government appropriations process is often slow, 
unpredictable and subject to factors outside of our con-
trol. Curtailments, delays, or reductions in the funding of 
schools, colleges, or libraries could delay or reduce our 
revenues. Funding diffi culties experienced by schools, col-
leges, or libraries could also cause those institutions to be 
more resistant to price increases and could slow invest-
ments in educational technology and products, which could 
harm our business. 
 
We face intense competition and may not be able to suc-

cessfully attract and retain customers. 

The market for our products and services is highly competi-
tive. In our PQIL segment, our main competitors are Gale 
Group, a division of Thomson Corporation, and EBSCO 
Publishing, a division of EBSCO Industries. For distribution 
of dissertations, we compete with universities. PQIL compet-
itors also include free Internet sites such as Google, Yahoo!, 
and MSN, newspaper and book publishers, software pub-
lishers, and electronic commerce providers. Furthermore, 
our print classroom products compete with small print 
shops. Barriers to entering the education market, especially 
the online component, are relatively low, and we expect 
competition in this market to intensify. 



In our PQBS segment, we compete with Universal Computer 
Systems Inc., Lexcom GmbH, Infomedia Ltd., Enigma, and 
the proprietary electronic parts systems of certain OEMs 
such as DaimlerChrysler and Honda Motor Company.

Many of our current and potential future competitors may 
have substantially greater fi nancial resources, name rec-
ognition, experience, and larger customer bases than we 
do. Accordingly, our competitors may be able to respond 
more quickly to new technologies and changes in customer 
requirements, have more favorable access to suppliers and 
devote greater resources to the development and sale of 
their products. Any of the above results could adversely 
affect our ability to attract and retain customers and harm 
our business. 
 
Our products depend on components licensed from third 

parties, and the failure to maintain these licenses, or the 

failure of these third parties to improve and maintain these 

components, could harm our ability to produce and develop 

products. 

 
Our products incorporate third-party technologies. For 
example, many of our products and services rely on data-
bases from providers such as Oracle. We may be unable 
to obtain all of the necessary licenses for the third-party 
technology required by our products on commercially 
reasonable terms, on a timely basis, or at all. In addition, 
technology used in our products might become unavailable 
or not be updated as required. 
 
Our intellectual property protection may be inadequate, 

allowing others to use our technologies and thereby reduce 

our ability to compete. 

 
We regard certain of the technology underlying our ser-
vices and products as proprietary, such as our search and 
retrieval and database management features. The steps 
that we take to protect our proprietary technology may be 
inadequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology, 
or to prevent third parties from developing similar technol-
ogy independently. We rely on a combination of trademark, 
copyright and trade secret laws, employee and third-party 
nondisclosure agreements and other contracts to establish 
and protect our technology and other intellectual property 
rights. 
 
Our products could infringe on the intellectual property of 

others, which may cause us to engage in costly litigation 

and could cause us to pay substantial damages and pro-

hibit us from selling our products. 

 
Third parties may assert infringement or other intellectual 
property claims against us based on their intellectual prop-
erty rights. If such claims are successful, we may have to 
pay substantial damages, possibly including treble dam-
ages, for past infringement. We might also be prohibited 
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from selling our products or providing certain content with-
out fi rst obtaining a license from the third party, which, if 
available at all, may require us to pay additional royalties. 
Authors and photographers have been successful in assert-
ing their rights to receive royalty payments and to control 
the reproduction of their works into electronic format. 
These authors and photographers could elect to withdraw 
their works from our electronic product offerings. Even if 
infringement claims against us are without merit, defend-
ing a lawsuit takes signifi cant time, may be expensive, and 
may divert management attention from other business con-
cerns. 
 
A component of our growth strategy is to expand our 

international operations. We may not succeed with this 

strategy. 

 
Engaging in business internationally subjects us to a number 
of risks, such as acceptance by foreign educational systems 
of our approach to educational products, expenses associ-
ated with customizing products for foreign countries, longer 
accounts receivable collection periods and greater diffi culty 
in collection, unexpected changes in regulatory and legal 
requirements, potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs 
and other trade barriers, diffi culties in staffi ng and managing 
foreign operations, changing economic conditions, expo-
sure to different legal standards (particularly with respect to 
intellectual property), burdens of complying with a variety 
of foreign laws and fl uctuations in currency exchange rates. 
If any of these risks were to materialize, our business could 
be harmed. 
 
We have entered into strategic alliances and acquisitions 

and may pursue others that could disrupt our operations or 

fail to result in the benefi ts that we anticipated. 

 
We may continue to make strategic acquisitions of com-
panies, products, or technologies or enter into strategic 
alliances as necessary to implement our business strategy. 
If we are unable to fully integrate acquired businesses, 
products, or technologies with our operations, we may not 
receive the intended benefi ts of these acquisitions. In addi-
tion, the acquisitions or joint ventures may subject us to 
unanticipated risks or liabilities or disrupt our operations 
and divert management’s attention from day-to-day opera-
tions.

Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain key 

personnel, and our key personnel, especially those hold-

ing multiple positions, may not be able to fulfi ll their roles 

effectively if we become understaffed. 

 
Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain 
highly qualifi ed management and technical personnel. 
Members of our senior management team bring substan-
tial industry and management experience to our planning 
and execution. If they or other key employees were to leave 
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us, and we were unable to fi nd a qualifi ed replacement, our 
business could be harmed. 

We could experience system failures, software errors or 

capacity constraints, any of which would cause interrup-

tions in our delivery of electronic content to customers and 

ultimately may cause us to lose customers. 

 
Any delays or failures in the systems or errors in the software 
that we use to deliver our electronic content to customers 
would harm our business. We have occasionally suffered 
failures of the computer and telecommunication systems 
that we use to deliver our electronic content to customers. 
The growth of our customer base, as well as the number of 
sites we provide, may strain our systems in the future. The 
systems we currently use to deliver our services to custom-
ers (except for external telecommunications systems) are 
located in our facilities in Michigan and Ohio. Although we 
maintain property insurance, claims for any system failure 
could exceed our coverage. In addition, our products could 
be affected by failures of third-party technology used in our 
products, and we could have no control over remedying 
these failures. Any failures or problems with our systems or 
software could force us to incur signifi cant costs to remedy 
the failure or problem, decrease customer demand for our 
products, tarnish our reputation and thus harm our busi-
ness. 
 
Our systems face security risks, and our customers have 

concerns about their privacy. 

 
Our systems and websites may be vulnerable to unau-
thorized access by hackers, computer viruses and other 
disruptive problems. Any security breaches or problems 
could lead to misappropriation of our customers’ informa-
tion, our websites, our intellectual property and other rights, 
as well as disruption in the use of our systems and web-
sites. Unauthorized access to, as well as denial of, various 
Internet, and online services has occurred, and will likely 
occur again. Any security breach related to our websites 
could tarnish our reputation and expose us to damages and 
litigation. We may also incur signifi cant costs to maintain 
our security precautions or to correct problems caused by 
security breaches. Further, to maintain these security mea-
sures, we will be required to monitor our customers’ access 
to our websites which may cause disruption to our custom-
ers’ use of our systems and websites. These disruptions and 
interruptions could harm our business. 

The occurrence of a fi re, fl ood, or other form of natural 

disaster at certain of our locations would adversely impact 

our business. 

 
Copies of our microfi lm collections are stored at some of 
our locations. If a fi re, fl ood, or similar event were to occur 
at any of these locations and destroy those collections, our 
business would be signifi cantly harmed. 

We have $155.0 million of total indebtedness, which could 

hurt our ability to borrow and utilize cash fl ow as necessary 

and restrict our operations. Our debt increased signifi cantly 

in January 2005 (See Note 23 — Subsequent Events to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements). 

 
The degree to which we are leveraged could have important 
consequences, including the following: 

•  our ability to borrow may be limited and additional 
amounts for working capital and capital expenditures may 
not be available; and

•  a substantial portion of our cash fl ows must be used to pay 
our interest expense and repay our debt, which reduces 
the funds that would otherwise be available for our opera-
tions or product development.

In addition, our senior credit facility contains numerous cov-
enants imposing fi nancial and operating restrictions on our 
business. These restrictions may affect our ability to oper-
ate our business and may limit our ability to take advantage 
of potential business opportunities as they arise. Our ability 
to satisfy the fi nancial ratios and tests and other provisions 
contained in our senior credit facility could be affected by 
changes in economic or business conditions or other events 
beyond our control. Any failure to comply with the obliga-
tions in our senior credit facility could result in an event of 
default under this facility, which, if not cured or waived, 
could permit acceleration of our indebtedness and have a 
material adverse effect on us. 
 
Unless we maintain a strong brand identity, our business 

may not grow as anticipated. 

 
We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brands is 
important to attracting and retaining customers. Our suc-
cess in growing brand awareness will depend in part on our 
ability to continually provide information access technology 
that enhances the learning process. There are other entities 
using the name ProQuest. Some of these entities may offer 
goods and services similar to those offered by us, which 
may diminish the value of our brand. In addition, some of 
our brand names are new or have changed, and we may 
not have any success in maintaining and growing our brand 
equity. 
 
Our operating results continue to fl uctuate, and a revenue 

or earnings shortfall in a particular quarter could have a 

negative impact on the price of our common stock. 

 
Variations in our operating results occur from time to time 
as a result of many factors, such as the timing and amount 
of customers’ expenditures, our product mix, new product 
introductions, and general economic conditions. Our sales 
cycles are relatively long and depend on factors such as the 
size of customer orders and the terms of subscription agree-
ments. Consequently, it is diffi cult to predict if and when we 
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will receive a customer order. Because a high percentage 
of our expenses are fi xed, the timing of customer orders 
can cause variations in quarterly operating results. Certain 
customers’ buying patterns and funding availability gener-
ally cause our sales and cash fl ow to be higher in the fourth 
quarter of the year. As a result of the diffi culty in forecasting 
our quarterly revenues, our operating results for a quarter 
may fall below securities analysts’ expectations, which may 
cause the price of our common stock to fall abruptly and 
signifi cantly. 
 
Our stock price may be volatile, and your investment in our 

stock could decline in value. 

 
Our common stock price has fl uctuated signifi cantly in the 
recent past. In addition, market prices for securities of com-
panies in our industries have been highly volatile and may 
continue to be highly volatile in the future. Often the volatil-
ity in our common stock price is unrelated to our operating 
performance. As a result of these fl uctuations in the price of 
our common stock, you may not be able to sell your com-
mon stock at or above the price you pay for it. 
 
You should carefully consider the previous factors in addi-
tion to the other information contained and incorporated by 
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before making 
an investment decision with respect to our common stock. 
This list of factors may affect future performance and the 
accuracy of forward-looking statements is illustrative, but 
by no means exhaustive. You should read the following dis-
cussion in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and 
our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto 
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Organization of Information

Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides a narra-
tive on the Company’s fi nancial performance and condition 
that should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
fi nancial statements. It includes the following sections:

• Overview

• Critical Accounting Policies

• Results of Operations

• Fiscal Year 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year 2003

• Fiscal Year 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year 2002

• International Operations

• Liquidity and Capital Resources

• Financial Condition

• Capital Expenditures and Outlook

• Commitments and Contractual Obligations

• Seasonality

• Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards

Overview

We are a leading publisher of solutions for the education, 
automotive and power equipment markets. We have more 
than 50 years of experience in information, content develop-
ment, and aggregation. We provide products and services 
to our customers through two business segments: PQIL and 
PQBS. Through our PQIL segment, which primarily serves 
the education market, we collect, organize, and publish con-
tent from a wide range of sources including newspapers, 
periodicals, and books. Our PQBS segment is primarily 
engaged in the delivery in electronic form of comprehen-
sive parts and service information for the automotive and 
outdoor power market (motorcycle, marine, recreational 
vehicle, lawn & garden and heavy equipment) and business 
performance products and services for the automotive mar-
ket. 

Financial information for each of our business segments 
and operations by geographic area is contained in Note 2 
to our Consolidated Financial Statements which is incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

We believe that the following items are essential to our con-
tinued success:

•  Relationships with Publishers and OEMs — PQIL has 
licensing arrangements with over 9,000 publishers such 
as The New York Times, The Washington Post, U.S. News 
& World Report, Wall Street Journal, Chicago Tribune, 
Los Angeles Times, The Economist, Time Inc., University 
of California Press, Fairfax Publishing, and McGraw Hill. 
Many of our publisher relationships began prior to the 
advent of electronic databases. More recently, we have 
been able to successfully extend many of our relation-
ships to include various forms of electronic media, despite 
strong competition from other providers. We have lever-
aged many relationships to enter into unique or preferred 
content supply arrangements. For example, our agreement 
with The New York Times Company provides that we are 
the exclusive distributor in the education market for page 
images of The New York Times in electronic form. Our 
relationship with John Wiley & Sons has given us content 
that is not available in other aggregated databases. PQBS 
publishes APSP for approximately 32 automobile brands 
manufactured by General Motors, Ford Motor Company, 
DaimlerChrysler, Honda/Acura, Toyota/Lexus, Hyundai, 
Kia, Isuzu, Lotus, Mazda, Mercedes-Benz, Nissan, Saturn, 
Subaru, Suzuki, and Volvo, among others. 

•  Content — PQIL’s expansive information vault includes 
content from over 18,000 periodical titles and 7,000 
newspaper titles, as well as a unique content collection 
consisting of approximately two million dissertations, 
150,000 out-of-print books, 550 research collections, and 
over 15 million proprietary abstracts. Our information 
vault covers all major areas of study including business, 
humanities, social science, math and science, medical/
health, ethnic and diversity studies, genealogy, psychol-
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ogy, biology, and current events. Our content is primarily 
in English, but we also have content in 40 other languages 
including German, Latin, Portuguese, Italian, French, and 
Spanish.

•  Proprietary Products — Along with PQIL’s expansive infor-
mation vault, we provide proprietary tools that assist the 
user in fi nding the right content. Our ProQuest interface 
assists users in the navigation of our databases and obtain-
ing productive results by incorporating features such as 
context-sensitive help, simple search-building tips, intui-
tive icons and dropdown menus. PQBS pioneered the EPC 
in 1985. In the years since then, we have added features 
and functions to the EPC such that our product is no longer 
merely just an EPC. Our APSP offer information on more 
automobile brands than similar products from any other 
provider, and provide a powerful and fl exible technical ref-
erence system using CD-ROM and web-based technology. 
Over 31,000 automobile dealerships now use our APSP 
worldwide. 

•  Experience — Some of our publisher relationships span 
more than 50 years. These relationships enable us to 
develop our unique information capabilities and have 
resulted in the high market penetration of our products in 
the markets that we serve. Our original EPC products have 
been around for over 20 years.

•  Recurring revenue — Many of PQIL’s Published Products, 
General Reference Products, and Traditional Products are 
sold on twelve-month subscriptions. Also, PQBS’s APSP 
and PSP are sold on long-term contracts typically span-
ning 24 to 60 months. These subscriptions and contracts 
allow us to accurately forecast approximately 80% of our 
annual revenue. 

Net Sales. We derive revenue from licenses of database con-
tent (electronic products), sales of microfi lm subscriptions, 
microfi lm backfi le sales, paper products, service, software, 
equipment, and product royalties. See “Critical Accounting 
Policies” for further discussion.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales consists of product and service 
costs. Product costs include production costs, depreciation 
of electronic and microfi lm product masters, amortization of 
capitalized software costs, royalties for the use of content, 
Internet hosting costs, and technical support costs. Service 
costs consist primarily of installation and training costs, 
including personnel, materials, facilities, and travel costs. 
These costs of sales are generally recognized as incurred, 
except for amortization-related expenses associated with 
capitalized product master costs development and internal 
use software costs. See the discussion below in “Critical 
Accounting Policies - Capitalization and Depreciation”.

Research and Development Expense. Our research and 
development expenditures include expenses primarily for 
database development and information delivery systems. 
We expense all software development costs associated with 
products until technological feasibility is established.  

Selling and Administrative Expense. Our selling expenses 
primarily consist of salaries and compensation paid to 
employees engaged in sales and marketing activities, adver-
tising, and promotional materials, public relations costs 
and travel. Administrative expenses principally consist of 
salaries and compensation paid to our executives and other 
corporate employees as well as incidental costs incurred in 
managing our business.

Discontinued Operations. We sold our Dealer Management 
System business, which was a component of PQBS, in fi s-
cal 2004. Accordingly, the operating results of this business 
have been segregated from our continuing operations and 
are separately reported as discontinued operations in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the U.S., which require management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, 
liabilities, revenue, and expenses and related disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities. 

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates includ-
ing those related to accounting for revenue recognition, 
royalties, impairment of product masters and goodwill, capi-
talization and depreciation, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
income taxes, and other contingencies. We base our esti-
mates on historical experience and other assumptions we 
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the result 
of which form the basis for making judgments about the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities that may not be read-
ily available from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates, which could have a material impact 
on our fi nancial statements. Our signifi cant accounting poli-
cies are described in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Net Sales. We derive revenue from licenses of database 
content, sales of microfi lm subscriptions, microfi lm backfi le 
sales, paper products, service, software, equipment, and 
product royalties. Services consist of training and installa-
tion with respect to our PSP and performance management 
products. Revenues from services accounted for less than 
10% of our revenues for 2004, 2003, and 2002. 

PUBLISHED PRODUCTS

PQIL’s published products provide users with access to our 
comprehensive databases, including Historical Newspapers, 
EEBO, e-dissertations, and topic specifi c products on either 
a subscription basis that normally covers twelve months, or 
a perpetual license. PQIL follows the guidance under SAB 
101/SAB 104 for all subscription products. Revenue from 
subscription agreements is recognized ratably over the 
term of the subscription using the straight-line method. For 
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sales of perpetual licenses, revenue is recognized when we 
provide access to the content and bill the customer.

GENERAL REFERENCE PRODUCTS

For PQIL’s general reference products, customers purchase 
access to periodicals, newspapers, and other resources con-
tained in our databases in exchange for a fee that normally 
covers a subscription period of twelve months. Revenue 
from subscription agreements is recognized ratably over 
the term of the subscription using the straight-line method. 

PQIL provides content on a wholesale basis to premier 
information companies such as Factiva and LexisNexis. 
We receive a royalty from these wholesalers based on the 
usage of our products by their customers. We recognize this 
revenue based on the usage of our product.

TRADITIONAL PRODUCTS

PQIL derives revenue from sales of microform subscriptions 
and backfi les, publishing fees, and sales of dissertations. 
For newspaper subscription products, revenue is recog-
nized ratably over the term of the subscription, which is 
normally twelve months. For periodical subscription prod-
ucts, we accumulate the product on microfi lm and ship 
the completed set to our customers quarterly or annually. 
Revenue for these products is recognized when the product 
is shipped. For our backfi le products, dissertations and pub-
lishing fees, revenue is also recognized when the product 
is shipped.

CLASSROOM PRODUCTS

For the classroom market, we provide digital and paper 
products. The majority of our classroom product sales are 
from print coursepacks. Revenue is recognized when the 
print coursepacks are shipped. Our digital coursepacks 
comprised 41.8% of classroom products in 2004. These 
products are static databases of information in which we 
provide access, through a URL sold to the customer, for the 
semester the related class is being offered. Revenue for dig-
ital coursepacks is recognized when the URL is delivered to 
the customer. There is a right of return for coursepack sales. 
Therefore, a reserve has been recorded based on historical 
experience. The reserve was $681 thousand and $250 thou-
sand in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

PARTS AND SERVICE PRODUCTS

A majority of the APSP revenue is related to multiple ele-
ment contracts in which PQBS provides hardware, training 
and installation, database content licenses, and ongoing 
support to our customers. PQBS follows the guidance under 
EITF 00-21 in allocating the contract revenue to the various 
elements. EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine whether 
an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains 
more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 prescribes that 
in circumstances where there are multiple units of account-
ing in a contract; revenue should be allocated to each unit 
based on fair value, irrespective of the amount ascribed in 

the contract. Determination of fair value is judgmental and 
is typically based on our pricing of similar products that are 
not part of a multi-element arrangement and/or pricing of a 
market competitor. PQBS follows SAB 101 and SAB 104 for 
determination of revenue recognition. Assuming fair value 
exists for all elements, the amount assigned to the hardware 
value is recognized upon shipment of the hardware to the 
customer. The amounts assigned to training and installation 
are recognized as the services are performed. The amounts 
assigned to the database licenses and the ongoing support 
is recognized over the term of the contract, typically 24 to 
60 months.

We provide certain APSP customers with the option to bundle 
into monthly payments hardware or training and installa-
tion. An interest factor of approximately 8% is charged for 
the bundled items and recorded as deferred interest income. 
Deferred interest income was $538 thousand at January 1, 
2005. This amount will be recognized as interest income 
over the collection period. The receivable related to these 
items and the related deferred interest income are recorded 
in “Long–term receivables” in our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Interest income recognized related to these 
arrangements in 2004 was approximately $1.0 million.

We also provide PSP products for the power equipment 
markets. Certain of these products are highly customized 
for the individual customer. As such, PQBS follows the guid-
ance under EITF 00-21 which addresses how to determine 
whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables 
contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 
prescribes that in circumstances where there are multiple 
units of accounting in a contract; revenue should be allo-
cated to each unit based on fair value, irrespective of the 
amount ascribed in the contract. Determination of fair value 
is judgmental and is typically based on our pricing of similar 
products that are not part of a multi-element arrangement 
and/or pricing of a market competitor. PQBS follows SAB 
101, SAB 104 and SOP 97-2 for determination of revenue 
recognition. Software revenue is recognized when evidence 
of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is 
fi xed, and collectibility is probable. Initial license and proj-
ect management fees are recognized over the term of the 
contract. An annual license fee is charged and is recognized 
ratably over the year. Ongoing services revenue is recog-
nized over the term of the contract.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS

Revenue from performance management products is pri-
marily derived from business management information 
systems and business products provided to both OEMs and 
their dealerships in the automotive industry. Dealer infor-
mation is collected and published, typically on a monthly or 
quarterly basis. This content is used to monitor and evaluate 
dealer performance against various metrics and to manage 
dealer contracts and track compliance with the European 
Common Market’s block exemption regulations. Revenue is 
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recognized when the dealer information collecting and pub-
lishing cycle is completed and delivered. 

Royalties. Royalty expense at PQIL, which is included 
in “Cost of sales”, in our Consolidated Statement of 
Operations, is recorded monthly based on actual monthly 
revenue and historical average royalty rates by product line. 
Royalty rates by product line are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that estimates are appropriate and take into 
consideration any signifi cant changes to the royalty calcula-
tions or contractual minimum royalties due to the individual 
publisher. Estimates are necessary as monthly revenue 
can be attributable to thousands of publishers and most of 
the royalties are paid annually, semi-annually or quarterly. 
Royalty accruals are reviewed monthly to ensure that we 
have adequately reserved for all estimated future royalty 
payments. 

Impairment of Product Masters. We review the carrying 
value of product masters for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book value 
of this asset may not be recoverable from the estimated 
undiscounted future cash fl ows expected to result from its 
use and eventual disposition. If such assets are considered 
to be impaired, the impairment is measured as the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair 
value as estimated by discounted cash fl ows. Assets to be 
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount 
or fair value less cost of disposal.

Impairment of Goodwill. We review the carrying value of 
goodwill for impairment annually based on the require-
ments of SFAS No. 142. This annual analysis is performed 
during the second fi scal quarter, based on the goodwill bal-
ance as of the end of the fi rst fi scal quarter. The impairment 
test requires us to compare the fair value of each reporting 
unit to its carrying value. The determination whether these 
assets are impaired involves signifi cant judgment based on 
long-term and short-term projections of future performance. 
Changes in strategy and/or market conditions may result in 
adjustments to recorded asset balances.

Capitalization and Depreciation. A fi xed asset is recognized 
for items with a purchase price over one thousand dollars 
and an estimated useful life of greater than one year. We 
currently employ the straight-line depreciation method for 
all fi xed assets over the estimated useful life of the asset, 
except for product masters. Traditional products (microfi lm 
and microfi che) and electronic products each have capitaliz-
able “product masters”. Costs associated with the creation 
of traditional and electronic product masters are capitalized. 
For product masters, PQIL uses the double declining bal-
ance method of depreciation over a 10-year useful life as 
this methodology most closely mirrors the way in which 
revenue is derived from the content. In order to facilitate the 
timely determination of depreciation expense for the year, 
we use a half-year convention for depreciation. 

Software Capitalization. We follow the guidance in SOP 98-1 
for capitalizing software projects. We consider the following 
two characteristics when evaluating software for internal 
use:

•  The software is internally developed, acquired, or modi-
fi ed solely to meet our internal needs.

•  During the software’s development or modifi cation, no 
substantive plan exists or is being developed to market 
the software externally.

In accordance with SOP 98-1, there are three stages identi-
fi ed for development of software:

• preliminary project stage 

• application development stage

• post implementation / operating stage

We capitalize computer software costs incurred during the 
application development stage. All other costs incurred 
in connection with internal use software are expensed as 
incurred.

We follow SFAS No. 86 for software projects related to 
external use. 

According to SFAS No. 86, there are two types of costs 
related to a software development project:

•  Research and development costs which are incurred inter-
nally in creating a computer software product prior to 
establishing technological feasibility, and

•  Software production costs incurred after technological 
feasibility has been established.

The fi rst type of costs is expensed as incurred while the 
second type of costs is capitalized and amortized over the 
estimated economic life of the product. All of our software 
development projects are amortized on a straight-line basis 
primarily over three to fi ve years. Software that is pur-
chased with a license is amortized over the life of the related 
license.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We estimate a reserve, 
as required, for outstanding accounts receivable. There are 
two elements to the calculation of this reserve:

•  Specifi c identifi cation of invoices that are at risk due to 
performance problems or impending bankruptcy.

•  An allowance for all other outstanding receivables is calcu-
lated based on historical data, length of time outstanding 
and other known factors.

Bad debt reserves are reviewed on a quarterly basis and any 
required adjustments are made. 
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Equity Securities. We classify our investments in equity 
securities as “available-for-sale” in accordance with SFAS 
No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities”. Our available-for-sale securities rep-
resent assets held in a rabbi trust, related to an executive 
deferred compensation plan, that permits immediate diver-
sifi cation by the employee. Available-for-sale securities are 
carried at fair value with the unrealized gain or loss, net 
of tax, reported in “Other comprehensive income” on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. The estimated fair market val-
ues of investments are based on quoted market prices as 
of the end of the reporting period. In 2004, the change in 
net unrealized gains on our available-for-sale securities was 
$328 thousand.

Income Taxes. Provision is made for the expense, or benefi t, 
associated with taxes based on income. The provision for 
income taxes is based on laws currently enacted in every 
jurisdiction in which we do business and considers avail-
able laws mitigating the taxation of the same income by 
more than one jurisdiction. Signifi cant judgment is required 
in determining income tax expense, current receivables and 
payables, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valua-

tion allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. 
In determining realizability of deferred tax assets, manage-
ment considers whether it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is depen-
dent upon the generation of future taxable income during 
the periods in which those temporary differences become 
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal 
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, 
and taxable income in prior carryback years, loss carryfor-
ward limitations, and tax planning strategies in making this 
assessment. If, after consideration of these factors, manage-
ment believes it is more likely than not that a portion of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allow-
ance is established. The amount of the deferred tax asset 
considered realizable could be reduced in the near term if 
estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward 
period are reduced.

Other Contingencies. Other contingencies are recorded 
when it is probable that a liability exists and the value can 
be reasonably estimated.

Results of Operations 

 2004 2003 2002 

 % of % of % of
(Dollars in millions) Amount sales Amount sales Amount sales

Net sales  $ 462.8   100.0   $ 451.1  100.0  $ 412.8  100.0 
Cost of sales   (230.3)  (49.8)   (222.0)  (49.2)   (196.6)  (47.6)

Gross profi t   232.5   50.2    229.1   50.8    216.2   52.4 

Research and development expense   (16.6)  (3.6)   (18.4)  (4.1)   (20.9)  (5.1)
Selling and administrative expense   (120.6)  (26.1)   (122.3)  (27.1)   (110.0)  (26.6)
Other income   —    —    0.8   0.2    —    —  
Gain on sale of fi xed assets   0.9   0.2    —    —     —   — 

Earnings from continuing operations  
before interest and income taxes   96.2   20.7    89.2   19.8   85.3   20.7 

Net interest expense   (16.4)  (3.5)   (17.1)  (3.8)   (28.9)  (7.0)
Income tax expense   (27.1)  (5.9)   (25.4)  (5.6)   (16.5)  (4.0)

Earnings from continuing operations   $ 52.7  11.3   $ 46.7   10.4   $ 39.9   9.7 
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Fiscal Year 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year 2003

NET SALES

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003

PQIL  

Published Products $  120.1  $  95.9 
General Reference Products  65.1    73.0 
Traditional Products  91.8    97.2 
Classroom Products  13.6    13.4 

TOTAL PQIL $  290.6  $  279.5 
    
PQBS 

Automotive Group $ 162.7  $  160.7 
Power Equipment — Electronic   8.2    7.7 
Power Equipment — Film    —   2.1 
Other  1.3    1.1 

TOTAL PQBS $ 172.2  $  171.6 

TOTAL PROQUEST $ 462.8  $ 451.1
 

Our net sales from continuing operations increased $11.7 
million, or 2.6%, to $462.8 million in 2004.

PROQUEST INFORMATION AND LEARNING

Net sales at PQIL increased $11.1 million, or 4.0%, to $290.6 
million.  

PUBLISHED PRODUCTS

Sales of our published products grew $24.2 million, or 
25.2%, to $120.1 million in 2004 primarily driven by strong 
sales of our Genealogy products, which increased $2.6 
million, Historical Newspaper products, which increased 
$3.2 million and other Digital Vault Initiative products. 
Additional incremental growth of $6.6 million came from 
a full year of sales from the SIRS product line which was 
acquired during the third quarter of 2003.

GENERAL REFERENCE PRODUCTS

Sales of our general reference products decreased $7.9 mil-
lion, or 10.8%, to $65.1 million primarily due to a decrease 
in our re-seller business and a decrease in our general ref-
erence products for K-12 libraries, most of which was the 
result of products discontinued from the Bigchalk acquisi-
tion. There is competitive pricing pressure with our general 
reference products, primarily as a result of tight library 
budgets. We have started to see some stabilization of pric-
ing during the 2005 renewal cycle.

TRADITIONAL PRODUCTS

Sales of traditional products decreased $5.4 million, or 
5.6%, to $91.8 million due to declines in microfi lm units 
partially offset by price increases. As expected, during the 
fourth quarter of 2004, our typical microfi lm renewal period, 

we continued to see unit declines. As a result, we expect a 
revenue decline at approximately $3–$5 million in 2005.

CLASSROOM PRODUCTS

Sales of our classroom products increased $0.2 million, or 
1.5%, to $13.6 million as the market continues its migration 
to electronic delivery. During 2004, we established strong 
relationships with large campus bookstores, but we have 
been less successful in displacing the small print shops that 
supply this type of product to the independent bookstores. 

PROQUEST BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

Net sales at PQBS increased $0.6 million, or 0.4%, to $172.2 
million. 

AUTOMOTIVE PRODUCTS

Sales of our automotive products increased by $2.0 mil-
lion, or 1.2%, to $162.7 million, driven by an 8.0% increase 
in dealership performance management products. Revenue 
growth in dealership performance management products is 
driven by the sales of our web-based dealer performance 
management products. PSP revenue showed a slight decline 
in 2004 as a result of a reduction in one time revenues from 
hardware and training and installation.
 
POWER EQUIPMENT — PSP

Electronic product sales increased $0.5 million, or 6.5%, to 
$8.2 million driven by increased revenue from the sales of 
new OEM products in the outdoor power market.

EXITED FILM PRODUCTS

Revenue from power equipment — fi lm products decreased 
as a result of exiting this business. We transferred the few 
remaining customers to a third-party provider in the fourth 
quarter of 2003. 

GROSS PROFIT

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003

PQIL $ 123.0  $ 123.0
PQBS   109.5    106.1

Total $ 232.5  $ 229.1

Our gross profi t percentage decreased 60 basis points to 
50.2% compared to the 2003 results.

At PQIL, the gross profi t margin decreased from 44.0% to 
42.3%, a decrease of 170 basis points for the fi scal year 
ended January 1, 2005 compared to the fi scal year ended 
January 3, 2004. This decrease resulted from increased cost 
of sales primarily due to increased content royalties and 
higher depreciation ($7.0 million) from investments in prod-
uct capital.



PQBS expenses as a percentage of sales decreased to 27.2% 
in 2004 from 28.0% in 2003 due to reduced sales incentive 
compensation.

The decrease at Corporate is primarily due to our former 
chairman’s incentive compensation plan in 2003 which was 
not incurred in 2004.

Net interest expense decreased $0.7 million, or 4.1%, to 
$16.4 million in 2004, as a result of reduced debt levels in 
2004.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense increased in 2004 
as a result of higher operating earnings partially offset by 
a lower effective tax rate for fi scal 2004. The lower effec-
tive tax rate in 2004 is primarily the result of lower foreign 
tax rates, lower state taxes, revisions to prior year estimates 
and audit settlements.

Discontinued Operations. In June 2004, we sold our DMS 
business, which was a component of PQBS. The DMS busi-
ness was a software business which did not fi t with our 
core electronic publishing strategy. Accordingly, the oper-
ating results of this business have been segregated from 
our continuing operations and reported as earnings from 
discontinued operations. We recognized a gain on sales of 
discontinued operations of $13.5 million (net of tax) due to 
the sale of DMS.

Acquisitions. In fi scal 2004, we completed a number of 
acquisitions including Copley Publishing Group, Reading 
A-Z, Axiom Press, Serials Solutions, and Entigo Inc. for an 
aggregate cash consideration of $23.5 million, 105 thou-
sand shares of our $.001 par value common stock and the 
assumption of certain liabilities. These acquisitions did 
not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

NET INTEREST EXPENSE

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Interest income $ (1.5) $ (1.4)
Debt  10.5    10.6 
Monetized contracts   6.8    7.1 
Other   0.6    0.8 

Total $ 16.4  $ 17.1
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At PQBS, the gross profi t margin increased from 61.8% to 
63.6%, an increase of 180 basis points for the fi scal year 
ended January 1, 2005 compared to the fi scal year ended 
January 3, 2004. This increase resulted from decreased 
lower-margin hardware sales and lower performance 
management product costs as a result of the new Next 
Generation Electronic Platform (“NXC”).

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

(Dollars in millions)  2004 2003

PQIL $ 7.7  $ 9.9
PQBS   8.9    8.5

Total $ 16.6  $ 18.4

Our research and development expenditures include invest-
ments for database and software development, information 
delivery systems and other electronic products. Research 
and development expense for fi scal 2004 decreased $1.8 
million to $16.6 million compared to fi scal 2003.

The decrease at PQIL is primarily due to our ongoing efforts 
to consolidate operations, reduce staff, and increase effi -
ciencies.

The increase at PQBS is primarily due to typical salary and 
cost increases.

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE 

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003

PQIL $ 58.0  $ 58.0
PQBS   46.8    48.0
Corporate   15.8    16.3

Total $ 120.6  $ 122.3

Selling and administrative expense on a consolidated basis 
decreased $1.7 million, or 1.4%, to $120.6 million compared 
to fi scal 2003.

PQIL expenses as a percentage of sales decreased to 20.0% 
in 2004 from 20.8% in 2003 due to our ongoing initiative to 
align our costs more closely with our revenue.



PROQUEST COMPANY 2004 ANNUAL REPORT    29 

Fiscal Year 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year 2002 

NET SALES

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002

PQIL    

Published Products $ 95.9  $ 76.3 
General Reference Products   73.0    62.0 
Traditional Products   97.2    101.5 
Classroom Products   13.4    9.6 

TOTAL PQIL $ 279.5  $ 249.4 

PQBS    

Automotive Group $ 160.7  $ 150.2 
Power Equipment — Electronic   7.7    8.5 
Power Equipment — Film   2.1    4.7 
Other   1.1   — 

TOTAL PQBS $ 171.6  $ 163.4 

TOTAL PROQUEST $ 451.1  $ 412.8 

Our net sales from continuing operations increased $38.3 
million, or 9.3%, to $451.1 million in 2003.

PROQUEST INFORMATION AND LEARNING

Net sales at PQIL increased $30.1 million, or 12.1%, to $279.5 
million.  

PUBLISHED PRODUCTS

Sales of our published products grew $19.6 million, or 
25.7%, to $95.9 million in 2003 primarily driven by strong 
sales of our Historical Newspaper products, which increased 
$8.0 million, and other Digital Vault Initiative products. 
Additional incremental growth of $6.3 million came from 
the SIRS product line, which was acquired during the third 
quarter of 2003.

GENERAL REFERENCE PRODUCTS

Sales of our general reference products increased $11.0 mil-
lion, or 17.7%, to $73.0 million primarily due to an increase 
in our general reference products for K-12 libraries due to 
$16.2 million in incremental revenue from Bigchalk par-
tially offset by a decline in our reseller business related to a 
Canadian reseller arrangement that we exited during fi scal 
2002. There is pricing pressure with our general reference 
products, primarily as a result of tight library budgets. 

TRADITIONAL PRODUCTS

Sales of traditional products decreased $4.3 million, or 4.2%, 
to $97.2 million due to a decline in revenue as a result of 
reduced sales of microfi lm backfi les and special collections. 
In the past, librarians have used excess budget dollars to fi ll 
gaps in their microfi lm backfi les. In 2003, we saw very little 
surplus, and as a result revenue from our microfi lm back-
fi les and microfi lm collection continued to be soft. Microfi lm 

is a mature business, however, we expect libraries to con-
tinue to purchase fi lm for several reasons: (1) a great deal 
of desired content is not currently offered electronically, 
and most cannot be found anywhere else; (2) to maintain 
accreditation, college libraries are required to own a certain 
amount of content and electronic databases do not fulfi ll 
this requirement; and (3) microfi lm is considered a stable 
medium for preservation.

CLASSROOM PRODUCTS

Sales of our classroom products increased $3.8 million, or 
39.6%, to $13.4 million as the market continues its migration 
to electronic delivery. We feel that we have two important 
competitive advantages in this market, especially for elec-
tronic coursepacks: (1) our extensive content and (2) our 
publisher relationships. We need to continue to establish 
our distribution channels for our print coursepacks. During 
2003, we established strong relationships with large campus 
bookstores, but we have been less successful in displacing 
the small print shops that supply this type of product to 
the independent bookstores. To address this issue, we are 
adjusting pricing on our print products to be more competi-
tive and we are exploring partnership opportunities. The 
market appears to be migrating to electronic coursepacks.

PROQUEST BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

Net sales at PQBS increased $8.2 million, or 5.0%, to $171.6 
million. 

AUTOMOTIVE PRODUCTS

Sales of our automotive products increased by $10.5 mil-
lion, or 7.0%, to $160.7 million, driven by a 4.6% increase 
in APSP and a 16.2% increase in dealership performance 
management products. Revenue growth in APSP continues 
to be driven by price increases and increases in our installed 
dealer base. Revenue growth in dealership performance 
management products is driven by the sales of our web-
based dealer performance management products and our 
standards products, which assist manufacturers and their 
dealerships to comply with the European Common Market’s 
new block exemption regulations. In the future, we expect 
to work more directly with OEMs on various automotive 
products.

POWER EQUIPMENT — PSP

Electronic product sales decreased $0.8 million, or 9.4%, to 
$7.7 million driven by decreases in one-time revenue par-
tially offset by increases in recurring revenue.

EXITED FILM PRODUCTS

Revenue from power equipment — fi lm products decreased 
$2.6 million, or 55.3%, to $2.1 million as a result of exiting 
this business. We transferred the few remaining customers 
to a third-party provider, in the fourth quarter of 2003.
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GROSS PROFIT

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002

PQIL $ 123.0  $ 113.9
PQBS   106.1    102.3

Total $ 229.1  $ 216.2 

Our gross profi t percentage decreased 160 basis points to 
50.8% compared to the 2002 results.

At PQIL, the gross profi t margin decreased from 45.7% to 
44.0%, a decrease of 170 basis points for the fi scal year 
ended January 3, 2004 compared to the fi scal year ended 
December 28, 2002. This decrease resulted from increased 
cost of sales primarily due to higher depreciation and con-
tent royalties.

At PQBS, the gross profi t margin decreased from 62.6% 
to 61.8%, a decrease of 80 basis points for the fi scal year 
ended January 3, 2004 compared to the fi scal year ended 
December 28, 2002. This decrease resulted from increased 
cost of sales primarily due to lower-margin hardware sales, 
exiting of the fi lm business and increased content costs.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002

PQIL $ 9.9  $ 11.5
PQBS   8.5    9.4

Total $ 18.4  $ 20.9

Our research and development expenditures include invest-
ments for database and software development, information 
delivery systems and other electronic products. Research 
and development expense for fi scal 2003 decreased $2.5 
million to $18.4 million compared to fi scal 2002.

The decrease at PQIL is primarily due to moving to a more 
variable cost structure. In our effort to accomplish this we 
consolidated operations, reduced staff and increased effi -
ciencies.

The decrease at PQBS is primarily due to the timing and 
nature of certain development projects.

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE 

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002

PQIL $ 58.0  $ 53.4
PQBS   48.0    45.1
Corporate   16.3    11.5

Total $ 122.3  $ 110.0

Selling and administrative expense on a consolidated basis 
increased $12.3 million, or 11.2%, to $122.3 million com-
pared to fi scal 2002.

PQIL expenses as a percentage of sales decreased from 
21.4% in 2002 to 20.8% in 2003 due to increased produc-
tivity.

PQBS expenses as a percentage of sales were relatively fl at 
in 2003 compared to 2002.

The increase at Corporate is primarily due to an increase 
in pension expense for our pension plan in the U.K. ($1.0 
million), increased costs associated with new corporate 
governance requirements ($0.5 million), higher insurance 
premiums ($0.4 million) and a chairman’s incentive com-
pensation plan, which was based on our stock price at 
December 31, 2003 ($2.3 million).

Net interest expense decreased $11.8 million, or 40.8%, to 
$17.1 million in 2003, primarily due to refi nancing our long-
term debt in 2002 and an $8.3 million pre-tax charge taken 
in the third quarter of 2002 related to the settlement of our 
interest rate swaps as a result of our debt refi nancing. In 
October 2002, we refi nanced $150.0 million of our debt to 
long-term fi xed rate senior notes with a 5.45% coupon rate. 
As a result, we are not currently entering into interest rate 
swap contracts.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense increased in 2003 
as a result of higher operating earnings and a higher effec-
tive tax rate for fi scal 2003. The lower effective tax rate in 
2002 is primarily the result of one-time benefi ts related to 
the utilization of a capital loss carryback and a lower state 
effective tax rate.

Discontinued Operations. In 2002 we recognized a gain on 
sales of discontinued operations of $0.6 million (net of tax) 
due to a reversal of an accrual which we determined we no 
longer needed related to the 2001 sale of our Imaging, MMT 
and fi nance-related businesses. 

Acquisitions. On December 30, 2002, the second day of our 
fi scal year 2003, we purchased all the interest in Bigchalk 
that we did not previously own for a negotiated value of 
$27.0 million, which includes a holdback of approximately 
$3.4 million and is net of approximately $19.7 million in 
cash held by Bigchalk that we received after the acquisi-
tion. In July, we purchased SIRS for $26.4 million and the 
assumption of certain liabilities. 

NET INTEREST EXPENSE

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002

Interest income $ (1.4) $ (4.8)
Debt   10.6    11.7
Interest rate swaps   —   12.8
Monetized contracts   7.1    7.2
Other   0.8    2.0

Total $ 17.1  $ 28.9
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Bigchalk develops and markets products and services for 
research, curriculum integration, assessment, peer collabo-
ration, professional development, online community and 
e-commerce for teachers, students, parents, librarians and 
school administrators in the K-12 educational community. 
See Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
pro forma impact of this acquisition.

SIRS is a leading provider of online, CD-ROM and print ref-
erence databases to more than 50,000 libraries worldwide. 
SIRS’ proprietary published products have been designed 
to address curriculum-related, assignment-driven informa-
tion needs that arise as students study social problems, 
controversies, legal issues and ethics. This acquisition did 
not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

International Operations

 % % %
(Dollars in millions) 2004 of Total 2003 of Total 2002 of Total

Domestic sales $ 338.8  73%  $ 339.1  75%  $ 307.6  75% 
Foreign sales   124.0  27%    112.0  25%    105.2  25% 

Total sales $ 462.8  100%  $ 451.1  100%  $ 412.8  100% 

Foreign sales increased $12.0 million, or 10.7%, to $124.0 
million in 2004 primarily as a result of sales of our perfor-
mance management products and our published products 
as well as favorable foreign currency translation.

For PQIL, we generally invoice international customers in 
U.S. dollars. However, as our international operations have 

matured, we have begun invoicing certain customers in 
their local currencies.

Our translation and transaction exposure from international 
operations is immaterial, as it constitutes less than 1% of 
selling and administrative expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Debt decreased by $36.3 million to $155.0 million in 2004.       

We generated cash from operations of $107.8 million during 2004, compared to $121.1 million in 2003, a decrease of $13.3 
million. The decrease in cash generated from continuing operations during 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily related to 
the following: 

(Dollars in millions) Inc /(Dec) vs. 2003

Tax court refund (included in accounts receivable and deferred taxes) $ (13.1)
Deferred income (decline in microfi lm sales)  (13.1)
Accounts payable   (4.0)
Accounts receivable, net of tax court refund  (3.6)
Other current assets (primarily prepayment of content royalties)  (3.0)
Depreciation & amortization  10.9 
Accrued expenses (primarily Bigchalk severance in 2003)  9.8 
Long-term liabilities (primarily prepayment of distributor agreement with the DMS buyer)  3.7 
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Cash from operations is seasonal with less cash generated 
in the fi rst half of the year and more cash generated dur-
ing the second half of the year.  Cash is typically generated 
during the second half of the year primarily because we bill 
and collect a signifi cant portion of our annual microfi lm sub-
scription fees in the late third quarter and during the fourth 
quarter.  

We used $62.4 million of cash in our investing activities for 
fi scal 2004, a decrease of $64.2 million compared to fi scal 
2003. This decrease is primarily due to the following:  

(Dollars in millions) Inc /(Dec) vs. 2003

Proceeds from sale of DMS $ (35.9)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (26.0)
Property, plant, equipment, product 
   masters, and software   (4.0)
Proceeds from disposal of fi xed assets   (0.9)
Net purchases of equity investments 
   available for sale   2.1

We used cash in fi nancing activities of $45.5 million in fi scal 
2004 compared to $7.6 million generated in fi scal 2003, a 
decrease of $53.1 million. This decrease is primarily due to 
the following:

(Dollars in millions) Inc /(Dec) vs. 2003

Proceeds from long-term debt 
   (net of payments made) $ (45.0)
Monetized future billings  (6.5)
Proceeds from exercise of stock 
   options, net  (3.3)
Repurchase of common stock  (2.2)
Net increase in short-term debt  4.4 
 
We believe that current cash balances, cash generated from 
operations, and availability under our Credit Agreement 
will be adequate to fund the growth in working capital and 
capital expenditures necessary to support our currently 
expected sales for the foreseeable future. Under our $175.0 
million Credit Agreement, $5.0 million was outstanding as of 
January 1, 2005. The interest rate on borrowings under the 
credit facility as of January 1, 2005 was (at our option) either 
LIBOR + 1.00%, which was 3.08% ($5.0 million outstanding 
at January 1, 2005), or the prime rate + 0.25%, which was 
5.50% ($0 outstanding at January 1, 2005).

A portion of our availability under the credit facility has been 
utilized to issue letters of credit to support our insurance 
coverage, leases, and certain customer contracts. At January 
1, 2005, the total of the face amounts of the outstanding 
letters of credit was $2,347 thousand. The letters of credit 
renew either annually or automatically with the face amount 
adjusted based on the underlying insurance requirement. At 
the end of fi scal 2004, we had $167,653 thousand of addi-
tional credit available under our credit facility. We also have 
the ability to borrow up to $5.0 million on an uncommitted 
line of credit. The borrowing period under this line of credit 
cannot exceed seven days. There was no balance outstand-
ing under this line as of January 1, 2005.

The fi nal maturity date of the Credit Agreement is October 3, 
2005 with no principal payments due until that date. For the 
outstanding balance on the $175.0 million Credit Agreement, 
annual maturities are (dollars in millions):

2005 $ 5.0 

Total $ 5.0 

For the term of the 5.45% senior notes, annual maturities are 
(dollars in millions):

2005 $ —
2006   21.4 
2007   21.4 
2008   21.4 
2009   21.4 
2010   21.4 
2011   21.4 
2012   21.6 

Total $ 150.0 

We are in compliance with all debt covenants as of January 
1, 2005.

In January 2005, we acquired Voyager Expanded Learning 
Inc. (“Voyager”). We fi nanced our acquisition through a 
new $175 million issuance of private-placement notes and 
a new revolving line of credit. The 5.38% fi xed notes mature 
January 2015. Our previous revolving credit agreement was 
replaced with a new variable interest rate facility with capac-
ity of $275 million which expires in January 2010.
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Financial Condition

Selected Balance Sheet information.
 As of Inc /(Dec) vs. 2003

 January 1, January 3,
(Dollars in millions)  2005 2004 $ %

Accounts receivable, net  $ 95.3   $ 94.2   $ 1.1  1.2% 
Other current assets   50.1    43.0    7.1  16.5% 
Purchased and developed software, net   41.7    55.0    (13.3)   (24.2%)
Other assets   21.5    23.8    (2.3)   (9.7%)
Accrued expenses   35.3    39.4    (4.1)   (10.4%)
Deferred income   100.5    121.9    (21.4)   (17.6%)
Other liabilities   82.5    62.4    20.1  32.2% 

Accounts receivable increased by $1.1 million during the fi s-
cal year ended January 1, 2005, primarily due to increased 
sales.

Other current assets increased by $7.1 million primarily due 
to increased prepayments made for royalties ($2.6 million) 
and prepayment of sales commissions ($4.9 million) as well 
as an increase in securities available for sale ($3.9 million) 
partially offset by a decrease in taxes ($5.8 million).

Net purchased and developed software decreased by $13.3 
million primarily due to annual amortization expense as 
well as lower software expenditures in 2004.

Other assets decreased by $2.3 million primarily due to a 
decrease in long-term deferred tax assets as a result of the 
utilization of a capital loss carryforward.

Accrued expenses decreased by $4.1 million primarily due 
to payments related to our discontinued operations and 
a decrease in accrued compensation, partially offset by 
increased taxes.

Deferred income decreased by $21.4 million primarily as a 
result of the decline in microfi lm and general reference sub-
scriptions as well as the timing of billings in 2004 compared 
to 2003.

Other liabilities increased $20.1 million primarily due to 
increased deferred income taxes as well as increased long-
term compensation liabilities.

Capital Expenditures and Outlook 

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Product masters   
PQIL  $ 52.8   $ 46.3   $ 51.7

Fixed capital    
PQIL   2.0    2.5    3.9
PQBS   4.1    2.8    2.9
Corporate   0.2   —    0.2

Total fi xed capital  $ 6.3   $ 5.3   $ 7.0

Software   
PQIL   7.4    11.4    20.0
PQBS   0.3    7.4    2.1
Corporate  —   0.4   —

Total software expenditures  $ 7.7   $ 19.2  $ 22.1 
   
Total expenditures for    

property, plant, equipment,     
product masters and software  $ 66.8   $ 70.8   $ 80.8

Capital spending for product masters increased $6.5 mil-
lion from 2003 to 2004 due to higher international costs and 
development of content associated with acquisitions made 
during the year. 

We expect to meet our needs for working capital for opera-
tions, to fund capital expenditures, software spending and 
potential acquisitions and to meet our debt service require-
ments through cash generated from operations and our 
Credit Agreement. Although there are no material commit-
ments for capital spending, we expect spending in 2005 to 



34    PROQUEST COMPANY 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

be approximately 10 percent to 12 percent of sales. Capital 
expenditures will be concentrated primarily on ongoing and 
new product master prepublication costs that management 
believes will generate future revenue growth. Our plans are 
dependent on the availability of funds as well as the iden-
tifi cation of projects showing suffi cient returns. As a result, 
there is no assurance that our planned level or type of capi-
tal spending will actually occur in the future. 

Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

We have various contractual obligations which are recorded 
as liabilities in our Consolidated Financial Statements. Other 

items, such as certain purchase commitments and other 
executory contracts are not recognized as liabilities in our 
Consolidated Financial Statements but are required to be 
disclosed. 

The following table summarizes our signifi cant contractual 
obligations and commercial commitments at January 1, 
2005 and the future periods in which such obligations are 
expected to be settled in cash:
 

employee stock options and similar awards. As permitted 
by SFAS 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” 
(“SFAS No. 123”), we currently account for our stock option 
plan using the intrinsic method prescribed in APB Opinion 
No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and, 
as such, generally recognize no compensation cost for 
employee stock options. Under SFAS No. 123R, share-based 
payment awards result in a cost that will be measured at 
fair value on the awards’ grant date, based on the esti-
mated number of awards that are expected to vest and 
be expensed over the vesting period. Additionally, SFAS 
No. 123R will require us to expense the unvested portion of 
previously granted options. SFAS 123R is effective for interim 
and annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We will 
adopt this standard in the third quarter of fi scal 2005. We 
are planning to use the “modifi ed prospective” transition 
method, which does not require restating previous periods’ 
results. The impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R cannot 
be predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of 
share-based payments granted in the future. However, had 
we adopted SFAS 123R in prior periods, the impact of that 
standard would have approximated the impact of SFAS 123 
as described in the disclosure of pro forma net earnings and 
earnings per share in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 
109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, ‘Accounting 
for Income Taxes,’ to the Tax Deduction on Qualifi ed 

We also have obligations with respect to our pension and 
postretirement medical benefi t plans. For further informa-
tion see Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have letters of credit in the amount of $2,347 thousand 
outstanding as of January 1, 2005 to support insurance 
coverage, leases, and certain customer contracts. For fur-
ther information see Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Seasonality

Our quarterly operating results fl uctuate as a result of a 
number of factors including the sales cycle, the amount and 
timing of new products and our spending patterns. In addi-
tion, many of our PQIL customers experience cyclical funding 
issues that can impact our revenue patterns. Historically, we 
have experienced less net sales, net earnings, and cash fl ow 
in the fi rst fi scal quarter with our highest net sales, net earn-
ings, and cash fl ow in the fourth fi scal quarter. 

The historical fl uctuation of our operating results is described 
in Note 22 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued a revised Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123R, “Share Based Payment.” (“SFAS No. 
123R”), which requires companies to expense the value of 

(Dollars in millions) Total 2005 2006 & 2007 2008 & 2009 After 2009

Operating leases $ 96.4  $ 17.6  $ 28.6  $  16.4  $ 33.8
Short-term debt   5.0    5.0    —   —   —
Long-term debt   150.0   —     42.9    42.9    64.2
Unconditional purchase obligations   15.0    5.1    9.9    —    — 
Royalty guarantees   166.1    36.7    57.5    47.7    24.2

Total Contractual Obligations $ 432.5  $ 64.4  $ 138.9  $ 107.0  $ 122.2 
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Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs 
Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-1”). Under the guidance of 
FSP 109-1, the deduction will be treated as a “special deduc-
tion” as described in Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 
No. 109). As such, the special deduction has no effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities existing at the enactment 
date. Rather, the impact of this deduction will be reported 
in the period in which the deduction is claimed on our tax 
return.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, 
“Inventory Costs”. This statement clarifi es the accounting 
for the abnormal amount of idle facilities expense, freight, 
handling costs and wasted material. This statement requires 
that those items be recognized as current-period expense. 
In addition the statement requires that allocation of fi xed 
overhead to the cost of conversion be based on the normal 
capacity of the production facilities. This statement is effec-
tive for inventory costs incurred after December 31, 2005. 
Adoption of this statement will not have a material effect on 
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States 
signed The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. Among 
the provisions of the Act is a provision that allows for the 
exclusion from income of a portion of the remittances 
of earnings of foreign subsidiaries to U.S. sharehold-
ers through December 31, 2005. In December 2004, the 
FASB issued FASB Staff Position 109-2, “Accounting and 
Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation 
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” 
(“FSP 109-2”). Under the guidance of FSP 109-2, an enter-
prise is allowed time beyond the fi nancial reporting period 
of enactment to evaluate the effect of the American Jobs 
Creation Act of 2004 on its plan for reinvestment or repa-
triation of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS 
No. 109. The deduction is subject to a number of limita-
tions. We have not yet decided whether, or to what extent, 
foreign earnings will be repatriated. Based on our analysis 
to date, however, it is possible that we may repatriate an 
amount between $0 to $9,600. The related range of income 
tax effects of such repatriation cannot be reasonably esti-
mated at the time of issuance of these fi nancial statements. 
We expect to be in a position to fi nalize our assessment by 
December 31, 2005. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

As a result of our fi nancing activities we are exposed to 
changes in interest rates which may adversely affect our 
results of operations and fi nancial position. We are not cur-
rently hedging this interest rate risk. Instead, in 2002 we 
limited this risk by refi nancing $150.0 million of our debt to 
long-term fi xed rate notes with a 5.45% fi xed coupon rate 
and a 5.60% effective rate. These notes have a seven-year 
average life. Our remaining debt is variable rate long-term 
debt which exposes us to variability in interest payments 
due to changes in interest rates.

In December 2004, in anticipation of our 2005 debt refi nanc-
ing, we entered into Treasury Rate Locks (“2004 Locks”) with 
the notional amount of $125 million and a seven-year term. 
At January 1, 2005, the unrealized marked to market gain 
on the 2004 Locks in the amount of $130 thousand (net of 
tax) was recorded in “Other comprehensive income” on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. These 2004 Locks effectively 
fi xed the underlying treasury rate for the pricing of our pri-
vate placement at 4.04% and settled on January 14, 2005, 
the same day our private placement of debt was price (see 
Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements). Upon 
settlement, a loss was incurred.

Foreign Currency Risk

As a result of our global operations, we are exposed to 
changes in foreign currency rates. At January 1, 2005, we 
had no outstanding foreign currency forward or option con-
tracts. The potential impact on our earnings from a 10% 
adverse change in quoted foreign currency rates would be 
insignifi cant.
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data

ProQuest Company — Management’s Report on 

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

The following report is provided by management in respect 
of ProQuest Company’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting (as defi ned in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under 
the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934):

1. ProQuest Company’s management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
fi nancial reporting for ProQuest Company.

2. ProQuest Company management has used the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) framework to evaluate the effectiveness of ProQuest 
Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting. 
Management believes that the COSO framework is a suit-
able framework for its evaluation of ProQuest Company’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting because it is free 
from bias, permits reasonably consistent qualitative and 
quantitative measurements of ProQuest Company’s internal 
controls, is suffi ciently complete so that those relevant fac-
tors that would alter a conclusion about the effectiveness of 
ProQuest Company’s internal controls are not omitted and 

is relevant to an evaluation of internal control over fi nancial 
reporting.

3. Management has assessed the effectiveness of ProQuest 
Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting, as 
of January 1, 2005, and has concluded that such internal 
control over fi nancial reporting is effective. There are no 
material weaknesses in ProQuest Company’s internal con-
trol over fi nancial reporting that have been identifi ed by 
management.

4. In fi scal year 2004 ProQuest Company acquired Serials 
Solutions. Total assets for Serials Solutions were $17.6 mil-
lion, which was 2.3% of total ProQuest Company assets 
at January 1, 2005. Total revenue for Serials Solutions in 
2004 was $2.1 million, which was 0.45% of total ProQuest 
Company revenues for 2004. Management has elected to 
exclude Serials Solutions from the scope of its report on 
internal controls over fi nancial reporting. 

5. KPMG LLP, who has audited the consolidated fi nan-
cial statements of ProQuest Company for the year ended 
January 1, 2005, has also issued a report on fi nancial state-
ments and internal controls under Auditing Standard No. 2 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). This report is located on the following page of this 
Annual Report.
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The Board of Directors
ProQuest Company:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in 
the accompanying ProQuest Company — Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that 
ProQuest Company maintained effective internal control 
over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO). ProQuest Company’s 
management is responsible for maintaining effective inter-
nal control over fi nancial reporting and for its assessment of 
the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on manage-
ment’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over fi nancial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over fi nancial report-
ing, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of inter-
nal control, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation 
of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A compa-
ny’s internal control over fi nancial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with autho-
rizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispo-
sition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the fi nancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that ProQuest 
Company maintained effective internal control over fi nan-
cial reporting as of January 1, 2005, is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). Also, in our opinion, ProQuest Company main-
tained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO).

ProQuest Company acquired Serials Solutions during 2004, 
and management excluded this entity from its assessment 
of the effectiveness of ProQuest Company’s internal con-
trol over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005. Serials 
Solutions’ internal control over fi nancial reporting is associ-
ated with total assets of $17.6 million and total revenues 
of $2.1 million included in the consolidated fi nancial state-
ments of ProQuest Company and subsidiaries as of and 
for the year ended January 1, 2005. Our audit of internal 
control over fi nancial reporting of ProQuest Company also 
excluded an evaluation of the internal control over fi nancial 
reporting of Serials Solutions.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of ProQuest 
Company and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and 
January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive 
income (loss), and cash fl ows for the fi scal years ended 
January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, 
and our report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unquali-
fi ed opinion on those consolidated fi nancial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Detroit, Michigan
March 16, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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The Board of Directors
ProQuest Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of ProQuest Company and subsidiaries (the “Com-
pany”) as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, sharehold-
ers’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash 
fl ows for the fi scal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 
2004, and December 28, 2002. These consolidated fi nancial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
fi nancial position of ProQuest Company and subsidiaries 
as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 and the results 
of their operations and their cash fl ows for the fi scal years 
ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 
2002 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of ProQuest Company’s inter-
nal control over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organi-
zation of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unqualifi ed opinion on 
management’s assessment of, and the effective operation 
of, internal control over fi nancial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Detroit, Michigan
March 16, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM



 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 462,814  $ 451,015  $ 412,826 
Cost of sales   (230,315)   (221,960)   (196,584)

Gross profi t   232,499    229,055    216,242 

Research and development expense   (16,603)   (18,367)   (20,945)
Selling and administrative expense   (120,592)   (122,251)   (110,011)
Other income   —    775    — 
Gain on sale of fi xed assets   900    —  — 

Earnings from continuing operations before interest
and income taxes   96,204    89,212    85,286 

Net interest expense:
Interest income   1,517    1,370    4,791 
Interest expense   (17,952)   (18,509)   (33,713)

Net interest expense   (16,435)   (17,139)   (28,922)

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes   79,769    72,073    56,364 
Income tax expense   (27,039)   (25,363)   (16,449)

Earnings from continuing operations   52,730    46,710    39,915 

Earnings from discontinued operations (less applicable 
income taxes of $485, $1,814 and $1,473, respectively)   778    3,111    2,465 

Gain on sales of discontinued operations (less applicable
income taxes of $2,565, $0 and $361, respectively)   13,484    —    639 

Net earnings $ 66,992  $ 49,821  $ 43,019 

Net earnings per common share:      
Basic:      

Earnings from continuing operations $ 1.85  $ 1.66  $ 1.53 
Earnings from discontinued operations   0.03    0.11    0.09 
Gain on sales of discontinued operations   0.47   —   0.02 

Basic net earnings per common share $ 2.35  $ 1.77  $ 1.64 

Diluted:      
Earnings from continuing operations $ 1.83  $ 1.64  $ 1.50 
Earnings from discontinued operations   0.03    0.11    0.09 
Gain on sales of discontinued operations   0.46    —   0.02 

Diluted net earnings per common share $ 2.32  $ 1.75  $ 1.61 

Average number of common shares and equivalents outstanding:      
Basic   28,514    28,192    26,190 
Diluted   28,844    28,426    26,588 
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ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the fi scal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.



 2004 2003

ASSETS    

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,313  $ 4,023 
Accounts receivable, net   95,279    94,242 
Inventory:    

Finished products   3,411    2,710 
Products in process and materials   1,901    2,229 

Total inventory   5,312    4,939 
    
Other current assets   50,133    43,035 

Total current assets   155,037    146,239 

Property, plant, equipment and product masters, at cost:    
Land    672    824 
Buildings and improvements   29,747    30,995 
Machinery and equipment   59,695    66,423 
Product masters   332,689    296,983 

Total property, plant, equipment and product masters, at cost  422,803    395,225 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (222,806)   (214,480)

Net property, plant, equipment and product masters   199,997    180,745 

Long-term receivables   8,084    5,106 
Goodwill   311,279    303,693 
Identifi able intangibles, net   15,379    9,435 
Purchased and developed software, net   41,699    55,005 
Other assets   21,454    23,813 

Total assets $ 752,929  $ 724,036 
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ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
(In thousands)

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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 2004 2003

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities: 
Notes payable           $ —  $ 300 
Current maturities of long-term debt   5,000    —
Accounts payable   49,364    49,156 
Accrued expenses   35,303    39,428 
Current portion of monetized future billings   24,331    25,583 
Deferred income   100,480    121,890 

Total current liabilities   214,478    236,357 

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current maturities   150,000    191,000 
Monetized future billings, less current portion   36,197    46,835 
Other liabilities   82,533    62,444 

Total long-term liabilities   268,730    300,279 

Shareholders‘ equity:
Common stock ($.001 par value, 50,000 shares authorized,

29,389 shares issued and 28,731 shares outstanding at
the end of fi scal 2004, and 28,964 shares issued and
28,378 shares outstanding at the end of fi scal 2003)   29    28 

Capital surplus   320,033    310,461 
Unearned compensation on restricted stock   (236)   — 
Notes receivable arising from stock purchases   (194)   (279)
Retained earnings (accumulated defi cit)   (36,019)   (103,011)
Treasury stock, at cost (658 shares at the end of fi scal 2004

and 586 shares at the end of fi scal 2003)   (16,276)   (14,515)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):    

Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment   4,562    (3,231)
Unrealized (loss) from derivatives, net of tax   (536)   (806)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax   (1,970)   (1,247)
Net unrealized gain on securities   328    — 

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)   2,384    (5,284)

Total shareholders‘ equity   269,721    187,400 

Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity           $ 752,929  $ 724,036 

ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
(In thousands)

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the fi scal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002
(In thousands)

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

 2004 2003 2002

Operating activities:

Net earnings $ 66,992  $ 49,821  $ 43,019 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings 
   to net cash provided by operating activities:

Gain on sale of discontinued operations  (13,484)  —   (639)
Depreciation and amortization   71,561    60,696    47,648
Deferred income taxes   21,894    26,544    7,299
Interest expense due to swap settlement  —  —   7,414
Gain on sales of fi xed assets   (900)  —   —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:      
Accounts receivable, net   (174)   12,729    (4,732)
Inventory, net   (923)   167    (389)
Other current assets   (8,772)   (5,733)   (4,713)
Long-term receivables   (2,911)   (471)   (3,185)
Other assets   (2,916)   (623)   1,209 
Accounts payable   623    4,647    (3,873)
Accrued expenses   (2,563)   (12,368)   (9,466)
Deferred income   (25,560)   (12,510)   (7,747)
Other long-term liabilities   3,692    37    (1,321)
Other, net   1,257    (1,858)   502

Net cash provided by operating activities   107,816    121,078    71,026

Investing activities:
Expenditures for property, plant, equipment, product masters
   and software   (66,774)   (70,819)   (80,795)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (25,767)   (51,754)   (8,393)
Purchases of equity investments available for sale   (7,893)   (1,978)   (1,911)
Proceeds from disposals of equity investments available for sale   4,261    490    1,134
Proceeds from asset sales   900    —    —
Proceeds from (expenditures associated with) sales      

of discontinued operations   32,918    (2,540)   (16,770)

Net cash used in investing activities   (62,355)   (126,601)   (106,735)

Financing activities:      
Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt   4,614    218    (830)
Proceeds from long-term debt   371,570    483,450    389,170 
Repayment of long-term debt   (412,570)   (479,450)   (455,244)
Cash paid for settlement of interest rate swap contracts   —    —    (9,765)
Debt issuance costs   (395)   —    (1,654)
Monetized future billings   (11,988)   (5,391)   (11,072)
Repurchases of common stock   (3,566)   (1,328)   — 
Proceeds from sales of common stock, net   —    —    123,295
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net   6,825    10,076    5,124

Net cash (used in) provided by fi nancing activities   (45,510)   7,575    39,024

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   339    189    (2,028)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   290      2,241      1,287

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   4,023    1,782    495

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 4,313  $ 4,023  $ 1,782
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ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the fi scal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002
(In thousands) Unearned Notes Retained Accumulated  
 Compensation Receivable Earnings Other  
 Common Stock Capital on Restricted for Stock (Accumulated Comprehensive 
 Issued Treasury Surplus Stock Purchases Defi cit) Income (Loss) Total

Balance, at the end of fi scal 2001
(Common stock, 24,546 shares; 

treasury stock 450 shares) $ 24   $ (11,335) $ 169,050  $ —  $ (1,071) $ (195,851) $ (5,889) $ (45,072)

Comprehensive income:               
Net earnings             43,019      43,019 
Foreign currency                

translation adjustments               (3,507)   (3,507)
Minimum pension liability (net of tax                

benefi t of $215)               (383)   (383)
Unrealized gain (loss) from derivatives                

(net of tax expense of $4,049)               5,943    5,943 

Total comprehensive income                 45,072 
Common stock, $.001 par value, 3,702                

shares issued June 21, 2002, net of expenses   4      123,291            123,295 
Stock options exercised, net 234 shares       5,124            5,124 
Tax benefi t from stock options exercised       1,083            1,083 
Notes receivable payments           254        254 
Treasury stock, net 9 shares     (294)       294        — 

Balance, at the end of fi scal 2002                
(Common stock, 28,482 shares issued;                

treasury stock, 459 shares) $ 28  $ (11,629) $ 298,548  $ —  $ (523) $ (152,832) $ (3,836) $ 129,756 

Comprehensive income:                
Net earnings             49,821      49,821 
Foreign currency                

translation adjustments               (725)   (725)
Minimum pension liability (net of tax                

benefi t of $465)               (864)   (864)
Unrealized gain (loss) from derivatives                

(net of tax expense of $78)               141    141 

Total comprehensive income                 48,373 

Stock repurchase, 70 shares     (1,328)             (1,328)
Stock options exercised, net 482 shares       10,076            10,076 
Tax benefi t from stock options exercised       414            414 
Notes receivable payments     (135)       244        109 
Treasury stock, net 57 shares     (1,423)   1,423            — 

Balance, at the end of fi scal 2003                
(Common stock, 28,964 shares issued;                

treasury stock, 586 shares) $ 28  $ (14,515) $ 310,461  $ —  $ (279) $ (103,011) $ (5,284) $ 187,400 

Comprehensive income:                
Net earnings             66,992      66,992 
Foreign currency                

translation adjustments               7,793    7,793 
Minimum pension liability (net of tax                 

benefi t of $372)               (723)   (723)
Unrealized gain from derivatives                

(net of tax expense of $146)               270    270 
Unrealized gain on securities               328    328 

Total comprehensive income                 74,660 

Unearned compensation on restricted stock         (236)         (236)
Stock repurchase, 139 shares     (3,566)             (3,566)
Serials Solutions Purchase, 105 shares     2,795              2,795 
Stock options exercised, net 368 shares   1      6,825            6,826
Stock option swaps/reloads, 46 shares     (990)   892            (98)
Restricted stock grant, 11 shares       300            300 
Tax benefi t from stock options exercised       1,555            1,555 
Notes receivable payments           85        85 

Balance, at the end of fi scal 2004                
(Common stock, 29,389 shares issued;                

treasury stock, 658 shares) $ 29  $ (16,276) $ 320,033  $ (236) $ (194) $ (36,019) $ 2,384  $ 269,721

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Note 1  — Signifi cant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations. ProQuest Company is a leading 
publisher of solutions for the education, automotive, and 
power equipment markets. We have more than 50 years 
of experience in information and content aggregation. Our 
predecessor company, Bell & Howell Company, was known 
for creative technology-based solutions. It was incorpo-
rated in Delaware in 1907. In 2001, we changed our name to 
ProQuest Company.

We provide products and services to our customers through 
two business segments: ProQuest Information and Learning 
(“PQIL”) and ProQuest Business Solutions (“PQBS”). 
Through our PQIL segment, which primarily serves the 
education market, we collect, organize, and publish content 
from a wide range of sources including newspapers, period-
icals and books. Our PQBS segment is primarily engaged in 
the delivery in electronic form of comprehensive parts and 
service information for the automotive and outdoor power 
market (motorcycle, marine, recreational vehicle, lawn & 
garden and heavy equipment) and business performance 
products and services for the automotive market. Financial 
information for each of our business segments and opera-
tions by geographic area is contained in Note 2 to these 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Basis of Presentation. Certain amounts in the prior years’ 
fi nancial statements have been reclassifi ed to conform to 
the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of fi nancial statements in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting periods. Subsequent actual results may differ 
from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements include the accounts of ProQuest Company 
and its majority-owned subsidiaries except where control 
is temporary. 

In June 2004, we sold our Dealer Management System 
(“DMS”) business, which was a component of PQBS. The 
DMS business was a software business which did not fi t 
with our core electronic publishing strategy. 

In 2001, we initiated the divestiture of our Imaging, Mail 
and Messaging Technologies (“MMT”), and fi nance-related 
businesses. 

Accordingly, the operating results and any gain on sale of 
these businesses have been segregated from our continu-
ing operations in our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(see Note 5).

Fiscal Year. Our fi scal year ends on the Saturday nearest to 
December 31. References to fi scal 2004 are for the 52 weeks 
ended January 1, 2005, references to fi scal 2003 are for the 
53 weeks ended January 3, 2004 and references to fi scal 
2002 are for the 52 weeks ended December 28, 2002.

Revenue Recognition. We derive revenue from licenses of 
database content, sales of microfi lm subscriptions, micro-
fi lm backfi le sales, paper products, service, software, 
equipment, and product royalties. Services consist of train-
ing and installation with respect to our Automotive Parts 
and Service Products (“APSP”) and performance manage-
ment products. Revenue from these services accounted for 
less than 10% of our revenue in 2004, 2003, and 2002.  

PUBLISHED PRODUCTS

PQIL’s published products provide users with access to our 
comprehensive databases, including Historical Newspapers, 
Early English Books Online (“EEBO”), e-dissertations, and 
topic-specifi c products on either a subscription basis that 
normally covers twelve months, or a perpetual license. 
PQIL follows the guidance under Staff Accounting Bulletin 
(“SAB”) 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” 
(“SAB 101”) and SAB 104 “Revenue Recognition” (“SAB 
104”), for all subscription products. Revenue from subscrip-
tion agreements is recognized ratably over the term of the 
subscription using the straight-line method. For sales of 
perpetual licenses, revenue is recognized when we provide 
access to the content and bill the customer.

GENERAL REFERENCE PRODUCTS

For PQIL’s general reference products, customers purchase 
access to periodicals, newspapers and other resources con-
tained in our databases in exchange for a fee that normally 
covers a subscription period of twelve months. Revenue 
from subscription agreements is recognized ratably over 
the term of the subscription using the straight-line method. 

PQIL provides content on a wholesale basis to premier 
information companies such as Factiva and LexisNexis. 
We receive a royalty from these wholesalers based on the 
usage of our products by their customers. We recognize this 
revenue based on the usage of our product.

ProQuest Company and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share data)
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TRADITIONAL PRODUCTS

PQIL derives revenue from sales of microform subscriptions 
and backfi les, publishing fees and sales of dissertations. For 
newspaper subscription products, revenue is recognized 
ratably over the term of the subscription, which is normally 
twelve months. For periodical subscription products, we 
accumulate the product on microfi lm and ship the com-
pleted microfi lm to our customers quarterly or annually. 
Revenue for these products is recognized when the prod-
uct is shipped. For our backfi le products, dissertations and 
publishing fees, revenue is recognized when the product is 
shipped.

CLASSROOM PRODUCTS

For the classroom market, we provide digital and paper 
products. The majority of our classroom product sales are 
from print coursepacks. Revenue is recognized when the 
print coursepacks are shipped. Our digital coursepacks 
comprised 41.8% of classroom products in 2004. These 
products are static databases of information wherein we 
provide access, through a URL sold to the customer, for the 
semester the related class is being offered. Revenue for dig-
ital coursepacks is recognized when the URL is delivered to 
the customer. There is a right of return for coursepack sales. 
Therefore, a reserve has been recorded based on histori-
cal experience. The reserve was $681 and $250 in 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

PARTS AND SERVICE PRODUCTS

A majority of the APSP revenue is related to multiple-
element contracts in which PQBS provides hardware, 
training and installation, database content licenses, and 
ongoing support to our customers. PQBS follows the 
guidance under Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 00-
21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” 
(“EITF 00-21”) in allocating the contract revenue to the 
various elements. EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine 
whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables 
contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 
prescribes that in circumstances where there are multiple 
units of accounting in a contract, revenue should be allo-
cated to each unit based on fair value, irrespective of the 
amount ascribed in the contract. Determination of fair value 
is judgmental and is typically based on our pricing of similar 
products that are not part of a multi-element arrangement 
and/or pricing of a market competitor. PQBS follows SAB 
101 and SAB 104 for determination of revenue recognition. 
Assuming fair value exists for all elements, the amount 
assigned to the hardware value is recognized upon shipment 
of the hardware to the customer. The amounts assigned to 
training and installation are recognized as the services are 
performed. The amounts assigned to the database licenses 
and the ongoing support are recognized over the term of the 
contract, typically 24 to 60 months.

We provide certain APSP customers with the option to 
bundle into monthly payments hardware or training and 
installation. An interest factor of approximately 8% is 
charged for the bundled items and recorded as deferred 
interest income. Deferred interest income was $538 at 
January 1, 2005. This amount will be recognized as interest 
income over the collection period. The receivable related 
to these items and the related deferred interest income are 
recorded in “Long–term receivables” in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Interest income recognized related 
to these arrangements in 2004 was approximately $1.0 mil-
lion.

We also provide PSP products for the power equipment 
markets. Certain of these products are highly customized 
for the individual customer. As such, PQBS follows the guid-
ance under EITF 00-21 which addresses how to determine 
whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables 
contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 
prescribes that in circumstances where there are multiple 
units of accounting in a contract; revenue should be allo-
cated to each unit based on fair value, irrespective of the 
amount ascribed in the contract. Determination of fair value 
is judgmental and is typically based on our pricing of similar 
products that are not part of a multi-element arrangement 
and/or pricing of a market competitor. PQBS follows SAB 
101, SAB 104 and Statement of Position 97-2 (“SOP 97-2”) 
for determination of revenue recognition. Software revenue 
is recognized when evidence of an arrangement exists, 
delivery has occurred, the fee is fi xed and collectibility is 
probable. Initial license and project management fees are 
recognized over the term of the contract. An annual license 
fee is charged and is recognized ratably over the year. 
Ongoing services revenue is recognized over the term of 
the contract.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS

Revenue from performance management products is pri-
marily derived from business management information 
systems and business products provided to both OEMs and 
their dealerships in the automotive industry. Dealer infor-
mation is collected and published, typically on a monthly or 
quarterly basis. This content is used to monitor and evaluate 
dealer performance against various metrics and to manage 
dealer contracts and track compliance with the European 
Common Market’s block exemption regulations. Revenue is 
recognized when the dealer information collecting and pub-
lishing cycle is completed and delivered. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We estimate a reserve, as 
required, for outstanding accounts receivable. 

Allowances for doubtful accounts are reviewed on a quar-
terly basis and any required adjustments to reserve levels 
are made. Allowances for doubtful accounts at the end of 
fi scal 2004 and 2003 were $1,452 and $1,702, respectively.
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Foreign Currency Translation. The fi nancial position and 
results of operations of each of our foreign subsidiaries are 
measured using the local currency as the functional cur-
rency. Revenues and expenses are translated at average 
exchange rates prevailing during the respective fi scal peri-
ods. Assets and liabilities are translated into United States 
(“U.S.”) dollars using the exchange rates at the end of the 
respective fi scal periods. Balance sheet translation adjust-
ments arising from differences in exchange rates from 
period to period are included in the determination of our 
other comprehensive income which is refl ected as a com-
ponent of shareholders’ equity. 

Net Earnings per Common Share. Basic net earnings per 
common share are computed by dividing net earnings by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstand-
ing during the period. Diluted net earnings per common 
share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period, and refl ects the potential dilution that could occur if 
all of our outstanding stock options that are in-the-money 
were exercised, using the treasury stock method. Under the 
treasury stock method, the tax-effected proceeds that would 
be received from the exercise of all in-the-money options 
are assumed to be used to repurchase shares. A reconcili-
ation of the weighted-average number of common shares 
and equivalents outstanding used in the calculation of basic 
and diluted net earnings per common share are shown in 
the table below for the periods indicated:

 2004 2003 2002

Basic  28,514   28,192   26,190 
Dilutive effect of stock options  330   234   398 

Diluted  28,844   28,426   26,588 

Options to purchase 3,890 shares, 2,156 shares, and 1,883 
shares were outstanding at January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, 
and December 28, 2002, respectively, but were not included 
in the computation of diluted net earnings per common 
share because the options’ exercise prices were greater 
than the average market price of the common shares and, 
therefore, would be antidilutive.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. We consider all highly liquid 
investments with maturities of three months or less (when 
purchased) to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount 
reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximates 
fair value.

Inventory. Inventory costs include material, labor and over-
head. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined 
using the fi rst-in, fi rst-out (“FIFO”) method) or market. 
We have one purchase obligation for raw materials in the 
amount of $2,550 per year until 2007. 

Property, Plant, Equipment and Product Masters. Property, 
plant, equipment and product masters are recorded at 
cost. The straight-line method of depreciation is primarily 
used, except for PQIL product masters (which represent the 
cost to create electronic and microform master document 
copies which are subsequently used in the production pro-
cess to fulfi ll customers’ information requirements), which 
are depreciated on the double declining balance method. 
Estimated lives range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and 
building improvements, 3 to 15 years for machinery and 
equipment and 10 years for product masters. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In the fi rst quarter of 
fi scal 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141 “Business Combinations” 
(“SFAS No. 141”) and SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Under SFAS No. 
141, intangible assets are recognized as assets apart from 
goodwill when they arise from contractual or other legal 
rights (regardless of whether those rights are transferable 
or separable from the acquired entity or from other rights 
and obligations) or if they are separable (capable of being 
separated or divided from the acquired entity regard-
less of whether there is an intent to do so). SFAS No. 142 
requires that goodwill no longer be amortized to earnings, 
but instead be reviewed for impairment on an annual basis 
using a two-step goodwill impairment test. We perform this 
annual analysis during the second fi scal quarter based on 
the goodwill balance as of the end of the fi rst fi scal quarter. 
The fi rst step of the impairment test requires us to defi ne 
our reporting units and then compare the fair value of each 
of these reporting units to its carrying value. If the carrying 
value is higher than the fair value, there is an indication that 
impairment may exist; if the carrying value is less than the 
fair value, no impairment exists, and the second step does 
not need to be completed. The fi rst step of our 2004 impair-
ment test indicated that no impairment existed; therefore, 
the second test was not necessary. 

Intangible assets determined to have defi nite useful lives are 
amortized over their useful lives, generally 3 to 5 years. We 
review our intangibles with defi nite lives for impairment to 
ensure they are appropriately valued if conditions exist that 
may indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review the carrying 
value of property, plant, equipment and product masters 
and certain identifi able intangibles for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
net book value of an asset may not be recoverable from 
the estimated undiscounted future cash fl ows expected to 
result from its use and eventual disposition. Recoverability 
of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison 
of the carrying amount of an asset to future net undis-
counted cash fl ows expected to be generated by the asset. If 
such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment 
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is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount 
of the assets exceeds the fair value as estimated by dis-
counted cash fl ows. Assets to be disposed of are reported 
at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost of 
disposal. In our 2004 review of long-lived assets, no impair-
ment was indicated.

Royalties. Royalty expense at PQIL, which is included in “Cost 
of sales”, in our Consolidated Statement of Operations, is 
recorded monthly based on actual monthly revenue and his-
torical average royalty rates by product line. Royalty rates 
by product line are reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that estimates are appropriate and take into consideration 
any signifi cant changes to the royalty calculations or con-
tractual minimum royalties due to the individual publisher. 

Monetized Future Billings. With regard to our PQBS APSP 
agreements, we have monetized a portion of the future 
cash stream to be generated by these customer contracts. 
At the time of monetization, we receive an amount equal to 
the discounted value of future billings that will be received 
from the customer. The amount received at the time of 
monetization is recorded as “Monetized future billings” in 
our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The monthly payments 
received from our customers are retained by the third party 
with whom we have monetized these contracts and a por-
tion of the discount is recognized as interest expense. Our 
obligation related to certain portions of these monetized 
amounts will be satisfi ed within the next twelve months; 
these amounts have been classifi ed as the “Current por-
tion of monetized future billings”. In connection with these 
transactions, we retain a maximum credit risk of $1,300.

As part of the sale of discontinued operations in 2001, our 
fi nancing subsidiary was sold. We entered into certain con-
tractual obligations with that previously owned fi nancing 
subsidiary and continued to monetize a specifi ed number of 
new and renewal APSP contracts from customers through 
September 2004. We have no remaining obligations to mon-
etize any future contracts under this agreement.

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes using the asset 
and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable 
to differences between the fi nancial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect for the year 
in which those temporary differences are expected to be 
recovered or settled. 

Stock Option Plan. As permitted by SFAS No. 123 
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 
123”), we account for our stock option plan using the intrin-
sic method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. 

Accordingly, compensation expense is recorded on the date 
of grant only if the current market price of the underlying 
stock exceeds the exercise price. Pro forma net earnings and 
earnings per share disclosures for employee stock option 
grants based on the fair value-based method (defi ned in 
SFAS No. 123), whereby the fair value of stock-based awards 
at the date of grant would be subsequently expensed 
over the related vesting periods, are indicated below:

 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings, as reported  $ 66,992   $ 49,821   $ 43,019 
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation
expense determined under
fair value-based method 
for all awards, net of 
related tax effects   (6,301)   (6,628)   (5,429)

Pro forma net earnings  $ 60,691   $ 43,193   $ 37,590 

Net earnings per share:   
Basic — as reported  $ 2.35   $ 1.77   $ 1.64 
Basic — pro forma  $ 2.13   $ 1.53   $ 1.44 
Diluted — as reported  $ 2.32   $ 1.75   $ 1.61 
Diluted — pro forma  $ 2.10   $ 1.52   $ 1.41 

The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the 
date of grant using either the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model or a binomial model. 

The assumptions for the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
are as follows:

 2004 2003 2002

Expected stock volatility 38.53% 49.94% 40.92%
Risk-free interest rate 3.04% 2.35% 4.31%
Expected years until exercise  4   4   5 
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

On February 4, 2004, the Compensation Committee of 
our Board of Directors granted 1,961.5 nonqualifi ed stock 
options with an exercise price of $30.97 per share to six 
members of our senior executive team. These stock options 
are intended to serve as a long-term incentive consistent 
with the Board’s desire that management deliver long-term 
sustainable shareholder value.

Based on the complexity of this plan, we have utilized a 
binomial model to estimate the fair value of the options, uti-
lizing the following assumptions:

Expected stock volatility 31.50%
Risk-free interest rate 3.07%
Expected years until exercise 5
Dividend yield 0.00%
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Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities. We 
comply with the provisions of SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 
133”) and SFAS No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative 
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 
138”). SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that we recog-
nize all derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in the 
balance sheet at fair value. 

Interest Rate Risk

In the past, all of our interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
were subject to interest rate risk. 

In December 2004, in anticipation of our debt refi nancing, 
we entered into Treasury Rate Locks (“2004 Locks”) with the 
notional amount of $125 million and a seven-year term. At 
January 1, 2005 the unrealized marked to market gain of the 
2004 Locks in the amount of $130 (net of tax) was recorded 
in “Other comprehensive income”, in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. These 2004 Locks effectively fi xed the under-
lying treasury rate for the pricing of our private placement 
at 4.04% and settled on January 14, 2005, the same day our 
private placement of debt was priced (see Note 23). Upon 
settlement, a loss was incurred.

During the third quarter of fi scal 2002, as part of our debt refi -
nancing, we dedesignated and settled $200 million notional 
amount of interest rate swaps (see Note 12). As a result, we 
recognized an additional $8,272 in interest expense.

In August 2002, also in anticipation of our debt refi nancing 
(see Note 12), we entered into Treasury Rate Locks (“2002 
Locks”) with the notional amount of $75 million. These 2002 
Locks effectively fi xed the underlying treasury rate for the 
pricing of our private placement at 3.67% and settled on 
September 17, 2002, the same day our private placement 
of debt was priced. The unrealized loss of the 2002 Locks 
in the amount of $981 (net of tax) was recorded in “Other 
comprehensive income” and will be recognized over the 
life of the notes. Approximately $140 of derivative losses 
included in “Other comprehensive income” at January 1, 
2005 will be recognized as expense within twelve months 
from that date. 

Foreign Exchange Risks

A portion of revenue, earnings, and net investment in for-
eign affi liates is exposed to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Substantially all foreign exchange risks are managed 
through operational means. However, we believe that from 
time to time some foreign exchange risks related to certain 
transactions are better managed by utilizing foreign currency 
forwards or option contracts. These contracts are reported 
at fair value and any changes in fair value are recognized 
currently in earnings. These contracts are not designated 
for hedging treatment under SFAS No. 133, as amended. 
At January 1, 2005, we did not have any foreign currency 
forwards or option contracts outstanding.

The following table summarizes the net activities in other 
comprehensive income related to derivatives classifi ed as 
cash fl ow hedges when they were outstanding:

Balance as of January 03, 2004 $ (806)
Losses recognized as expense   219 
Year-to-date net unrealized losses 

on derivatives   197 
Income tax benefi t related to derivatives  (146)

Total, net of tax $ (536)

Note 2 — Business Segments

Our operating segments are internally organized primarily 
by the type of products produced and markets served.  In 
accordance with SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about Segments 
of an Enterprise and Related Information”, we have aggre-
gated similar operating segments into two reportable 
segments, PQIL and PQBS. (Refer to Note 1 for a descrip-
tion of segment operations.) We evaluate the performance 
of and allocate resources to each of the segments based 
on their operating results excluding interest and taxes. The 
accounting policies for each of the segments are described 
in the summary of signifi cant accounting policies in Note 1. 
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Information on our operations by geographic area for fi scal 
2004, 2003, and 2002 for continuing operations is as fol-
lows:

 2004

 PQIL PQBS Corporate Total

Net sales $ 290,597  $ 172,217  $  —  $ 462,814 

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 
before interest and income taxes $ 58,224  $ 53,784  $ (15,804) $ 96,204 

Capital expenditures $ 62,180  $ 4,346   $ 248  $ 66,774 

Depreciation and amortization  $ 64,207   $ 7,050  $ 304  $ 71,561 

Total assets  $ 626,404  $ 101,861  $ 24,664  $ 752,929 

 2003

 PQIL PQBS Corporate Total

Net sales $ 279,510 $ 171,505 $ —  $ 451,015 
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 

before interest and income taxes $ 55,144 $ 50,440 $ (16,372) $ 89,212 
Capital expenditures $ 60,110  $ 10,259 $ 450  $ 70,819 
Depreciation and amortization $ 54,583 $ 5,919 $ 194 $ 60,696 
Total assets $ 572,367 $ 119,927 $ 31,742 $ 724,036 

 2002

 PQIL PQBS Corporate Total

Net sales $ 249,382 $ 163,444 $ —  $ 412,826 
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 

before interest and income taxes $ 48,964  $ 47,789 $ (11,467) $ 85,286 
Capital expenditures $ 75,585  $ 4,975  $ 235  $ 80,795 
Depreciation and amortization $ 42,602  $ 4,879 $ 167  $ 47,648 
Total assets $ 489,474 $ 105,490 $ 36,553  $ 631,517 

Note 3 — Acquisitions

In fi scal 2004, we completed a number of acquisitions 
including Copley Publishing Group, Reading A–Z, Axiom 
Press, Serials Solutions, and Entigo Inc. for cash consider-
ation of $23.5 million, 105 thousand shares of our $.001 par 
value common stock and the assumption of certain liabili-
ties. The goodwill associated with these acquisitions totaled 
$19,580. These acquisitions did not have a material impact 
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July 2003, we acquired SIRS Publishing, Inc. (“SIRS”) 
for $26,400 and the assumption of certain liabilities. The 
amount of $31,214 of goodwill was assigned to PQIL. This 
acquisition did not have a material impact on our Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

On December 30, 2002, the second day of our 2003 fi scal 
year, we purchased all the interest in Bigchalk that we did 
not previously own for a negotiated value of $27,000, which 
includes a holdback of $3,380 and is net of approximately 

 2004 2003 2002

Geographic Area Data

Net Sales (1):     
United States  $ 338,802   $ 339,046   $ 307,607 
Europe   48,076    47,909    44,461 
Other   75,936   64,060    60,758 

Total  $ 462,814   $ 451,015   $ 412,826

Total Assets:
United States  $ 625,660   $ 600,388  $ 524,690 
Europe   111,845   105,147   95,022 
Other   15,424   18,501    11,805

Total  $ 752,929   $ 724,036   $ 631,517
      
(1) Revenue is classifi ed according to its country of destination (including 
exports to such areas).

Information concerning our operating business segments for fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 for our continuing operations is as 
follows: 
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$19,700 in cash held by Bigchalk that we received after the 
acquisition. In 2004, we paid $2,431 related to these hold-
backs. The results of Bigchalk’s operations have been in-
cluded in our Consolidated Financial Statements since the 
date of acquisition. Had Bigchalk been acquired effective 
the fi rst day of our 2002 fi scal year, pro forma unaudited 
consolidated net sales, net earnings, and net earnings per 
common share would have been as follows:

 Pro Forma for the
 Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
 December 28, 2002

Net sales $ 436,363 
Earnings from continuing operations $ 38,058 
Net earnings per common share:  

Basic $ 1.45 
Diluted $ 1.43 

Note 4 — Income Taxes

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes in 
fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 were attributable to the follow-
ing locations:

 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 65,308  $ 63,628 $ 52,655 
Foreign   14,461    8,445    3,709

Earnings from continuing
operations before
income taxes $ 79,769  $ 72,073  $ 56,364

Income tax expense attributable to income from continu-
ing operations in fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 included the 
following:

unrecognized capital and net operating loss carryforwards 
and the increase in the net operating loss carryforwards as 
a result of favorable federal IRS settlements.

The signifi cant components of deferred income tax expense 
attributable to income from continuing operations in fi scal 
2004, 2003, and 2002 were as follows:

The differences between our effective tax rate for income 
taxes attributable to continuing operations and the domes-
tic federal statutory income tax rate in fi scal 2004, 2003, and 
2002 were as follows: 
 

Deferred income taxes are primarily provided for temporary 
differences between the fi nancial reporting basis and the 
tax basis of our assets and liabilities. The tax effects of each 
type of temporary difference and carryforward that gives 
rise to a signifi cant portion of deferred tax assets (liabilities) 
at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

 2004 2003 2002

Current income tax
expense (benefi t):  

United States $ 2,116  $ (812) $ (6,987)
State and local   1,845    4,573    (3,318)
Foreign   4,290    3,714    549 

Current income tax  
expense (benefi t)   8,251    7,475    (9,756)

Deferred income tax 
expense (benefi t):  

United States   17,544    15,955    26,647 
State and local   23    2,164    290 
Foreign   1,221    (231)   (732)

Deferred income tax 
expense    18,788    17,888    26,205 

Income tax expense $ 27,039  $ 25,363  $ 16,449 

 2004 2003 2002

Deferred income tax
expense (benefi t), 
exclusive of components 
listed below:  $ 17,503  $ 17,902   $ 29,333 

Allocation of valuation 
allowance reducing 
goodwill   1,385    —    — 

Benefi ts of net operating  
loss carryforwards   (100)   (14)   (3,128)

Deferred income tax 
  expense  $ 18,788   $ 17,888  $ 26,205 

 2004 2003 2002

Statutory federal 
income tax rate  35.0%  35.0%  35.0% 

Increase (reduction) in 
taxes resulting from:

State income taxes, 
net of federal benefi t  2.2   3.0   1.1 

Statutory rate difference  (0.5)  (0.1)  (0.2)
Capital loss carryback  —   —   (2.5)
Prior year adjustments  (1.8)  1.6   (1.9)
Benefi t from research 

incentives  (0.8)  (1.0)  (0.9)
Benefi t from export 

tax incentives  (0.8)  (1.3)  (2.0)
Other  0.6   (2.0)  0.6 

Effective income tax rate  33.9%  35.2%  29.2% 

Included above are current tax benefi ts of $1,286 in 2003 
and $5,595 in 2002, related to the utilization of previously 



PROQUEST COMPANY 2004 ANNUAL REPORT    51 

The net deferred tax asset is classifi ed as follows:
 

The principal component of the valuation allowance is a U.S. 
capital loss carryforward. The net change in the valuation 
allowance for 2004 and 2003 was ($15,598) and ($3,084), 
respectively. The reduction in the valuation allowance dur-
ing fi scal 2004 primarily relates to the partial utilization of 
the capital loss carryforward. The utilization of the capital 
loss carryforward resulted in a $3,749 tax benefi t to our 
discontinued operations. Additionally, there was a reduc-
tion to both the foreign net operating loss carryforward 
and the related valuation allowance as a result of tax audit 
adjustments. In 2004, the amount of valuation allowance 
for which the recognized benefi ts were allocated to good-
will was $1,385. The amount of the valuation allowance for 
which subsequently recognized benefi ts will be allocated to 
reduce goodwill is $3,100. 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we con-
sider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or 
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ulti-
mate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon 
the generation of future taxable income during the periods 
in which those temporary differences become deductible or 

creditable. We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred 
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax plan-
ning strategies in making this assessment. As of January 
1, 2005, we believe it is more likely than not that we will 
realize the benefi ts of these deductible and creditable dif-
ferences, net of the existing valuation allowances. However, 
the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable 
could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future tax-
able income during the carryforward period are reduced.

At the end of fi scal 2004, the federal domestic net operating 
loss carryforwards were $43,495 and expire in 2019–2023. 
Of these losses $109 were acquired in 2004 by ProQuest’s 
U.S. consolidated group as part of the Copley Publishing 
stock acquisition. The utilization of these losses is subject to 
an annual limitation of $58 due to change in control restric-
tions. The remaining losses were acquired by ProQuest’s 
U.S. consolidated group as part of the Bigchalk purchase in 
2003. The utilization of these losses is subject to an annual 
limitation of $2,575 due to change in control restrictions. 

At the end of fi scal 2004, the state domestic net operating 
loss carryforwards were $4,681 and expire as follows: $441 
in 2005–2009, $1,504 in 2010-2013, $153 in 2015-2016, and 
$2,583 in 2020–2023. Of these losses $130 were acquired 
in 2004 by ProQuest’s U.S. consolidated group as part of 
the Copley Publishing stock acquisition and $3,100 were 
acquired as part of the Bigchalk acquisition in 2003.

At the end of fi scal 2004, the foreign net operating loss car-
ryforwards were $2,840 and expire as follows: $304 in 2007, 
$997 in 2008, $257 in 2009 and $1,282 may be carried for-
ward indefi nitely. 

At the end of fi scal 2004, the domestic capital loss carryfor-
wards were $85,058 expiring in 2006 and the foreign capital 
loss carryforwards were $10,856 that may be carried for-
ward indefi nitely.

At the end of fi scal 2004, the foreign tax credit carryforwards 
were $4,943, expiring in 2011. The research and develop-
ment credits were $3,534 and expire 2019–2022. 

In the U.S., our current tax liability is the greater of our regu-
lar tax or Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”). To the extent 
that AMT exceeds regular tax, we are entitled to an AMT 
credit. At the end of fi scal 2004, we have AMT credits of 
$9,929 that may be carried forward indefi nitely and used as 
credits in future tax returns against regular tax in the event 
that the regular tax exceeds the AMT.

Income taxes paid (refunded), net of refunds, for fi scal 2004, 
2003, and 2002 were ($892), $4,392, and $10,426, respec-
tively.

 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets are
attributable to:    

Accrued expenses $ 2,594  $ 5,172 
Deferred compensation & 

pension benefi ts  16,688    14,371 
Net operating loss carryforwards   19,328    21,855 
Net capital loss carryforwards   33,027    46,751 
Tax credit carryforwards   18,406    24,205 

Other   5,816    4,529 

Total gross deferred tax assets   95,859    116,883 
Valuation allowance   (40,713)   (56,311)

Net deferred tax assets   55,146    60,572 

Deferred tax liabilities 
are attributable to:

Purchased and developed 
software   (7,956)   (9,887)

Goodwill   (22,502)   (22,830)
Property, plant and equipment   (18,036)  (8,760)
Other   (2,575)   (2,718)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities   (51,069)   (44,195)

Net deferred tax asset $ 4,077  $ 16,377 

 2004 2003

Short-term deferred tax asset $  7,705   $ 9,549 
Long-term deferred tax asset   3,218    6,828 
Long-term deferred tax liability   (6,846)  — 

Net deferred tax asset $ 4,077   $ 16,377 
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The company has open tax years from primarily 2001 to 2003 
with various signifi cant taxing jurisdictions including the 
U.S., Canada and United Kingdom. These open years con-
tain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations 
of applicable tax laws and regulations as they related to the 
amount, timing or inclusion of revenue and expenses or the 
sustainability of income tax credits for a given audit cycle. 
The company has established a liability for those matters 
where it is not probable that the position will be sustained. 
The amount of the liability is based on management’s best 
estimate given the Company’s history with similar matters 
and interpretations of current laws and regulations. 

U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes have not been 
recognized on the excess of the amount for fi nancial report-
ing over the tax basis of investments in foreign subsidiaries 
that are essentially permanent in duration. This amount 
becomes taxable upon a repatriation of assets from the sub-
sidiary or a sale or liquidation of the subsidiary. The amount 
of such temporary difference totaled $23,529 at January 1, 
2005. Determination of the amount of any unrecognized 
deferred income tax liability on this temporary difference is 
not practicable.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States 
signed The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.  Among 
the provisions of the Act is a provision that allows for the 
exclusion from income of a portion of the remittances 
of earnings of foreign subsidiaries to U.S. sharehold-
ers through December 31, 2005. In December 2004, the 
FASB issued FASB Staff Position 109-2, “Accounting and 
Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation 
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” 
(“FSP 109-2”). Under the guidance of FSP 109-2, an enter-
prise is allowed time beyond the fi nancial reporting period 
of enactment to evaluate the effect of the American Jobs 
Creation Act of 2004 on its plan for reinvestment or repatria-
tion of foreign earnings for purposes of applying FAS 109. 
The deduction is subject to a number of limitations. The 
Company has not yet decided whether, or to what extent, 
foreign earnings will be repatriated. Based on its analysis to 
date, however, it is possible that the Company may repatri-
ate an amount between $0 to $9,600.  The related range of 
income tax effects of such repatriation cannot be reason-
ably estimated at the time of issuance of these fi nancial 
statements.  The Company expects to be in a position to 
fi nalize its assessment by December 31, 2005. 

Note 5 — Discontinued Operations

In June 2004, we sold our DMS business, which was a com-
ponent of PQBS. The DMS business was a software business 
which did not fi t with our core electronic publishing strat-
egy. Accordingly, the operating results of this business 
have been segregated from our continuing operations. The 
Consolidated Statements of Operations separately refl ect 
the earnings of this business. The interest expense attrib-
utable to our debt was allocated between continuing and 
discontinued operations based on the net asset basis. 

Results from discontinued operations are shown in the 
tables below for the fi scal years indicated:

  Fiscal Years Ended

 January 1, January 3, December 28,
 2005 2004 2002

Net sales $ 8,567  $ 18,636  $ 15,498 

Earnings before
interest and income 
taxes   1,499    5,442    4,275 

Interest expense, net   (236)   (517)  (337)
Income tax expense   (485)   (1,814)   (1,473)

Earnings from
discontinued
operations $ 778   $ 3,111  $ 2,465 

The gain in fi scal 2004 resulting from the sale of our dis-
continued operations was derived as follows (dollars in 
thousands): 

Sale price $ 35,900 
Net assets, reserves, and expenses (1)   (19,851)

Gain on sale $ 16,049 
Income tax expense   (2,565)

Gain on sale of discontinued 
   operations, net of tax $ 13,484 

(1) Includes $379 related to the reversal of certain balances related to the sale 
of MMT North America which we determined were no longer needed.

The gain from sales of discontinued operations recognized 
in fi scal 2002 was due to a reversal of an accrual related to 
our 2001 divestitures which we determined was no longer 
needed.
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Note 6 — Cumulative Effect of a Change in 

Accounting Principle

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”) issued SAB 101.  As a result of this pronouncement, 
we modifi ed our accounting for revenue from new online 
subscriptions in the PQIL segment and from APSP agree-
ments in the PQBS segment beginning in fi scal 2000. 

As a result of the changes in the methods of accounting for 
revenue, approximately $114,800 of revenue recognized in 
fi scal 1999 and prior years was reversed and included in the 
cumulative effect adjustment determined as of the begin-
ning of fi scal 2000.  Of this amount, $4,826, $14,075, and 
$22,592 was recognized in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respec-
tively and $875 will be recognized in 2005.

Note 7 — Goodwill, Software and Other 

Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the fi s-
cal years ended January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 are as 
follows:

Included in depreciation and amortization expense is soft-
ware amortization of $16,919, $11,047, and $9,386, for the 
years 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Also included in 
amortization expense is license amortization of $1,949, 
$2,124, and $1,947, for the years 2004, 2003, and 2002, 
respectively.

As of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 our intangible 
assets and related accumulated amortization consisted of 
the following:

We recorded $3,639 of amortization expense during 2004.   
Based on the current amount of intangible assets subject 
to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for 
each of the succeeding 5 years is as follows: 2005 – $4,354; 
2006 – $4,123; 2007 – $3,821; 2008 – $2,379; 2009 – $702.

During 2004, we acquired the following intangible assets:

 Balance as of January 1, 2005

 Accumulated 
 Gross  Amortization Net

Customer lists $ 17,250 $ (4,860) $ 12,390  

Trademark   2,641    (576)   2,065 
Acquired software   211    (98)   113 
Non-compete 

agreements   960    (149)   811 

Total identifi able 
  intangibles, net $ 21,062  $ (5,683) $ 15,379

 Balance as of January 3, 2004

 Accumulated 
 Gross  Amortization Net

Customer lists $ 9,218 $ (1,961) $ 7,257 
Trademark   2,000    (67)   1,933 
Acquired software   211    (14)   197 
Non-compete 

agreement  50    (2)   48

Total identifi able 
  intangibles, net $ 11,479   $ (2,044)  $ 9,435 

 Weighted-Average
 Amortization Period

Customer lists $ 8,032  4.9 years
Trademark   641  5.0 years
Non-compete agreement   910  5.0 years

Total acquired identifi able 
  intangibles, $ 9,583 

 PQIL PQBS Total

Balance as of 
December 28, 2002 $ 199,769  $ 47,585  $ 247,354 

Goodwill acquired
in fi scal 2003(1)   55,563    776    56,339 

Balance as of 
January 03, 2004   255,332    48,361    303,693 

Goodwill acquired 
in fi scal 2004(1)   17,589    1,991    19,580 

Goodwill disposed 
of in fi scal 2004    —    (11,036)   (11,036)

Reclassifi cation of 
goodwill to other
assets   (958)   —    (958)

Balance as of 
   January 01, 2005 $ 271,963  $ 39,316  $ 311,279 

(1) Goodwill consists of current year acquisitions as well as the fi nalization of 
our preliminary purchase price allocations for prior year acquisitions.
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Note 8 — Other Current Assets

Other current assets at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 con-
sist of the following:

Note 9 — Other Assets

Other assets at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 consist of 
the following:

 2004 2003

Long-term deferred tax asset $ 3,218  $ 6,828
Licenses, net   7,728    9,560 
Long-term commissions   4,893    4,471 
Other   5,615    2,954 

Total $ 21,454  $ 23,813 

Note 10 — Accrued Expenses  

Accrued expenses at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 consist 
of the following:

 2004 2003

Salaries, wages and bonuses $ 21,861  $ 24,826 
Profi t sharing   2,002    3,284 
Discontinued operations reserve   409    3,391 
Accrued income taxes   3,577    970 
Accrued interest   2,171    2,166 
Other   5,283    4,791 

Total $ 35,303  $ 39,428 

Note 11 — Other Liabilities  

Other liabilities at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 consist of 
the following:

 2004 2003

Deferred compensation 
and pension benefi ts $ 46,503  $ 42,381 

Other   36,030    20,063 

Total $ 82,533  $ 62,444 

Note 12 — Debt and Lines of Credit

Debt at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 consists of the 
following:

 2004 2003

Notes payable $ — $ 300 

Long-term debt:    
5.45% senior notes due 10/01/12 $ 150,000 $ 150,000 
Revolving credit agreement   5,000    41,000 

Long-term debt   155,000    191,000 
Less: current maturities   (5,000)   — 

Long-term debt, less 
    current maturities $ 150,000  $ 191,000 

The weighted average interest rate on our borrowings at the 
end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 was 5.37% and 4.74%, respec-
tively.

Under our Revolving Credit Agreement (“Credit 
Agreement”), the maximum amount available is currently 
$175,000. The fi nal maturity date of the Credit Agreement 
is October 3, 2005 with no principal payments due until 
that date. The interest rate on borrowings under the Credit 
Agreement is determined at the time of borrowing and is 
based upon our leverage ratio. The interest rate in effect as 
of January 1, 2005 was (at our option), either LIBOR + 1.00%, 
which was 3.09% ($5,000 outstanding at January 1, 2005), 
or the prime rate + 0.25%, which was 5.50% ($0 outstand-
ing at January 1, 2005). Under the agreement related to our 
senior notes, we borrowed $150.0 million in 2002. The fi nal 
maturity date of the Note Purchase Agreement is October 1, 
2012, with no principal payments due until October 1, 2006. 
The notes will amortize in seven equal annual payments of 
$21,429, beginning October 1, 2006 and ending on October 
1, 2012. The interest rate on these senior notes is fi xed at 
5.45% and is payable semi-annually. 

The Credit Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreement 
require compliance with leverage, fi xed charge and net 
worth covenants. We and our two largest domestic operat-
ing subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable as guarantors 
under both agreements. The Credit Agreement contains 
certain restrictions on the payment of dividends on and 
repurchases of our common stock. 

A portion of our availability under the Credit Agreement has 
been utilized to issue letters of credit to support our insur-
ance coverage, leases and certain customer contracts. At 
January 1, 2005, the total of the face amounts of the out-
standing letters of credit was $2,347. The letters of credit 
renew either annually or automatically with the face amount 
adjusted. At the end of fi scal 2004, we had $167,653 of addi-
tional credit available under our Credit Agreement. 

 2004 2003

Short-term deferred tax asset $ 7,705  $ 9,549 
Prepaid taxes   602    4,553 
Prepaid royalties   17,793    15,188 
Commissions   7,472    2,536 
Available for sale securities   7,172    3,289 
Maintenance agreements   3,063    2,693 
Other   6,326    5,227 

Total $ 50,133  $ 43,035 
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We also have the ability to borrow up to $5,000 on an uncom-
mitted line of credit. The borrowing period under this line of 
credit cannot exceed seven days. The balance outstanding 
under this line was $0 at January 1, 2005.

For the fi ve years subsequent to 2004, annual maturities 
of long-term debt are: 2005 — $0; 2006 — $21,429; 2007 — 
$21,429; 2008 — $21,429 and 2009 — $21,429.

Cash paid for interest for continuing and discontinued oper-
ations in fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $18,188, $19,026, 
and $34,048, respectively.

See Note 23 for our debt refi nancing subsequent to January 
1, 2005.

Note 13 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our fi nancial instruments include accounts receivable, long-
term receivables, accounts payable and long-term debt. We 
believe that fair value approximates book value for accounts 
receivable and accounts payable due to their short-term 

nature. In addition, the book value for monetized future 
billings approximates fair value because at the time of mon-
etization, we receive an amount equal to the discounted 
value of future billings that will be received from the cus-
tomer. The amount received at the time of monetization is 
recorded as “Monetized future billings” in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheet.  

The fair value of long-term receivables is discounted using 
the weighted average effective borrowing rate at the end of 
the year. The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted 
market prices for the same or similar issues or the current 
rates offered to us for debt with the same or similar maturi-
ties and terms. At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 
long-term receivables were recorded at $8,622 (excludes 
deferred interest income of $538 at PQBS — See Note 1) and 
$5,106, respectively. At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 
long-term debt was recorded at $155,000 and $191,000, 
respectively. At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, $5,000 
and $41,000 of the long-term debt was part of a revolving 
line of credit. 

Following is a summary of fi nancial instruments where the fair values differ from the recorded amounts as of January 1, 
2005 and January 3, 2004:

 January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004

 Carrying  Fair  Carrying  Fair 
 Amount Value Amount Value

Long-term receivables $ 8,622  $ 7,552  $ 5,106  $ 4,616 

Long-term debt: 
5.45% senior notes due on 10/01/12 $ 150,000  $ 152,625  $ 150,000  $ 150,150 
Revolving credit agreement   5,000    5,000    41,000    41,000 

Total long-term debt $ 155,000  $ 157,625  $ 191,000  $ 191,150 

The fair value of the 5.45% senior notes at January 1, 2005 
recorded at $150,000 is based on quoted market prices. The 
carrying amount of the revolving line of credit was assumed 
to approximate fair value due to the fl oating market interest 
rates to which the revolving line of credit is subject.

Note 14 - Leases

We lease certain facilities and equipment for production, 
selling and administrative purposes. Future minimum rental 
payments required under long-term noncancelable operat-
ing leases at the end of fi scal 2004 were as follows:

2005 $ 17,744
2006  15,761
2007   14,076
2008   11,142
2009   5,595
Subsequent to 2009   32,114 

Total $ 96,432 

Total rental expenses for fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 were 
$21,348, $19,993, and $19,235, respectively.
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Note 15 — Profi t-Sharing, Pension, and Other 

Postretirement Benefi t Plans

Eligible employees of our domestic and Canadian opera-
tions who elect to do so participate in defi ned contribution 
profi t-sharing retirement plans. The amounts charged to 
earnings for fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 related to these 
plans were $2,253, $3,341, and $3,324, respectively.

We also have defi ned benefi t pension plans covering cer-
tain domestic and international employees. The benefi ts are 

primarily based on years of service and/or compensation 
during the years immediately preceding retirement. We use 
a measurement date of December 31 for substantially all of 
our pension and postretirement benefi t plans.

We fund our foreign plans based on local statutes and 
fund our domestic plans in amounts that fulfi ll the funding 
requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974. The following table sets forth the actual asset 
allocation and target asset allocation for our foreign pen-
sion plan assets: 

   Target Asset 
 2004  2003 Allocation

Equity Securities 45.4% 36.6% 55.0%
Debt Securities 54.3   63.4  45.0 
Cash  0.3   —   — 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Our investment objectives for our foreign pension plan 
assets are to optimize the long-term return on plan assets at 
an acceptable level of risk and maintain a broad diversifi ca-
tion across asset classes. 

In addition, we have contributory and non-contributory 
postretirement medical benefi t plans and a non-contribu-
tory postretirement life insurance benefi t plan covering 

certain domestic employees. All of these other postretire-
ment benefi t plans are unfunded.

In November 2004, we announced that effective January 1, 
2006 we will no longer offer a retiree medical program. This 
resulted in a negative plan amendment which will be recog-
nized ratably in 2005.

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Other Postretirement
 Pension Benefi ts Pension Benefi ts Benefi ts

 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 268 $ 236 $ 194 $ 241  $ 334  $ 442  $ 83 $ 72  $ 56 
Interest cost   1,288    1,332   1,383    3,422    3,094    3,026    109    118    145 
Expected return on plan assets  —    —    —    (2,980)   (2,682)   (3,450)   —    —    — 
Amortization of prior service cost   —    —    —   246    229    205    —    —    — 
Recognized net actuarial loss/(gain)   —    —    —    453    454    69    (1)   (7)   — 

Net pension and other  
postretirement benefi t cost  $ 1,556  $ 1,568  $ 1,577  $ 1,382  $ 1,429  $ 292  $ 191   $ 183  $ 201

 

The net cost of pension and other postretirement benefi t plans for fi scal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was as follows:
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OBLIGATION AND FUNDED STATUS

  U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Other Postretirement
 Pension Benefi ts Pension Benefi ts Benefi ts

 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Change in Benefi t Obligation

Benefi t obligation, beginning of year $ 21,329  $ 20,681  $ 58,970  $ 48,962  $ 1,932  $ 2,240 
Service cost   268    236    241    334    83    72 
Interest Cost   1,288    1,332    3,422    3,094    109    118 
Participant contributions   —    —    104    75    —    — 
Special FAS 88 Termination Benefi t   310   —    —    —    —    — 
Exchange rate movements   —    —    4,341    5,809    —    — 
Plan Amendments  —    —    —    —    (937)   — 
Actuarial (gain)/loss   1,095    721    2,869    2,578    (30)   (251)
Benefi ts paid   (1,749)   (1,641)   (2,291)   (1,882)   (9)   (247)

Benefi t obligation, end of year $ 22,541  $ 21,329 $ 67,656  $ 58,970 $ 1,148  $ 1,932 

Change in Plan Assets            

Fair value, beginning of year $ —  $ —  $ 41,895  $ 34,922  $ —  $ — 
Actual return on plan assets   —    —    3,949    4,144    —    — 
Participant contributions   —    —    103    75    —    — 
Exchange rate movements   —    —    3,074    4,142    —    — 
Company contributions   1,749    1,641    1,010    494    9    247 
Benefi ts paid   (1,749)   (1,641)   (2,291)   (1,882)   (9)   (247)

Fair value, end of year $ —  $ —  $ 47,740  $ 41,895  $ —  $ — 
            
Funded/(unfunded) status $ (22,541) $ (21,329) $ (19,916) $ (17,076) $ (1,148) $ (1,932)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain)/loss   3,023    1,928    14,575    12,229    (91)   (62)
Unrecognized prior service cost   —    —    4    233    (937)   — 

Accrued benefi t cost $ (19,518) $ (19,401) $ (5,337) $ (4,614) $ (2,176) $ (1,994)

Amounts Recognized in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets            

Accrued benefi t liability $ (22,541) $ (21,329) $ (5,337) $ (4,614) $ (2,176) $ (1,994)
Minimum pension liability   3,023    1,928    —    —    —   — 

Net amount recognized $ (19,518) $ (19,401) $ (5,337) $ (4,614) $ (2,176) $ (1,994)

The funded status of pension and other postretirement benefi t plans at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

In 2004, we recorded a special termination benefi t in the amount of $310 related to our former chief executive offi cer. This 
benefi t represents the fair value of an additional year of service granted as of his retirement date.

The expected long-term rate of return assumptions on plan assets is based upon the target asset allocation and is deter-
mined using forward-looking assumptions in the context of historical returns and volatilities for each asset class, as well as 
correlations among asset classes. We evaluate the rate of return assumption on an annual basis.

WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS AS OF END OF YEAR

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Other Postretirement
 Pension Benefi ts Pension Benefi ts Benefi ts

 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.25% 5.40% 5.50% 4.75% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets  —   —  6.75% 6.75% —   — 
Rate of compensation increase  —   —  4.30% 3.80%  —   — 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 Other Postretirement
 Pension Benefi ts  Benefi ts

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Increase in minimum pension liability 
(net of tax) included in other comprehensive income $ 723  $ 864  $ —    $ —   

For our pension plans, the projected benefi t obligation and accumulated benefi t obligation at the end of fi scal 2004 and 2003 
were as follows: 

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Projected benefi t obligation $ 22,541  $ 21,329  $ 67,656  $ 58,970 
Accumulated benefi t obligation $ 22,541  $ 21,329  $ 66,281  $ 58,023 

ASSUMED HEALTH CARE COST TREND RATES

 2004 2003

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.00% 9.50%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 6.00% 6.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2011 2011

Assumed future health care cost trend rates have a signifi cant effect on postretirement medical benefi t costs. A one percent-
age point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% Increase  
Benefi t obligation, end of fi scal 2004 $ 62 
Net postretirement benefi t cost for fi scal 2004 $ 6 

1% Decrease  
Benefi t obligation / (asset), end of fi scal 2004 $ (58)
Net postretirement benefi t cost / (income) for fi scal 2004 $ (5)

1% Increase  
Benefi t obligation, end of fi scal 2003 $ 153 
Net postretirement benefi t cost for fi scal 2003 $ 18 

1% Decrease  
Benefi t obligation / (asset), end of fi scal 2003 $ (142)
Net postretirement benefi t cost / (income) for fi scal 2003 $ (16)

Total estimated contributions to be paid to the plans or to the benefi ciaries during fi scal 2005 are $3,202. Gross benefi t pay-
ments for the next ten years, which refl ect expected future service as appropriate, are expected to be as follows:

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Other Postretirement 
 Pension Benefi ts Pension Benefi ts Benefi ts

 2005 $ 1,837 $ 2,089  142
 2006  1,875  2,183  147
 2007  1,857  2,410  143
 2008  2,047  2,527  140
 2009  1,995  2,742  156
 2010 – 2014  9,270  17,035  613

In December 2003, Congress passed the Medicare Act of 2003.  We do not provide post-65 medical or prescription drug 
coverage; therefore our postretirement benefi t liability and costs are not impacted by the employer subsidy provision of the 
Act.
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Note 16 — Common Stock

We have 50,000 authorized shares of common stock, ($.001 
par value per share), 29,389 shares issued and 28,731 shares 
outstanding as of January 1, 2005 and 28,964 shares issued 
and 28,378 shares outstanding as of January 3, 2004. On 
June 21, 2002 we successfully completed a stock offering 
of 3,702 shares of $.001 par value common stock at a price 
of $35.40 per share in which we received net proceeds of 
$123,295, after offering expenses. 

Our Credit Agreement contains certain restrictions on the 
payment of dividends and repurchases of our common 
stock (see Note 12). 

In July 2004, the Board of Directors approved a plan, in con-
junction with our acquisition of Serials Solutions, to buy 
back up to 105 shares of ProQuest Company stock. During 
2004, we purchased all 105 shares in the open market for a 
cost of $2,659.

In September 2004, the Board of Directors approved an addi-
tional authorization to acquire up to $40,000 of ProQuest 
Company stock. We expect the repurchases will be made 
using our cash resources. This authorization is valid through 
September 2007. Through January 1, 2005, we purchased 
34 shares in the open market for a cost of $907.

Note 17 — Stock Compensation Plans 

STOCK OPTION PLAN

On February 4, 2004, the Compensation Committee of 
our Board of Directors granted 1,961.5 nonqualifi ed stock 
options with an exercise price of $30.97 per share to six 
members of our senior executive team. 

The 1,961.5 options are estimated to be the number of 
options that would have been granted over the next fi ve 
years to these six executives in their current positions and 
responsibilities. As a result of this grant, they will not receive 
any additional options for at least the next fi ve years.

Under this grant, the options will vest after seven years and 
expire in ten years. However, if certain stock price thresh-
olds are met during the next seven years, the vesting of the 
options will be accelerated. These thresholds represent 8% 
to 10% compounded annual stock price growth rates for 3 
to 5 years. The table that follows outlines the stock price 
thresholds and its related achievement period and the num-
ber of options that will be accelerated at each target stock 
price.

 Achievement
 Period Stock Price Options Vested

3 years $ 36.67   926,500
4 years $ 39.81   1,095,000 
5 years $ 42.77   1,259,500
5 years $ 46.88   1,961,500 

Even though these options may vest early, the executives will 
only be allowed to exercise one-third of the vested options 
after December 31, 2006, two-thirds of vested options after 
December 31, 2007 and all vested options after December 
31, 2008. In addition to the above vesting requirements, 
each executive must retain 50% of all after-tax gains in sha-
res of the Company until their retirement or termination of 
employment at ProQuest Company.

In fi scal 2003, we adopted the 2003 ProQuest Strategic 
Performance Plan (“Option Plan”), which replaced the 
ProQuest Company 1995 Stock Option Plan and the 
ProQuest Company Non-Employee Directors Stock Option 
Plan. Under the Option Plan, 5,060 shares of common stock 
were reserved for issuance. In 2004, 1,532 additional shares 
were reserved for issuance. The Option Plan is administered 
by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors 
which has the authority to establish the terms and condi-
tions of awards granted under the Option Plan. Under the 
Option Plan, the Committee can grant stock appreciation 
rights, restricted stock, performance stock, performance 
units, annual management incentive awards and other 
stock or cash awards. 

In addition, options granted to certain executives may 
contain a replacement option feature. When the option’s 
exercise price is paid with shares of ProQuest’s common 
stock, which the executive previously owned for more than 
six months, a replacement option is granted for the num-
ber of shares used to make that payment. The replacement 
option has an exercise price equal to the fair market value 
of ProQuest’s common stock on the date the replacement 
option is granted; is exercisable in full six months after the 
date of the grant; and has a term expiring on the expiration 
date of the original options.

Additionally, concurrent with our initial public equity offe-
ring in 1995, we granted options for 1,115 shares to certain 
senior executives (“Senior Executive Grantees”), with a 
series of six option exercise prices (the fi rst of which equaled 
the initial public equity offering price, with each subsequent 
exercise price set at 120% of the preceding exercise price). 
The term for these options was six years, with the options 
vesting in installments commencing after year three. In fi s-
cal 1999, the unvested options set to expire in May 2000, 
were extended through May 2005. In fi scal 1999, options 
for 100 shares were granted to one of the Senior Executive 
Grantees, which have a six-year term and vested after three 
years. 

At the end of fi scal 2004, we had options outstanding for 
3,464 shares to the Key Executive Grantees. The term for 
these options is six or ten years, vesting in equal annual 
increments over either a three-year or a fi ve-year period.
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At the beginning of fi scal year 2001, we implemented a long-
term incentive benefi t for one of our key executives which 
is comprised of two elements: a grant of 406 options and an 
incentive compensation arrangement that is based on 406 
stock appreciation units. The options have a ten-year term 
and vest after seven years unless certain stock price targets 
are achieved. All of these options vested after three years, 
because these stock price targets were exceeded. During 
2001, we recognized $4,000 of expense, $3,000 which 
was the amount stated in the Incentive Compensation 
Agreement due for the successful completion of the sale of 

one of our discontinued operations as well as an additional 
$1,000 in expense based on the appreciation of our stock 
price at December 29, 2001. During 2002, we reversed the 
$1,000 accrual, based on our December 28, 2002 stock price. 
During 2003, we recognized an additional $2,261 in expense 
based on the appreciation of our stock price at December 
31, 2003. This amount was paid out to the key executive in 
2004. The $3,000 associated with the completion of the sale 
of one of our discontinued operations was paid to the key 
executive in 2001 and 2002. 

A summary of the stock option transactions for fi scal 2002, 2003, and 2004 is as follows:

 Senior Executive Grantees Key Executive Grantees Director Grantees

  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted
  Average  Average  Average
 Shares Exercise Shares Exercise Shares Exercise
 (000s) Price (000s) Price (000s) Price

Balance at the end of fi scal 2001   1,038  $ 25.65    1,124  $ 23.21    54  $ 29.16 

2002:
Granted   —    —      403    34.61    7    35.50 
Exercised   —   —      (223)   23.71    —    —   
Forfeited/cancelled   —    —      (110)   27.94    —    —   

Options outstanding at             
   the end of fi scal 2002   1,038  $ 25.65    1,194  $ 27.08    61  $ 29.86 

Options exercisable at the            
   end of fi scal 2002   608  $ 31.51    437  $ 24.43    61  $ 29.86 

Weighted average fair value of            
   options granted during fi scal 2002 $ —      $ 14.49    $ 14.70 

2003:            

Granted   —    —      650    19.63    12    26.72 
Exercised   (250)   22.55    (218)   22.89    —    —   
Forfeited/cancelled   —    —      (37)   28.02    —    —   

Options outstanding at            
   the end of fi scal 2003   788  $ 25.26    1,589  $ 24.86    73  $ 29.36 

Options exercisable at the            
   end of fi scal 2003   585  $ 28.31    592  $ 26.50    73  $ 29.36 

Weighted average fair value of            
   options granted during fi scal 2003 $ —      $ 8.12    $ 9.72 

2004:            
Granted   —    —      2,168    30.77    14    27.19 

Exercised   (203)   16.50    (190)   20.05    (12)   25.63 

Forfeited/cancelled   —    —      (103)   27.58    (6)   33.14 

Options outstanding at            
   the end of fi scal 2004   585  $ 28.31    3,464  $ 28.67    69  $ 29.20 

Options exercisable at the            
   end of fi scal 2004   484  $ 30.78    822  $ 26.72    55  $ 29.71 

Weighted average fair value of          
   options granted during fi scal 2004 $ —      $ 10.25    $ 9.35 
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The following table provides additional information with respect to stock options outstanding at the end of fi scal 2004:

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans at January 1, 2005 are as follows:

   Number of securities
 Number of securities to be Weighted-average remaining available for
 issued upon exercise of exercise price of future issuance 
 outstanding options outstanding options under equity
Plan Category and rights and rights compensation plans (a)

Equity compensation plans approved     
by security holders 4,129 $ 28.63 449

Equity compensation plans not      
approved by security holders   —    —   — 

Total 4,129 $ 28.63 449

(a) Excludes securities refl ected in the fi rst column, “Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options and rights”.

In fi scal 2004, we issued 11 shares of restricted stock to 
two members of our Board of Directors. These shares were 
valued at the market price at their respective award dates 
and will be recognized as expense over the 3-year vesting 
period. The amount of compensation cost related to these 
equity awards that was recognized into income in 2004 was 
$64.

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In fi scal 1996, our Board of Directors adopted the Associate 
Stock Purchase Plan (“ASPP”), whereby employees are 
afforded the opportunity to purchase ProQuest Company 
shares, by authorizing the sale of up to 500 shares of com-
mon stock. The purchase price of the shares is 95% of the 
lower of the closing market price at the beginning or end of 
each quarter. The number of ASPP shares purchased was 
10 and 11 for the fi scal years ended 2004 and 2003. Under 
SFAS No. 123, the ASPP is a non-compensatory plan. 

Note 18 — Foreign Currency Transactions

In the past, we have entered into contracts to buy or sell 
foreign currencies, primarily British pounds and Canadian 
dollars. These contracts were properly recorded at fair 
market value with the changes in fair value recognized in 
interest expense and were not designated for hedging treat-
ment under SFAS No. 133, as amended. At January 1, 2005 
we have no outstanding foreign currency contracts. 

Net foreign currency transaction gains (losses) for fi scal 
2004, 2003, and 2002 of ($996), $423, and ($616), respec-
tively, have been included in selling and administrative 
expense of the respective periods.

Note 19 — Contingent Liabilities

We are involved in various legal proceedings incidental to 
our business. Management believes that the outcome of 
such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect 
upon our consolidated operations or fi nancial condition and 
we believe we have recognized appropriate reserves as nec-
essary.

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

   Weighted  
   Average Weighted  Weighted
   Remaining Average  Average
  Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Exercise Price  Outstanding Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price

$15.01 – $20.00  699   5.0  $ 17.96   311  $ 18.11 
$20.01 – $25.00  317   5.6    22.43   219    22.69 
$25.01 – $30.00 272  5.2    27.99   118    27.69 
$30.01 – $35.00 2,479   7.9    31.29   429    32.64 
$35.01 – $40.00 337   4.5    37.09   275    37.29 
$40.01 – $45.00 14   7.3    40.82   9    40.82 

  4,118   6.7  $ 28.63   1,361  $ 28.29 
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A portion of our availability under our Credit Agreement has 
been utilized to issue letters of credit to support our insur-
ance coverage, leases, and certain customer contracts. At 
January 1, 2005 the total of the face amounts of the out-
standing letters of credit was $2,347. The letters of credit 
renew either annually or automatically.

We have one guarantee outstanding as of January 1, 2005 
related to the APSP contracts that we have monetized with 
a third party. In connection with these transactions, we 
retain maximum credit risk of approximately $1,300, in 
cases where our dealership customers cease paying their 
monthly contract amount. This amount may be reduced if 
we are able to successfully remarket any hardware that we 
recover from the dealership.

We enter into multiple-year content agreements with pub-
lishers. In certain of these agreements there are minimum 
royalty guarantees. The guarantees for fi scal 2005, 2006, 
and 2007 are $36,677, $31,909 and $25,567, respectively.

Note 20 — Related Party Transactions

Todd S. Nelson, President and Chief Executive Offi cer of 
Apollo Group, Inc., the parent company of the University 
of Phoenix, is on our Board of Directors. The University of 
Phoenix has purchased some of our PQIL products total-
ing less than $750 for fi scal 2004. These subscriptions were 
negotiated as an arms-length transaction.

Linda G. Roberts, a member of our Board of Directors, 
received consulting fees from us in the amount of $12 
related to the acquisition of Voyager Expanded Learning Inc. 
(see Note 23)  

William E. Oberndorf, a member of our Board of Directors, 
owns a majority interest in Core Learning Group, LLC. In 
2004, we made royalty payments of $26 to Get a Clue, LLC, 
a subsidiary of Core Learning Group, LLC.

Note 21 — Investments in Affi liates

In December 1999, we combined our K-12 Internet busi-
ness with the K-12 Internet business of Infonautics, Inc., to 
form Bigchalk. As a result of both venture capital fi nancing 
and the exchange of our investment in an entity acquired 
by Bigchalk for additional shares in Bigchalk, we owned 
approximately 38.0% of Bigchalk on a fully diluted basis as 
of December 28, 2002. On December 30, 2002 the second 
day of our 2003 fi scal year, we purchased the remainder of 
Bigchalk (See Note 3). 

Summarized fi nancial information of Bigchalk for fi scal 2002 
(unaudited) was as follows:

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS:

 2002

Net sales $ 26,546
Gross profi t  18,666
Loss before income taxes  (9,361)
Net loss  (9,209)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION:

 2002

Current assets $ 25,244
Non-current assets  9,423

Total assets $ 34,667

Current liabilities $ 16,926
Non-current liabilities  136,624
Stockholders’ defi cit  (118,883)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ defi cit $ 34,677

On December 4, 2000, we entered into a Limited Liability 
Company Agreement with General Motors Corporation, 
DaimlerChrysler Corporation, and Ford Motor Company 
to form OEConnection (“OEC”). We contributed our prod-
uct, CollisionLink, and a 15 person development team, 
while each of the other three partners agreed to contrib-
ute cash of up to $7.0 million. OEC extends the established 
Electronic Parts Catalog business by providing dealers and 
their wholesale customers a comprehensive, secure e-
commerce portal. OEC has established and maintains this 
portal with the primary objective of facilitating the sale of 
original equipment automotive parts delivered through the 
franchised automotive dealership channel. Eventually, OEC 
expects to expand their customer base to include dealers, 
collision shops, installers, and fl eet facilities.

The Limited Liability Company Agreement provides that 
our three partners will divide any losses equally up to the 
fi rst $21.0 million and we will share in any income/losses 
after that point. To date, OEC’s losses have not exceeded 
this $21.0 million threshold. For reporting purposes, OEC’s 
balance sheet and statement of operations are not con-
solidated with our results. Beginning January 1, 2003 until 
January 31, 2007, we earn a royalty on OEC’s net revenues 
which will be recorded in “Net sales”, on our Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. The royalty recognized was $1,288 
and $1,107 for the fi scal years ended January 1, 2005 and 
January 3, 2004 respectively.
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Note 22 — Interim Financial Information (unaudited)

Historically, we have experienced less net sales, net earnings, and cash fl ow in the fi rst fi scal quarter with our highest net 
sales, net earnings, and cash fl ow in the fourth fi scal quarter. The following table presents our quarterly results of operations 
for fi scal 2004 and fi scal 2003:

in January 2015. Our previous revolving credit agreement 
was replaced with a new variable interest rate facility with 
capacity of $275 million and an expiration date of January 
2010.

At January 1, 2005, we had $395 recorded as deferred fi nanc-
ing fees related to these fi nancing transactions in “Other 
Assets” in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements 
with Accountants on Accounting and 
Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS 

AND PROCEDURES

Our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer 
have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and opera-
tion of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defi ned 
under Rules 13a and 15(e) and 15d -15(e) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the 
period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, 
our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
adequate and effective.

 First Second Third Fourth Total
 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2004

Net sales $ 110,850 $ 112,191 $ 113,124 $ 126,649  $ 462,814 
Gross profi t   55,837    55,872    55,842    64,948    232,499 
Net earnings   11,484    28,411    12,189    14,908    66,992 

Basic earnings per share   0.40    1.00    0.43    0.52    2.35 

Diluted earnings per share   0.40    0.99    0.42    0.52    2.32 

 First Second Third Fourth Total
 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003

Net sales $ 107,563  $ 110,705  $ 112,300 $ 120,447 $ 451,015 
Gross profi t   53,246    54,562    56,757    64,490    229,055 
Net earnings   11,236    12,287    11,746    14,552    49,821 

Basic earnings per share   0.40    0.44    0.41    0.51    1.77 

Diluted earnings per share   0.40    0.43    0.41    0.51    1.75 

Note 23 — Subsequent Events

On January 31, 2005, we acquired Voyager Expanded 
Learning Inc. (“Voyager”) which provides research-based 
reading curriculum and professional development pro-
grams for school districts throughout the United States. 
The total paid for all outstanding shares of Voyager on a 
fully diluted basis was $361,000, comprised of $340,000 
in cash and $21,000 of our restricted common stock. We 
may pay up to $20,000 in additional consideration based 
on Voyager’s operating results from April 1, 2005 through 
March 31, 2006. 

The following table summarizes our preliminary evaluation 
of the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the date of acquisition:

Cash $ 7,064
Current assets  25,327
Non-current assets  2,648
Goodwill and intangibles   338,946

Total assets  373,985

Liabilities assumed  12,179

Net assets acquired $ 361,806

We are still in the process of fi nalizing the purchase price 
allocation related to this acquisition. 

We fi nanced our acquisition of Voyager through a new 
$175 million issuance of private-placement notes and a 
new revolving line of credit. The 5.38% fi xed notes mature 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as of 
January 1, 2005 and the attestation report of KPMG LLP on 
management’s assessment of the Company’s internal con-
trol over fi nancial reporting are contained on pages 36 and 
37 respectively, of this report.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL

There have been no signifi cant changes in our internal con-
trols over fi nancial reporting or in other factors that could 
signifi cantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of 
the previously mentioned evaluation.

Item 9B. Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Offi cers 
of the Registrant

Information regarding Directors and Executive Offi cers of the 
Registrant is included at the end of Part I of this report under 
the caption “Directors and Executive Offi cers” and is also set 
forth in the Company’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy 
Statement (under the caption “Election of Directors”), and 
is hereby incorporated by reference. Furthermore, the audit 
committee fi nancial expert is set forth in the Company’s 
Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement (under the 
caption “Corporate Governance”), and is hereby incorpo-
rated by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the 
Company’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement 
(under the captions “General Information for Shareholders”, 
“Executive Compensation”, “Supplemental Retirement 
Plan”, “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider 
Participation” and “Compensation Arrangements”), and is 
hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain 
Benefi cial Owners and Management and 
Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the 
Company’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement 
(under the caption “Compensation and Stock Ownership 
Information”), and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions 

Information regarding Related Party Transactions is 
included in Note 20 to the fi nancial statements contained 
in Item 8 of this report. The remaining information required 
by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Notice of 
Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement (under the caption 
“Related Party Transactions”), and is hereby incorporated 
by reference. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees 
and Services 

The information required by this Item will be set forth 
in the Company’s Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy 
Statement (under the captions “Audit Committee Report” 
and “Audit Fees”), and is hereby incorporated by refer-
ence.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement 
Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)  1. Financial statements: 

The following Consolidated Financial Statements 
of ProQuest Company are included in Part II, 
Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data (pages 36–63): 

Report of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Operations — 
Fiscal Years 2004, 2003, and 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets — At the end 
of Fiscal Years 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — 
Fiscal Years 2004, 2003, and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ 
Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
— Fiscal Years 2004, 2003, and 2002

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
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 2.   Financial statement schedules fi led as a 

part of this report:

Financial Statement Schedules are omitted as the 
required information is either inapplicable, immate-
rial, or is presented in the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements or the Notes thereto.

 3.   Exhibits and Financial Statement 

Schedules

(a)   Exhibits.

Exhibit

No. Description

 * 2.1  Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between 
the Company and BH Acquisition, Inc., dated 
September 20, 2001 is incorporated by reference 
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fi led 
October 12, 2001.

* 2.2  Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 18, 
2001 by and among the Company, Bell & Howell 
U.K. Holdings Limited, Bell & Howell Mail and 
Messaging Technologies Company, Pitney Bowes 
Inc., and Pitney Bowes International Holdings, Inc., 
is incorporated by reference to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K fi led June 18, 2001.

* 2.3  Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 
30, 2002 by and among the Company, ProQuest 
Information and Learning Company, and Bigchalk, 
is incorporated by reference to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K fi led January 14, 2003.

* 3.1  Form of Amended and Restated Certifi cate of 
Incorporation of ProQuest Company is incorpo-
rated by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 
10-K dated March 29, 2002, File No. 001-07680.

* 3.2  By-laws of ProQuest Company (f/k/a Bell & Howell 
Operating Company) are incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Bell & Howell Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration 
No. 333-48425.

* 4.1  Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 
1, 2002 ProQuest Company $150,000,000 5.45% 
Senior Notes due October 1, 2012 is incorporated 
by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 10-Q 
dated November 12, 2002, File No. 001-07680.

* 4.2  Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 
3, 2002 among ProQuest Company, the lenders 
listed therein and Banc of America Securities LLC is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company’s 
Form 10-Q dated November 12, 2002, File No. 001-
07680.

* 4.3  Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2005 
among the fi nancial institutions that are or may 
from time to time become parties thereto, Standard 
Federal Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the 
lenders, Bank of America, N.A., and Harris Trust & 
Savings Bank as syndication agents for the lenders, 
and KeyBank National Association and National 
City Bank of the Midwest, as documentation agents 
for the lenders is incorporated by reference to 
ProQuest Company’s Form 8-K dated February 4, 
2005, File No. 001-07680.

* 4.4  First Amendment dated as of January 31, 2005 
to ProQuest Company’s existing Note Purchase 
Agreement dated as of October 1, 2002 is incorpo-
rated by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 
8-K dated February 4, 2005, File No. 001-07680.

* 4.5  Note Purchase Agreement dated as of January 
31, 2005, ProQuest Company $175,000,000 5.38% 
Senior Notes due January 31, 2015 is incorporated 
by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 8-K 
dated February 4, 2005, File No. 001-07680.

* 10.1  Amended and Restated Profi t Sharing Retirement 
Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to Bell & Howell Company’s (f/k/a Bell & Howell 
Operating Company) Registration Statement on 
Form S-1, as amended, Registration No. 33-63556.

* 10.2  Amended and Restated Replacement Benefi t Plan 
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 
to Bell & Howell Company’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-1, as amended, Registration No. 33-
63556.

* 10.3  Supplemental Retirement Plan is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Bell & Howell 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as 
amended, Registration No. 33-63556.

* 10.4  Management Incentive Bonus Plan is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Bell & Howell 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as 
amended, Registration No. 33-63556.

* 10.5  Long Term Incentive Plan II, 1993-1996, is incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit to Bell & Howell 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as 
amended, Registration No. 33-89992.

* 10.6  Deferred Benefi t Trust is incorporated herein by ref-
erence to Exhibit 10.10 to Bell & Howell Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, 
Registration No. 33-63556.
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* 10.7  Shareholders Agreement dated May 10, 1988 

as amend ed, among certain Management 
Stockholders (as defi ned therein) and Investor 
Shareholders (as defi ned therein) is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Bell & Howell 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as 
amended, Registration No. 33-59994. 

* 10.8  Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 10, 
1988 by and among Bell & Howell Group, Inc., and 
each of the Purchasers referred to therein is incor-
porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Bell & 
Howell Company’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1, as amended, Registration No. 33-63556.

* 10.9  2003 ProQuest Strategic Performance Plan is incor-
porated by reference to ProQuest Company’s S-8 
dated August 28, 2003, File No. 333-101186.

* 10.10  Supplement to Fourth Amendment to the 
Shareholders Agreement dated May 10, 1988 
as amended, among certain Management 
Stockholders (as defi ned therein) and Investor 
Shareholders (as defi ned therein) is incorporated 
herein by reference to Bell & Howell Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, 
Registration No. 33-89992.

* 10.11  Bell & Howell Company Executive Deferred 
Compensation Plan is incorporated by reference to 
ProQuest Company’s Form 10-K dated March 27, 
2003, File No. 001-07680.

* 10.11A  Supplement A to Bell & Howell Company Executive 
Deferred Compensation Plan is incorporated by 
reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 10-K dated 
March 27, 2003, File No.: 001-07680.

* 10.12  Bell & Howell Profi t Sharing Retirement Plan and 
Bell & Howell Associate Stock Purchase Plan, is 
incorporated herein by reference to Bell & Howell 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, 
Registration No. 33-99982.

* 10.13  Incentive Compensation Agreement dated 
December 31, 2000 by and between Bell & Howell 
Company and James Roemer is incorporated by 
reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 10-K dated 
March 27, 2003, File No. 001-07680.

* 10.13A  Incentive Compensation Agreement Amendment is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company’s 
Form 10-K dated March 27, 2003, File No. 001-
07680.

* 10.14  Bell & Howell Company Nonqualifi ed Stock Option 
Agreement dated December 31, 2000 by Bell & 
Howell Company and James Roemer is incorpo-
rated by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 
10-K dated March 27, 2003, File No. 001-07680.

* 10.15  Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among 
ProQuest Company, VEL Acquisition Corp., Voyager 
Expanded Learning, Inc., and R. Best Associates, 
Inc. dated as of December 13, 2004 is incorporated 
by reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 8-K/A 
dated February 10, 2005, File No. 001-07680.

* 10.16  Multi-year Stock Option Grant is incorporated by 
reference to ProQuest Company’s Form 10-Q dated 
November 12, 2004, File No. 001-07680

* 10.17  Consulting Agreement between Randy Best and 
ProQuest Company dated December 13, 2004 is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company 
Form 8-K dated March 16, 2005, File No. 001-
03246.

* 10.18  Non-compete Agreement between Randy Best and 
ProQuest Company dated December 13, 2004 is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company’s 
Form 8-K dated March 16, 2005, File No. 001-
03246.

* 10.19  Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for 2003 
ProQuest Company Strategic Performance Plan is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company’s 
Form 8-K dated March 16, 2005, File No. 001-03246

  10.20  Offi ce Lease dated November 10, 2004 between 
Transwestern Great Lakes, L.P., as Landlord and 
ProQuest Company, as Tenant.

  10.21  Master Services Agreement dated January 1, 2005 
between ProQuest Company and International 
Business Machines Corporation.

  10.22  Description of Compensatory Arrangements 
Applicable to Named Executive Offi cers for 2004 
and 2005.

* 14.1  ProQuest Company — Finance Code of Ethics is 
incorporated by reference to ProQuest Company’s 
Form 10-K dated March 27, 2003, File No.: 001-
07680.

  21.1 Subsidiaries of ProQuest Company. 

  23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP.
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  31.1  Section 302 Certifi cation of the Chief Executive 
Offi cer.

  31.2  Section 302 Certifi cation of the Chief Financial 
Offi cer.

  32.1  Certifi cation of Alan W. Aldworth, President and 
Chief Executive Offi cer of ProQuest Company pursu-
ant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  32.2  Certifi cation of Kevin G. Gregory, Senior Vice 
President, Chief Financial Offi cer, and Assistant 
Secretary of ProQuest Company, Pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*As previously fi led

 4. Reports on Form 8-K

 The Company fi led the following Current Reports 
on Form 8-K during the quarter ended January 1, 
2005:

 A current report on Form 8-K was fi led on October 
27, 2004, under items 2.02 and 9.01 furnishing our 
fi nancial results for the quarter ended October 2, 
2004.

 A current report on Form 8-K was fi led on November 
10, 2004 under item 5.02 announcing the resigna-
tion of a Director from our Board.

A current report on Form 8-K was fi led on November 
16, 2004 under item 1.01 announcing the entrance 
into a new lease agreement.

 A current report on Form 8-K was fi led on December 
17, 2004 under items 1.01, 7.01, and 9.01 announc-
ing the entrance into an agreement to acquire 
Voyager Expanded Learning, Inc.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therefore duly authorized.

Date: March 17, 2005 ProQuest Company

 By: /s/ Alan W. Aldworth 

 Alan W. Aldworth
 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Offi cer
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons 
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Alan W. Aldworth

Alan W. Aldworth Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

 Chief Executive Offi cer March 17, 2005

/s/ Kevin G. Gregory 

Kevin G. Gregory Chief Financial Offi cer, Senior Vice President, 

 and Assistant Secretary March 17, 2005

/s/ David G. Brown 

David G. Brown Director March 17, 2005

/s/ Michael S. Geltzeiler

Michael S Geltzeiler Director March 17, 2005

/s/ Todd S. Nelson 

Todd S. Nelson Director March 17, 2005

/s/ William E. Oberndorf 

William E. Oberndorf Director March 17, 2005

/s/ Linda G. Roberts, Ed.D. 

Linda G. Roberts, Ed.D. Director March 17, 2005

/s/ James P. Roemer 

James P. Roemer Director March 17, 2005

/s/ Gary L. Roubos 

Gary L. Roubos Director March 17, 2005

/s/ Frederick J. Schwab 

Frederick J. Schwab Director March 17, 2005
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF PROQUEST COMPANY (DELAWARE)

March 2005 
ProQuest Company subsidiaries are 100% owned by ProQuest Company unless otherwise indicated

ProQuest Company — Subsidiary Incorporation

ProQuest U.K. Holdings Limited United Kingdom
 (Formerly known as Bell & Howell A-V Limited.) 
  –  ProQuest IPI Limited (dormant) United Kingdom

(Formerly known as Bell & Howell Information and Learning Limited) 
(100% owned by ProQuest U.K. Holdings Limited)  

  –  ProQuest Alison Limited United Kingdom
(Majority owned and controlled by ProQuest U.K. Holdings Limited; may have very limited 
share ownership by local director/resident as required by local law).  

  –  ProQuest Alison, Gmbh Germany
(100% owned by ProQuest Alison Limited)  

  –  ProQuest Alison, SARL France
(100% owned by ProQuest Alison Limited)  

  –  ProQuest Alison, SA Spain
(100% owned by ProQuest Alison Limited)  

  –  ProQuest Alison, SRL Italy
(100% owned by ProQuest Alison Limited)  

  – ProQuest Alison, Inc. Florida
  –  ProQuest Information and Learning Limited United Kingdom

(100% owned by ProQuest U.K. Holdings)  
ProQuest Japan Company Japan
 (100% owned by ProQuest Business Solutions, Inc.)  
ProQuest Content Operations, Inc. Delaware
ProQuest Outdoor Solutions Delaware
 (100% owned by ProQuest Business Solutions Inc.)  
SIRS Publishing, Inc. Florida
 (100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)
ProQuest Latin America Limitada Brazil
  (99% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company, 1% owned by ProQuest Company)  
ProQuest Information Access Limited Canada
ProQuest Business Solutions Inc. Delaware
ProQuest Information and Learning Company Delaware
  –  Chadwyck-Healey Espana, SA Spain

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Ltd.)  
  –  Softline Information, Inc. New Hampshire

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
  –  Norman Ross Publishing, Inc. New York

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
  –  Bigchalk, Inc. Delaware

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
  –  Homeworkcentral.com, Inc. Delaware

(100% owned by Bigchalk, Inc.)  
  –  Mediaseek Technologies, Inc. Canada

(100% owned by Bigchalk, Inc.)  
  –  Copley Publishing Group, Inc. Massachusetts

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
  –  LearningPage.com, Inc. Arizona

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company) 
  –  Serials Solutions, Inc. Washington

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)
  –  VEL Holding Corp. Texas

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
  –  ProQuest Learning I, LLC Delaware

(100% owned by VEL Holding Corp.)  
  –  ProQuest Learning II, LLC Delaware

(100% owned by VEL Holding Corp.)  
  –  Voyager Expanded Learning, LP Texas

(General Partner — ProQuest Learning I, LLC; Limited Partner — ProQuest Learning II, LLC) 
  –  VEL Holding Corp. Delaware

(100% owned by ProQuest Information and Learning Company)  
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
ProQuest Company

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 33-99982, 333-48425, and 333-93099) on Form 
S-8 of ProQuest Company (formerly known as Bell & Howell Company) and in the registration statement (No. 333-59450) 
on Form S-3 of ProQuest Company of our reports dated March 16, 2005 with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of 
ProQuest Company and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash fl ows for the fi scal years ended January 1, 
2005, January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002 and management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005 and the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 
2005, which reports appear in the fi scal 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of ProQuest Company.

Our report dated March 16, 2005, on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial report-
ing and the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of January 1, 2005, contains an explanatory paragraph 
that states that ProQuest Company excluded a recently acquired entity, Serials Solutions, from its assessment of the effec-
tiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting.  Our audit of internal control over fi nancial reporting also excluded an 
evaluation of the internal control over fi nancial reporting of Serials Solutions. 

/s/  KPMG LLP
Detroit, Michigan
March 16, 2005
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Certifi cation of Principal Executive Offi cer

I, Alan W. Aldworth, certify that:

 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ProQuest Company;

 2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements, and other fi nancial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

 4.   The registrant’s other certifying offi cer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fi nancial reporting (as 
defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated sub-
sidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

  (b)   Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting 
and the preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

  (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and

  (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting; and

 5.   The registrant’s other certifying offi cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

  (a)  All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over fi nancial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report fi nancial information; and

  (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi cant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting.

Date:  March 17, 2005

/s/  Alan W. Aldworth 

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

Certifi cation of Principal Financial Offi cer

I, Kevin G. Gregory, certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of ProQuest Company;

 2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 3.   Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements, and other fi nancial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

 4.   The registrant’s other certifying offi cer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fi nancial reporting (as 
defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated sub-
sidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

  (b)  Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting 
and the preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

  (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and

  (d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting; and

 5.   The registrant’s other certifying offi cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

  (a)   All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over fi nancial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report fi nancial information; and

  (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi cant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting.

Date:  March 17, 2005

/s/  Kevin G. Gregory  

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offi cer,

and Assistant Secretary
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certifi cation Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ProQuest Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fi scal year ending 
January 1, 2005, as fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned 
Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company hereby certifi es, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that based on his knowledge: 1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and 2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods covered in the Report.

/s/  Alan W. Aldworth 

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
 

March 17, 2005
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EXHIBIT 32.2

Certifi cation Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ProQuest Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fi scal year ending 
January 1, 2005, as fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned 
Chief Financial Offi cer of the Company hereby certifi es, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that based on his knowledge: 1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and 2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods covered in the Report.

/s/  Kevin G. Gregory  

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offi cer,

and Assistant Secretary

March 17, 2005
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ProQuest Company

RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES
(In millions)

EBITDA, EBIT and Net Earnings From Continuing Operations* 

  Year to Date Ended 

 January 1,  January 3, 
 2005  2004 

EBITDA   $ 167.2  $ 149.4   
Less Depreciation & amortization    (71.0)   (60.2)

EBIT  $ 96.2  $ 89.2   
Less Net interest expense   (16.4)  (17.1)  
Less Income tax expense   (27.1)  (25.4)  

Net earnings from continuing operations     52.7   46.7   
Plus Earnings from discontinued operations, net   0.8    3.1   
Plus Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net   13.5   —    

Net earnings  $ 67.0  $ 49.8   
      

*See references in 2004 Financial Highlights table and on pages 2 and 4 of the Annual Report.     
      
      
      
Free Cash Flow*      

  Year to Date Ended 

 January 1,  January 3,  December 29, 
 2005  2004  2001 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 107.8  $ 121.1 $ 47.2 
Less Expenditures for property, plant, equipment,      

product masters and software   (66.8)   (70.8)   (70.9)
Plus Proceeds (loss) from asset sales   0.9    —     (2.3) 

Free cash fl ow $ 41.9 $ 50.3  $ (26.0)
Less Tax court refund   —     (13.1)   —  

Free cash fl ow, net of tax court refund $ 41.9  $ 37.2 $ (26.0)
      

*See references on pages 2 and 4 of the Annual Report.         
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General and Shareholder Information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

For address changes, account con-
solidation, registration changes, lost 
stock certifi cates, stock holdings or 
other shareholder matters, please 
contact: 

Transfer Agent and Registrar:

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 219045
Kansas City, MO  64121-9045
Telephone: 877.282.1168
www.equiserve.com

STOCK LISTING

ProQuest Company common stock 
is listed and traded on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the ticker 
symbol PQE. 

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

ProQuest Company

777 Eisenhower Parkway
P.O. Box 1346
Ann Arbor, MI  48106-1346
Telephone: 734.761.4700
info@proquest.com
www.proquestcompany.com

PRINCIPAL LOCATIONS

ProQuest Information 

and Learning Company

777 Eisenhower Parkway
P.O. Box 1346
Ann Arbor, MI  48106-1346
Telephone: 734.761.4700
info@il.proquest.com
www.il.proquest.com

ProQuest Business Solutions Inc.

3900 Kinross Lakes Parkway
Richfi eld, OH  44286
Telephone: 330.659.1600
info@pbs.proquest.com
www.pbs.proquest.com

Voyager Expanded Learning, Inc.

One Hickory Centre
1800 Valley View Lane, Suite 400
Dallas, TX  75234
Telephone: 214.932.9500
Toll Free: 888.399.1995
info@voyagerlearning.com
www.voyagerlearning.com

OTHER PROQUEST LOCATIONS

North America

Atlanta, Georgia
Boca Raton, Florida
Centerville, Utah
Charlottesville, Virginia
Detroit, Michigan
Exton, Pennsylvania
Los Angeles, California
Louisville, Kentucky
Seattle, Washington
Stamford, Connecticut 
Toronto, Ontario
Tucson, Arizona
West Palm Beach, Florida
Wooster, Ohio

Worldwide

Cambridge, England
Frankfurt, Germany
Madrid, Spain
Manchester, England
Paris, France
Reading, England
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
Sydney, Australia
Tokyo, Japan
Turin, Italy

INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED 

PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

KPMG LLP 
150 West Jefferson, Suite 1200
Detroit, MI  48226

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Mark Trinske
Vice President, Investor Relations
ProQuest Company
777 Eisenhower Parkway
P.O. Box 1346
Ann Arbor, MI  48106-1346
Telephone: 734.997.4910
mark.trinske@proquest.com
www.proquestcompany.com

PUBLICATIONS

The company’s annual report on 
Form 10-K and quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q are available online at 
www.proquestcompany.com.

Printed reports are available free of 
charge at 734.761.4700 or by emailing 
invest@proquest.com.
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